

# **Walden University ScholarWorks**

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2016

# Corporate Governance Issues in the Nigerian Banking Industry

Oyebola Bejide Akande Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Finance and Financial Management Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

# Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Oyebola Akande

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Kevin Davies, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Yvette Ghormley, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Peter Anthony, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

Walden University 2016

# Abstract

Corporate Governance Issues in the Nigerian Banking Industry

by

Oyebola Akande

MBA, Ladoke Akintola University of Technology, 2007

BA, The Federal Polytechnic, Ilaro, Ogun state, 2000

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

June 2016

### Abstract

Corporate governance issues resulting from bad governance, fraudulent activities, insider abuse, and corruption have attracted the attention of shareholders and regulators in the banking industry. The financial crisis that erupted from the United States affected the financial institutions of both developed and developing countries, among which Nigerian banks belong. The Central Bank of Nigeria removed 8 managing directors and executive directors due to bad governance, nonperforming loans of 61%, and toxic assets of \$13.3 billion; the Central Bank injected 620 billion naira into the banks. The purpose of this multiple case study was to develop an understanding of corporate governance strategies needed to ensure regulatory compliance and enhance financial performance from the perspective of senior management of the regulatory authority and corporate financial leaders. Agency theory served as the conceptual framework for the study. The population for this study was 10 senior regulatory leaders and corporate financial leaders in Nigeria. The data sources were semistructured interviews, research notes, codes of corporate governance, and financial reports of banks. Member checking was used to improve the credibility and trustworthiness of the data. After compiling, disassembling, reassembling, and coding the data, 5 themes including the need for: improvement on compliance to corporate governance regulations; effective board governance; training education and awareness on best practices, strategic risk management and internal control; and strategic and effective leadership. Potential implications for social change may include knowledge for investors and the public, who have increasingly relied on financial services in Nigeria to support personal and business goals to identify banks with best practices.

# Corporate Governance Issues in the Nigerian Banking Industry

by

# Oyebola Akande

MBA, Ladoke Akintola University of Technology, 2007 BA, The Federal Polytechnic, Ilaro, Ogun State, 2000

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

June 2016

# Dedication

I dedicate this doctoral dissertation to the Almighty God, for HIS grace, mercy, strength, provisions, and the enablement to achieve this doctoral degree. I also want to dedicate this degree to my son Mr. Olajuwon Olatunji, for his prayers, support, understanding, encouragement and sacrifices through the journey of this doctoral degree, With God's grace and the prayers of Olajuwon and my family, I was able to make a dream a reality. I would like to use this opportunity to remember those who have the knowledge but lack finance and support to achieve their academic desire.

# Acknowledgments

I want to give thanks to the God Almighty, my source of life, my inspiration and my strength, who made this doctoral degree possible for me to start and complete. I am very grateful to my Chair, Dr. Kevin Davies (Committee Chairman) whose guidance, motivation, mentoring and advice got me through the journey of my doctoral degree. I will also like to thank Dr. Yvette Ghormley (Committee Member), Dr. Peter Anthony (URR) and Dr. Turner (Program Director) for their encouragement and immense contribution to this study. Additionally, I will like to thank Gabbidon for his support through my doctoral Journey. I sincerely appreciate the role my family has played in my life during my struggles, My Parent Mr. & Mrs. J. A Akande, My son Olajuwon Olatunji, and my siblings Rev. Abayomi Akande, Samson, Philip and Leah. Your prayers, motivation and strength have made me achieve this height in my academic pursuit. I also want to thank Dr. Ayo Teriba, Dr. Emmanuel Adegbite and Franklin Nakpodia for their motivation and guidance in making this endeavour. My good friends, Funmilola Amo, Mary (Atampa), and Ibrahim Tumsa for their support and encouragement to succeed in this my life endeavor, I am grateful. I cannot forget the role of my pastors' towards this academic pursuit and my life, Rev. (Dr.) Israel Akanji and Rev. Tom Takpatore for their prayers and support. I sincerely appreciate everyone who gave me hope and motivated me to pursue this doctoral degree. I am grateful to you all.

# Table of Contents

,	Section 1: Foundation of the Study	1
	Background of the Problem	2
	Problem Statement	3
	Purpose Statement	3
	Nature of the Study	4
	Research Question	6
	Interview Questions	6
	Conceptual Framework	7
	Definition of Terms.	8
	Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	9
	Assumptions	9
	Limitations	10
	Delimitations	11
	Significance of the Study	11
	Contribution to Business Practice	11
	Implications for Social Change	13
	A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	13
	Organization of the Review	15
	Strategy for Searching the Literature	16
	Application to the Applied Business Problem	17
	Agency Theory	17

	Corporate Governance	21
	Corporate Governance and Agency Theory	23
	Leadership in Organization	25
	Corporate Financial Leaders and Banking Business	26
	The Banking Industry	28
	Profile of Nigeria Economy	32
	Overview of Nigerian Banks	35
	Corporate Governance and Banking Regulation In General	38
	Corporate Governance Issues in the Nigerian Banking Industry	45
	Corporate Governance and Financial Performance	52
	Overview of Code of Corporate Governance Regulating Nigerian Banks	55
	The Code of Corporate Governance in Nigeria	58
	Corporate Governance Strategies	62
	Effective Board Governance	63
	Corporate Culture	65
	Strategic Leadership in the Banking Industry	66
	Internal Control and Mechanism in Banks	68
	Bank Compliance with Regulations.	69
	Professionalism in the Banking Industry	71
	Strategic Risk Management	72
	Conclusion of the Literature Review	74
Tr	ansition and Summary	76

Section 2: The Project	78	
Purpose Statement.	78	
Role of the Researcher	79	
Participants	81	
Research Method and Design	85	
Research Method	85	
Research Design	87	
Population and Sampling	92	
Ethical Research	94	
Data Collection Instruments	97	
Data Collection Technique	103	
Data Organization Techniques	106	
Data Analysis	108	
Reliability and Validity	113	
Dependability	113	
Credibility	114	
Transferability	115	
Confirmability	116	
Data Saturation	117	
Transition and Summary	118	
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Social		
Change	120	

Introduction	120
Presentation of Findings	120
Emergent Theme 1: The need for improvement on Compliance to	
Corporate governance Regulations	121
Emergent Theme 2: The Need for Effective Board Governance	138
Emergent Theme 3: Strategic Risk Management and Internal Control	153
Emergent Theme 4: Training, Education, and Awareness on Best Practices	158
Emergent Theme 5: The Need for Strategic and Effective Leadership	165
Application to Professional Practice	169
Implications to Social Change	172
Recommendations for Action	173
Recommendation for Further Research	174
Reflections	175
Conclusion	176
References	178
Appendix A: Informed Consent Form	230
Appendix B: Letter of Invitation	234
Appendix C: Interview Protocol- Semistructured Interviews With Open-Ended	
Questions	236

# Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Since the actions of Enron in 2001, poor governance has caused corporate financial misconduct, and subsequent failure of various banks (Chinaedu, 2011). The financial misconduct committed by corporate financial leaders in collusion with their executive directors adversely affected banks and the economy of nations. Financial misconduct has prompted a call for good corporate governance and ethical leadership in the banking sector. The division of management and shareowners of the companies reflects agency-related problems related to conflict of interest and mismanagement (Ogujiuba & Obiechina, 2011).

Corporate financial leaders use poor governance strategy as opportunities for personal achievement without consideration for depositors and investors. Excessive risk-taking and poor corporate governance have affected the banking industry, resulting in the global financial crisis (Oghoghomeh & Ogbeta, 2014). The exposure to excessive risk taking is severe in banking business (Nyor & Mejabi, 2013). Corporate governance at banks has failed to prevent risky lending practices, leading to a weak financial system (Grove, Patelli, Victoravich, & Xu, 2011). The Nigerian banking sector witnessed corporate misconduct resulting from bad governance by corporate financial leaders and executive directors. As a result, the Central Bank of Nigeria (CBN) removed 8 of 24 Nigerian corporate financial leaders (Ezeoha, 2011). The focus of this study was to explore corporate governance issues in the Nigerian banking industry and provide strategies corporate financial leaders may use to implement good corporate governance to improve banking performance and shareholders' return.

# **Background of the Problem**

Corporate governance has become an integral part of commercial banks' financial performance and returns to the shareholders. Corporate financial misconduct of leaders in the banking sector has been a major problem in sustainability and performance of banks globally, including in Nigeria. Vives (2011) asserted that the financial industry exhibits severe market failure arising from excessive risk-taking because of the agency issue.

The global financial crisis of 2007-2009, which disrupted the financial sector, also affected the Nigerian banking industry (Sanusi, 2012). The Nigerian banking sector witnessed a significant collapse that affected some leading banks. The CBN classified 8 of 24 Nigerian banks as distressed because of nonperforming loans and 13.3 billion dollars in toxic assets (Cook, 2011).

CBN removed the corporate financial leaders because of their poor governance and corporate financial misconduct (Adegbite & Nakajima, 2011). Nwagbara (2012) noted poor governance and unethical leadership are at the center of the corruption in Nigerian banking sector. Oyerinde (2014) noted that regulators failed to avert the financial crisis through required execution of regulations. The CBN needs to prompt banks to adopt good corporate governance practices through implementation of rules and regulations for improved performance and value for shareholders (Nworji, Adebayo, & David, 2011). Corporate financial executives should ensure alignment with risk-management objectives and self-regulation critical to self-governance, diligence, control, and adherence to their strategies within the structure of the regulators in the country (Onuoha, Ogbuji, Ameh, & Oregwu, 2013).

### **Problem Statement**

The Central Bank of Nigeria identified eight of 24 Nigerian banks as distressed, with total nonperforming loans of 32.8% (Alabede, 2012). Nigerian banks had approximately \$10 billion in toxic assets (Alawiye-Adams & Afolabi, 2014). The CBN removed the chief executives and directors of the banks because of corporate financial misconduct and dedicated 4.1 billion in bailout funds for the affected banks (Ezeoha, 2011). The CBN removed corporate executives because of bad governance, excessive risk taking, and corporate financial misconduct (Adegbite & Nakajima, 2011). The general business problem was that safeguarding banking patrons' funds is a major concern for regulators stemming from inadequate, corporate governance in banks (Adegbite, 2012). The specific business problem was some corporate financial leaders have limited corporate governance strategies to ensure regulatory compliance to enhance organizational financial performance.

# **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore corporate governance strategies corporate financial leaders need to implement to ensure regulatory compliance to enhance organizational financial performance. According to Joshua, Joshua, and Tauhid (2013), corporate financial misconduct in banks stemming from noncompliance with corporate governance codes has spawned concerns about the principles of the banking industry. The target population for this study was regulatory and corporate financial leaders of Nigerian recapitalized banks who regulate, supervise, and manage the Nigerian banking industry. The population is appropriate for this study as the

accessibility, experiences, and perceptions about corporate governance of these individuals could lead to a deeper understanding of the problem (Adegbite, 2012).

The research findings from this study may contribute to positive social change by allaying the corporate governance concerns of banking customers and society. The knowledge from the study findings might lead to the formulation of corporate governance strategies for corporate financial leaders to protect depositors and shareholders. The confidence in investments with no fear of misappropriation provides the confidences to investors necessary for engaging in positive social change oriented endeavors and increase business empowerment, and improved quality in service offerings.

# **Nature of the Study**

The focus of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore corporate governance strategies Nigerian corporate financial leaders need to ensure regulatory compliance to enhance organizational financial performance. A qualitative approach was appropriate for this study because the method facilitates researchers to explore the complexities of individuals' conduct from the perspectives of the participants in respect to the present phenomenon (Yin, 2011). Qualitative researchers use interviews, observations, and other relevant information to obtain research data (Sargeant, 2012). Corporate governance researchers often use qualitative methods to gain insight into complex and multifaceted phenomena of corporate governance practices (Agyemang & Castellini, 2015). Researchers use a quantitative methodology in contrast, to determine distinctive links between or among variables (Payne & Wansink, 2011; Tacq, 2011). A quantitative method was not appropriate for this study because the aim was not to

distinctive links between or among variables. Mixed-methods research includes procedures combining qualitative and quantitative methodologies (De Silva, 2011). Since data collection for the current study involved various sources to gain multifaceted insight into the problems, as opposed to integration of statistical data with interview results, a mixed-methods research methodology was not appropriate for this study.

I used a multiple case study design, which served to explore the corporate governance issues within the Nigerian banking industry. According to Yin (2014), case study design facilitates researchers to explore a multifaceted social phenomenon. Barratt, Choi, and Li (2011) noted that case study allows researchers to explore numerous data sources in ensuring a multifaceted view of the phenomenon. Researchers use case studies to explore actual and complex business situations (Erickson, 2012). Applying the case-study design for the proposed study aided in exploring a particular event or phenomenon that occurred within the Nigerian banking industry. The selection of a multiple case study design provided a valuable means for the exploration of participant's perceptions in a complex business situation as opposed to phenomenological, ethnographic, narrative, and grounded design, which would not address the primary objective of this research study.

A phenomenological research design requires having an in-depth understanding of individuals lived experiences with the phenomena under study (Yin, 2011). The purpose of the research was not to study individuals lived experiences with the phenomena under study. An ethnographic researcher explores the beliefs, language, and behaviors of the chosen cultural group (Jansson & Nikolaidou, 2013). The focus of this study entailed gaining insight into participants' perceptions, as opposed to the beliefs, and

behaviors of the chosen cultural group, an ethnographic approach is not appropriate for the intended research. Grounded theory design requires using conceptualizations to create a method that builds on previous knowledge to include an explanation of the information on new cases (Fernandez & Lehmann, 2011). Grounded theory was not appropriate for this study because the intent was not to conceptualize to create a method to include an explanation in new cases. The research focus was on identifying potential improvement opportunities for Nigerian corporate financial leaders in their implementation of corporate governance to enhance financial performance.

# **Research Question**

The overarching research question for this study was: What corporate governance strategies do Nigerian financial leaders need to ensure regulatory compliance to enhance organizational financial performance?

# **Interview Questions**

The following were the interview questions for the study:

- 1. How would you define regulatory noncompliance with regard to corporate governance in Nigerian banks?
- 2. How have the corporate financial leaders integrated regulatory compliance with their strategy to achieve best corporate governance practices?
- 3. How have corporate financial leaders integrated regulatory compliance with their strategy to improve financial performance?
- 4. What are the critical factors in mitigating regulatory noncompliance with regard to corporate governance?

- 5. What are the critical factors in mitigating regulatory noncompliance with regard to enhancing financial performance in the banking industry?
- 6. What governance strategies are most effective for corporate financial leaders to improve financial performance?
- 7. How have corporate financial leaders implemented corporate governance to ensure regulatory compliance in Nigerian banks?
- 8. How can corporate financial leaders affect a bank's financial performance?
- 9. How can Nigerian corporate financial leaders improve their knowledge of corporate governance to enhance financial performance?
- 10. What other information would you like to add relating to this research?

# **Conceptual Framework**

The conceptual framework for this study was the agency theory. Jensen and Meckling developed the agency theory in 1976. Agency theory represents a contractual agreement in which the principal appoints an agent to perform certain services on its behalf through delegated authority (Isaac, 2014). The principals are the shareholders who entrust their wealth to the agents (the corporate financial leaders) with specific instructions to manage their wealth (Awotundun, Kehinde, & Somoye, 2011). Depositors are also faced with the same principal-agent problems when entrusting their funds to a bank as they face in a direct financing (Byford & Davidson, 2013). Depositors may rely on reports available to investors through the supervision of the bank management on their behalf, because of lack of access to monitor banks directly (Byford et al., 2013). The

foundation of agency theory hinges on the belief that the interests of the principals and the managers differ (Dawar, 2014). The basic proposition was that effectual governance aligns managers' personal interests with those of the owners, eventually resulting in (a) company conduct that reflects investors' expectations and (b) higher company-level financial performance resulting from reduced agency costs. The essential logic is that efficient governance techniques lead to reducing agency issues by improving companies' financial performance and competitive advantage (Hearn, 2013).

Segrestin and Hatchuel (2011) suggested that corporate governance stems from the agency theory, imply that managers cannot be trusted with the corporate duty to maximize shareholders' value. Adegbite (2012) concurred noting that agency theory essentially means a divergent aspect of pursuing self-interest over an unselfish objective. Corporate financial misconduct is prevalent in Nigeria, where lack of transparency has led the chief executives to drain their businesses and become billionaires while investors become poor (Adegbite, 2012). Agency theory indicates solid corporate governance mechanisms will align the interest of managers and shareholders and improve firm performance (Grove et al., 2011). As applied to this study, the propositions of agency theory allowed effective exploration of the strategies Nigerian corporate financial leaders need to implement corporate governance and improve financial performance.

### **Definition of Terms**

Agency problem: Agency problem refers to a situation when disparity exists between managers' and the shareholders' interests, with managers pursuing personal interests instead of maximizing shareholders' wealth (Boshkoska, 2015).

Conflict of interest: Conflict of interest refers to a situation when managers pursue their individual interests by working for personal gains rather than wealth maximization of shareholders (El-Chaarani, 2014).

Corporate governance: Corporate governance refers to the mechanism that controls the relationship between agent and principal by limiting and managing possible conflict between management and shareholders (Guo, Smallman, & Radford, 2013).

*Information asymmetry*: Information asymmetry reflects the competitive advantage information managers within an organization have over shareholders, often resulting in conflict between managers and investors (Kasum & Etudaiye-Muthar, 2014).

*Moral hazard*: Moral hazard refers to excessive risk taken by managers with results suffered entirely by shareholder (Fiordelisi, Marques-Ibanez, & Molyneux, 2011).

Strategic risk management: Strategic risk management is the means of recognizing, evaluating, and managing risk within a strategy with the objective of safeguarding shareholders' wealth (Frigo & Anderson, 2011).

### Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

# Assumptions

Assumptions are points within the study not validated, but held to be true by a researcher (Rouleau-Carroll, 2014). The first assumption of this study was that the participants of the study provided sufficient information and provided honest responses to the interview questions. The second assumption was that the findings reflected the truth effects on corporate governance to improve financial performance of banks in generating high shareholder returns in Nigeria.

Because of the level of disclosure of corporate governance, another assumption was that the research documents detailed information about noncompliance with the code of corporate governance for performance in Nigerian banks. Banks in Nigeria have a common annual year-end and disclosure structure under the regulation of the CBN (Jibrin, Blessing, & Danjuma, 2014). The third assumption was that information provided on the effects of corporate governance on the Nigerian banking industry was truthful. The last assumption was that the semistructured interviews provided an opportunity to explore common themes from the participant's responses involving corporate governance strategies corporate financial leaders need to improve financial performance.

### Limitations

Limitations are issues beyond the control of a researcher and likely to affect the outcome of the study (Rouleau-Carroll, 2014). The first limitation was that the financial reports of the banks and other related documents from regulators, such as CBN and SEC was provided at the discretion of the participants and used along with the research transcript in this study.

The second limitation was that all the selected participants own the disposition to provide their individual details in this study, and their perception concerning performance and governance practices of Nigerian banks. In addition, semistructured interviews were limited to only banking regulators senior leaders and corporate financial leaders. The study did not involve senior management and corporate financial leaders with do not have the requirement to participate in the research.

### **Delimitations**

Delimitations are aspects of the study within the control of a researcher (Rouleau-Carroll, 2014). Interviewing only regulators leaders in the Nigerian banking industry and few corporate financial leaders represented the boundaries of the study, as the boundaries meant the exclusion of other professionals not in the banking industry. Nonbanking professionals may lack the knowledge of corporate governance strategies Nigerian corporate financial leaders need to implement to ensure regulatory compliance for enhance organizational financial performance. The findings were delimited to Nigeria.

# **Significance of the Study**

### **Contribution to Business Practice**

The study may have social and business value because of the focus on understanding the Nigerian banks in terms of corporate performance of corporate financial leaders. This information can facilitate discussion of actions Nigerian corporate financial leaders need to improve corporate governance. The objective of corporate governance is to ensure managers act in the best interests of shareholders (Nkundabanyanga, Ahiauzu, Sejjaaka, & Ntayi, 2013).

Separation of shareowner and control in a firm creates agency problems (Htay, Rashid, Adnan, & Meera, 2012). To forestall the agency problem, Htay et al. advocated a board independent of executives for adequate monitoring to protect the interests of the investors. The presence of an independent board may facilitate appropriate business strategies to reconcile the conflict of interests between investors and executives, thereby enhancing financial performance (Oyerinde, 2014). In the current unstable business

environment, with prospects of more uncertainty in the future, risk management is worth the attention of executives at a strategic level (Elahi, 2012). Corporate financial leaders with the capacity to pursue risk-management objectives and corporate governance can use the knowledge from the study findings, to gain competitive advantage in the industry (Elahi, 2012).

The pursuit of risk management objectives and adequate corporate governance may lead to enhanced financial performance or a good business reputation in the industry (Elahi, 2012). The findings from this study might improve corporate financial leaders' ethical attitudes and financial performance. Most corporate financial leaders have failed to adhere to the code of corporate governance for their industry, resulting in the financial crisis globally, including that in Nigeria, which caused the removal, restructuring, and poor performance of most banks.

Lu and Whidbee (2013) posited that even though the objective of a bank is to maximize shareholders' wealth, the decisions of the corporate financial leaders could make the bank vulnerable to failure during financial crises. One of the elements of a detailed customer manual impressed on corporate financial leaders is to ensure sound risk management and control of the business environment (Otusanya, Lauwo, & Ajibolade, 2013). The enactment of appropriate risk management and adequate control of business environment can lead to improvement of Nigerian banks' performance, in turn, influencing Nigerian economic development and growth. The implementation of corporate governance by corporate financial leaders can improve performance and be

beneficial to Nigerian banks as well as to Nigerian financial markets and the economy (Adegbite, 2012).

### **Implications for Social Change**

Given the significance of governance and financial market issues, the discoveries from the study might have positive effect on the public who increasingly rely on financial services in Nigeria to support personal and business goals. Business continuity involves an implementation of strategies to promote business development in the context of adding value to the countries present and future environmental, economic, and social requirements (Nwagbara, 2012). Enhancement of corporate governance may indicate sound shareholders' protection and may attract international investors, thereby influencing the economic growth of the society (Waweru, 2014). The organization's contribution to society may secure the protection of assets and ensure business continuity (Ogbogbomeh & Ogbeta, 2014). The findings from this study may provide leaders with strategies for compliance to good corporate governance and enhance financial performance. To improve good governance, executives must understand that ethical leadership and ethical behavior must become a practice to reduce corporate financial misconduct, excessive risk taking, and bad governance in Nigerian banking industry. The effect on Nigeria's economic growth and development may be valuable to the society.

### A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore the strategies corporate financial leaders need to ensure compliance to corporate governance. Corporate governance issues have attracted scholarly and regulatory debate since the collapse of

Enron and notable banks in the banking industry (Bozec & Dia, 2012). Stemming from the financial crisis in the Nigerian banking sector, corporate governance has become a major concern to the regulators (Osemeke & Adegbite, 2014). Corporate governance is essential to global integrity in the financial industry (Joshua, Joshua, & Tauhid, 2013).

Corporate governance provides direction for corporate financial leaders to govern the business of their banks (Jakada & Inusa, 2014). Poor governance, which includes corporate financial misconduct of corporate financial leaders, is increasing and has stimulated academic debate (Adegbite & Najikama, 2011). Corporate financial leaders have often deserted essential components of good corporate principles for self-interest (Ikpefan & Ojeka, 2013). The primary objective of corporate governance is to lessen and resolve of any principal-agent issues (Verriest, Gaeremynck & Thornton, 2013) in organizations.

Poor corporate governance has been the reason for the collapse in the Nigerian banking sector in the past (Kasum & Etudaiye-Muthar, 2014). The analysis of corporate governance and bank performance has often premised on the principal-agency relationship (Oyerinde, 2014). With the growing concern about the adverse consequences of noncompliance in corporate governance, including bank collapse, researchers, and practitioners have advocated implementation of sound corporate governance as crucial to sound firm financial performance. The literature review includes strategies that banks may apply under good governance; theories addressing good governance include the agency theory, stakeholder theory, and stewardship theory; and an explanation of the importance of agency conflict in the banking sector still requires further study because of

the activities of the chief executives and their self-interest in most of the corporate misconduct in the industry.

The agency theory served as the conceptual underpinning, as the theory applied to corporate governance in the banking sector. Agency theory connotes the alignment of the corporate financial leaders' (agents), and the shareholders' (principal) interest will successively improve firm's performance (Grove et al., 2011). Analyzing the corporate financial misconduct that occurred in the banking industry in Nigeria may benefit from using the lens of the agency theory as the conceptual link. A gap in the literature was evident on corporate governance problems in Nigerian banks because of little research conducted after the 2007-2009 financial misconduct in the banking sector. This study entailed research that may fill the void in the literature and may contribute to the existing body of academic literature.

# **Organization of the Review**

The literature review addressed corporate governance issues in the Nigerian banking industry. The literature review includes exploration of agency theory, the conceptual framework used in the study. The discussion includes supporting and contrasting theories of corporate governance. This section begins with an in-depth discussion on agency theory, followed by discussion on corporate governance and further discussion on corporate governance and agency theory. A brief overview of the leadership role in organization and corporate financial leaders and banking business will follow. The banking sector briefly explained follows, with discussion of the literature profiling Nigeria and an overview of Nigerian banks, corporate governance, and banking

regulations, corporate governance in the banking industry, corporate governance issues in the banking sector in Nigeria, and corporate governance and financial performance.

### Strategy for Searching the Literature

The literature review incorporates vital study of an extensive knowledge of information (Bryman, 2012) and includes evaluation of scholarly and peer-reviewed research. The following databases constituted the repository sourced for the literature review of this study: Electronic Business Source Complete, ProQuest, Emerald Management Journals, Science Direct Journals, and Sage full-text collections through the Walden University Library. Other search engines included Google Scholar and the Social Science Research Network (SSRN).

Exchange Commission, (SEC), the Nigerian Deposit Insurance Corporation (NDIC), and websites of several Nigerian banks. The selected keywords for conducting the research were *corporate governance*, *Nigerian banks*, *bank performance*, *financial performance*, *agency theory*, *agency problems in banks*, *bank leaders*, *the financial crisis*, *qualitative study*, *case study*, and *critics of agency theory*. The results were filtered to represent peer-reviewed scholarly material published from 2011-2015. The filtered results limited the available resources to current academic materials. The search revealed much literature on corporate governance issues in banks and financial performance. Of 163 articles used in the literature review, 153 (93.8%) were peer-reviewed, and 163 (100%) were within the last 5 years. The articles used in the literature review contained published articles between 2011 and 2015.

# **Application to the Applied Business Problem**

The main purpose of this study was to explore strategies Nigerian corporate financial leaders need to implement to ensure regulatory compliance to corporate governance and enhance organizational, financial performance. The corporate financial misconduct in banks because of noncompliance with corporate governance principles has generated concerns about the integrity of the banking industry (Joshua et al., 2013). The literature reviewed in this section includes an examination of various codes of corporate governance in Nigeria, with a focus on the recently adopted version. The subsequent section includes discussion of the strategies to implement good corporate governance and descriptions of the concepts of effective corporate governance compliance for banks.

# **Agency Theory**

Corporate governance researchers have used the agency theory to develop solutions to agency conflicts between managers and investors (Renders & Gaeremynck, 2012). Corporate governance addresses individual responsibility and lessens principalagent problems in an organization (Kapooria, Sharma, & Kaul, 2014). According to Isaac (2014), agency theory postulates that effective corporate governance can lead to improving performance and financial results.

The postulations made through the agency theory may indicate that the relationship between the principal and the agent is a contractual agreement (Brandas, 2013). Principal contracts the agent to complete an assignment on the principal's behalf (Brandas, 2011). Information of agent's about the business can often be superior to that of the principal in the banking industry. Information asymmetry can negatively affect the

capacity of the principal to monitor whether agents are adequately protecting the principal's interest (Sarenz & Abdolmohammadi, 2011). According to agency theory, the main problem of corporate governance is guaranteeing that managers will represent the interests of the investors above their own interests (Brandas, 2011). Sarenz, Abdolmohammadi, and Lenz (2012) noted that agency theory assumes principals and agents perform reasonably and use contracts to maximize their shareholders' wealth.

Htay et al. (2012) explained the concept of the agency problem emerged from separation of ownership and control. The major problem in agency relationships stem from moral hazard and adverse selection, which might lead managers to maximize their interests at the expense of investors' interests (Fayezi, O'Loughlin, & Zutshi, 2012). The agency problem presumes that organizations run the risk of situations involving deficient reports and ambiguity (Mulili & Wong, 2011). Adverse selections often arise when principals cannot deduce whether agents have performed the task paid for by the principals (Mulili & Wong, 2011).

Agency problems can arise when investors have difficulties monitoring the funds provided to managers; investors have difficulty ensuring managers do not squander their wealth on unreliable business practices (Pande & Ansari, 2014). To reduce the agency problem, board independence can enhance primary monitoring of managers to lessen managers' personal gains and reduce agency cost in line with shareholders' interests (Htay et al., 2012). Collective regulation, with active merger and acquisition, can occur to punish erring managers. Htay et al. noted that joint ownership of directors and principals through equity enables managers to pursue owners' interests. The dominant problem of

agency theory is the agency problem arising when managers and investors have different interests (Connelly, Ketchen, & Slater, 2011). Connelly et al. stated that access to valuable information concerning the business could lead managers to acquire personal gains rather than pursue the interests of the investors.

El-Chaarani (2014) noted that agency theorist postulates, minimum agency costs accrue when the manager owns 100% of the capital. However, when manager's involvement falls below 100%, agency cost emerges because of a varying conflict of interests within the organization. El-Chaarani noted that if the objectives of the principal and the agent were identical, no conflict of interest and agency cost would occur. However, corporate governance issues in the global banking industry have often revolved around the conflict of interest of the manager when he or she pursues personal objectives rather than the objectives of the owners of the business.

Godos-Díez, Fernández-Gago, and Martínez-Campillo (2011) asserted that managers often do not operate to maximize shareholders' return unless there is an execution of proper governance systems to protect the interests of the investors. Amah and Ahiauzu (2014) indicated that the exclusive reason for business is to maximize profits for its investors. The agents are the management and boards of directors of companies entrusted with maximizing shareholders' wealth. Adewale (2013) noted, in a perfect world, these directors would be those who operate in the best interests of the organization and its investors.

Hassan and Halbouni (2013) stated that principals adopt a corporate governance mechanism to monitor agent conduct. The underlying concept of agency theory is that

corporate governance mechanisms can check executive behavior, minimize the potential for corporate leaders to serve their interests by exploiting information asymmetries, and propel leaders to act in a manner that maximizes investors' wealth to improve organization performance (Hassan & Halbouni, 2013). As a step further, Hassan and Halbouni noted that corporate governance is a set of mechanisms used in an organization to solve agency problems.

Nyamongo and Temesgen (2013) suggested that corporate governance would enhance long-term performance through proper monitoring of managers. An established connection between improved corporate performance and insider directors will enhance maximization of profit for investors (Nyamongo & Temesgen, 2013). Mustapha and Ahmad (2011) noted the separation of ownership has extensive possible adverse consequences on organizational value. In their study of agency theory and managerial ownership in Malaysia, Mustapha et al. found managerial ownership is an important component affecting organizations' monitoring cost.

Tse (2011) argued that agency theory is a robust theory and that shareholders' wealth maximization could be advantageous to other stakeholders. Tse also noted that the funds from share ownership tie closely to residual claims after payments to suppliers, employee salaries, creditor payments, and government taxes. Because investors want to maximize the organization's value, managers need to protect their interests by generating optimum value for the shareholders. In a study of shareholders and stakeholders theory after the financial crisis, Tse indicated to argue the organization must not be responsible to the shareholders to maximize their wealth would be difficult.

Adegbite (2012) stated that agency theory steadily persists as the focal point for structuring any corporate governance framework. Other theories have contributed to understanding the issues concerning corporate governance in relations to banks.

However, only agency theory provides an adequate framework to understand the inherent conflict of interest agents' have and the problem of opportunism as depicted in the self-enrichment and corporate misconduct that rocked the Nigerian banking sector.

Despite acknowledgment of agency theory as the prevailing model of corporate governance, some scholars have challenged the idea in support of other theories (L'Huillier, 2014). Regardless of the critics, agency theory has steadily advanced; managers have increasingly merited consideration as shareholders' agents (Segrestin & Hatchuel, 2011). Godos-Diez et al. (2011) noted stewardship theorists, by contrast, regard managers as stewards of organizations. Stakeholder theory takes a broader perspective, advancing the view that the profitability of an organization is too restricted a target and organizations must consider other factors, such as workers, suppliers, clients, and the public (Mostovicz, Kakabadse, & Kakabase, 2011). However, the objective of the company is sustainability (Mostovic et al., 2011).

# **Corporate Governance**

The role of corporate governance in finance has increased in the last two decades as a prominent and prevalent area of research (Ganguli, 2013). Corporate governance issues around the world after the collapse of Enron, World.com, and Arthur Anderson in the United States attracted research on improvement of corporate governance (Adewale, 2013). However, there is no standard, acceptable definition of corporate governance

(Wajeeh & Muneeza, 2012). Shungu, Ngirande, and Ndiovu (2014) noted several definitions of corporate governance, most stemming from the work of Berle and Means (1932) and Fama and Jensen (1983).

The term *corporate governance* stemmed from the Greek word kyberman, which means to direct, control or govern (Ayandele & Emmanuel, 2013). Corporate governance specifies the principles, procedures, or regulations to manage, supervise, and regulate business (Adewale, 2013). Claessens and Yurtoglu (2012) described corporate governance as techniques that guard operation of an organization to distinguish owners from the managers. Claessens and Yurtoglu noted this definition is similar to that of Sir Cadbury, who defined corporate governance as a process through which companies receive management and direction.

According to Shungu et al. (2014), the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development defined corporate governance as a process by which organizations receive direction on management on behalf of the shareholders. Nwagbara (2012) described corporate governance as techniques and strategies for company control, steering and directing managerial governance exploits. Yang (2011) defined governance as a mechanism to resolve agency problems while Swamy (2011) presented governance as decision-making techniques that replace contracts between owners and managers.

Inam and Mukhtar (2014) noted the definition of governance by Shleifer and Vishny (1997) as the means through which investors in a firm assure each other of the profit on their investments. Oghoghomeh and Ogbeta (2014) stated that corporate governance guarantees the responsibility and integrity of managers to deliver a

reasonable return to their investors and meet other regulatory and contractual responsibilities. L'Huillier (2014) also noted that agency theorists consider corporate governance a fundamental contingency for measures of control to curb the actions of agents (managers).

El-Chaarani (2014) suggested that to lessen agency conflict, corporate governance presents directions and rules to align diverse interests, largely managers' interests, with those of the shareholders. Donaldson (2012) described corporate governance as directives, approaches, and practices influencing the control of the company. El-Chaarani further found that corporate governance outlines the system that established organizational goals and methods to monitor performance. A lack of consensus regarding the definition of corporate governance hinders researchers' in determining its characteristics. Oghoghomeh and Ogbeta (2014) observed that the collapse related to corporate governance affected diverse organizations, largely profit-generating companies such as banks and grew into a problem of international importance.

# **Corporate Governance and Agency Theory**

Mulili and Wong (2011) described agency theory as a structure of organizations that operates under an imperfect information and ambiguity. Filatochev, Jackson, and Nakajima (2013) stated that the concept of agency theory has influenced some corporate governance discussions. Amran, Periasamy, Zulkafli (2014) expressed the same idea that agency theory dominates research on corporate governance. Agency theory has become the foundation of corporate governance (Segrestin & Hatchuel, 2011). Agency theory

connects various facets of corporate governance with organizational performance (Filatochev & Wright, 2011).

Jensen and Meckling (1976) stated that the fundamental idea embraced by agency theorists is, in any particular position, managers may not operate to maximize investors' returns but instead follow their self-interests, unless proper governance systems are used to safeguard the interest of the investors. Agency theorists have asserted that to curb managerial exploitation and its harmful consequences on performance, investors should use a diversity of corporate governance mechanisms (Filatotchev & Wright, 2011). The mechanisms include the board of directors monitoring and sizable outside investors to improve the monitoring effectiveness of the managers and enhance organizational performance (Harford, Mansi, & Maxwell, 2012). Several corporate governance models revolve around principal-agency theory with links to divergence details of corporate governance with organization performance (Filatochev & Wright, 2011).

The dominant proposition of agency theory hinges on the idea that shareholders and managers have varying access to firm-specific information that presents conflicting interests and risk preferences (Filatochev & Allcock, 2013). Managers (agents) may thus become involved in self-serving conduct severe to shareholders' wealth maximization (Filatochev & Allcock, 2013). Filatochev and Wright (2011) reasoned that corporate governance involves securing accountability of the executive and empowering the regulatory manager to ensure that shareholders gain good returns on their investment in an organization.

Corporate governance research is more advanced in developed countries such as the United Kingdom and the United States than in developing countries, such as Africa seems evident (Mang'unyi, 2011) and particularly Nigeria (Adegbite, Amaeshi, & Nakajima, 2013). However, discussion of corporate governance increased recently because of poor corporate governance in the Nigerian banking industry attributed to bad corporate governance of the corporate financial leaders (Oghoghomeh & Ogbeta, 2014). The lack of established risk-management mechanisms, limited internal control, increased financial misconduct, self-enrichment, insider lending, and conflicts of interest have resulted in a significant financial crisis in Nigeria; all these factors link to poor corporate governance (Oghoghomeh & Ogbeta, 2014).

# Leadership in Organization

Elahi (2012) noted that leaders' attitudes toward possibilities in an organization cannot relate to theory expectations. Isaac (2014) argued that organizations failed because of poor organizational decisions by leaders in their efforts to appropriate profit.

Nwagbara (2012) opined that modern leadership theories connote leadership as a practical and ethical situation. Nwagbara stated that leadership is a complement to ethics. Nwagbara found that the issue of corporate financial misconduct had become part of corporate financial leadership in the banking industry.

The performance of banks depends on the character of the organizations' management (Omoijiade, 2015). Omoijiade noted that the executive attribute emphasizes other parts of the banks. According to Omoijiade, leadership is a complicated and

personal issue that concerns individuals in a sophisticated circle of relationships within a challenging corporate environment.

Bolton, Brunnermeier, and Velkamp (2011) suggested that a leader might reduce the motives for mistrust with a reasonable dedication to an assignment. Leadership style is essential to the strategic decision and performance of any corporation. The profitability of banks relies mainly on the character of the leadership (Omoijiade, 2015). Business leaders need to act by ethical expectations of their roles to safeguard the business and profitability of their organizations.

## **Corporate Financial Leaders and Banking Business**

Nwagbara (2012) argued that corporate financial leaders were the cause of financial failure in the Nigerian banking sector. Jakada and Inusa (2014) suggested that the poor governance and management style of corporate leaders had created enormous problems in Nigerian banks. The leadership style led to the crash of the stock market and corruption in the Nigerian economy, which revealed a complete lack of corporate governance in the banking sector (Nwagbara, 2012).

A joint study of 24 banks in Nigeria by the CBN and NDIC revealed 10 banks had significant nonperforming loans, poor governance, deficiency in capital adequacy, and insolvent (Sanusi, 2011). The discovery led to the replacement of the corporate financial leaders of the affected banks and an injection of 620 billion naira (Sanusi, 2011). Kasum and Etudaiye-Muthar (2014) noted that a deficiency in corporate governance with inherent agency problems was the primary cause of the financial crisis in Nigeria.

Reddy and Sharma (2014) attributed the financial disaster of 2007-2009 to the deterioration and shortcomings in corporate governance implementation. Wajeeh and Muneeza (2012) asserted the failure of organization led to the emergence of corporate governance. Kasum and Etudaiye-Muthar, (2014) posited the agency problem is predominant among corporate financial leaders and investors in the Nigerian banking industry; but remedies are possible through a systematic practice of incentive contracts and support from banks' regulatory agencies.

Adewale (2013) conducted a qualitative case study using agency theory as a conceptual framework to evaluate the efficiency of corporate governance codes in averting future collapse and analyzing the past failure in Nigeria banking industry. Adewale reasoned that in a country like Nigeria, where corruption is endemic, a process of corporate governance must ensure accountability. A culture to strengthen the governance of the firms must be in place. Adewale concluded corporate leaders must learn ethical financial culture to avert corporate financial misconduct and establish a system in which internal controls are active.

Khan (2011) conducted a study to review the effectiveness of corporate governance and its efficient mechanisms for running and managing business operations. The focus of study was on the problem of ownership and control, principal-agent problems, and their effects on corporate governance. The outcome of the study revealed that effective corporate governance curtails holding and control issues and demarcates the boundary between investors and corporate leaders (Khan, 2011).

Acharya and Naqvi (2012) suggested that agency problems ensue when agents (corporate financial leaders) do not protect principals' interests or when agents take excessive risks in granting loans. Acharya and Naqvi observed that the principal-agency problem within banks was a leading cause of the bank collapses and corporate financial leaders repeatedly gravitated to excessive risk-taking conduct. Agency conflicts arise when collaborating parties pursue separate goals and tasks. Gottschalk (2011) suggested that parties often commit to an agency relationship in a contract, and this arrangement can lead to white-collar crime and severe consequences for a company. In the study of corporate leaders involved in white-collar crime, Gottschalk found financial misconduct of the corporate leader is the crime associated with the most severe consequences for a company.

# The Banking Industry

Since its independence in 1960, Nigeria has gone through enormous changes. Haji and Mubaraq (2012) suggested that Nigeria transformed from an agriculturally driven economy in the 1960s to oil and gas dominated economy and, currently, is the ninth largest oil producing economy in the world. Other sectors such as telecommunications, service and trading, technology, and banking, in addition, have affected the economy in recent times (Haji & Mubaraq, 2012).

Chah and Gupta (2012) observed that banking has a significant role in the economy of any country. Banks not only collect and distribute massive uncollateralized funds as part of their fiduciary duty but also influence the establishment of credit (Chah

& Gupta, 2012). Banks can also hinder a country's economy. Wajeeh et al. (2012) noted that corporate governance is a protection against economic crisis.

The banking sector in Nigeria performed a critical role in supporting economic improvement and expansion through the system of financial intermediation (Sanusi, 2011). The financial intermediation could be the central bank as lender of the last resort to the commercial banks, thereby supporting other banks and business sectors.

Goodfriend (2011) stated that the central bank is the monetary authority of the nation, executing the monetary policies and circulating money for the government.

Economists have argued that financial systems, with banks as their vital elements, serve as the connection between various sectors of the economy and reassure a significant level of specialization, competence, economies of scale, and settings conducive to execution of different economic policies of government (Sanusi, 2011). The central bank has the supervisory and regulating authority over all the banks in Nigeria as detailed in the Bank and Other Financial Institutions Act (BOFIA) of 1991 (Ajibo, 2015). Malhotra, Poteau, and Singh (2011) noted that the banking industry is the most significant financial market. Banks are involved in financial intermediation by sourcing for savings at a rate that will entice depositors and lend funds to creditors at an affordable rate to maximize profits in a competitive environment (Tennant & Tracey, 2014). The responsibility of the bank stretched above business interest of the banks but also maximization of shareholders wealth (Capriglione & Casalino, 2014).

Tennant and Tracey (2014) posited that the strength of a bank's revenue flow relies to some degree on the manner in which managers appropriate the resources of a

profitable business. The Nigerian banking industry has experienced significant restructuring and developing the financial market since December 2005 of bank recapitalization (Aransiola, 2013). However, despite the supervisory and regulatory role of the CBN, the regulator has not kept pace with the growth in the financial sector (Omankhalen, 2012).

Pasiouras, Tanna, and Gaganis (2011) revealed that weak supervision could change banks' decision-making by compelling them to take risks while neglecting viable business activities. Kasum and Etudaiye-Muthar (2014) suggested that poor corporate governance was the primary cause of distress in Nigeria's banking sector over past decades. Adeyemi (2014) reported that the trouble in the banking industry often traces to poor management of corporate governance. Adeyemi concluded the effect of executive incompetence, insider corruption, and boardroom controversies emerging from problems with ownership structure and inadequate internal control affected practices of corporate governance in the Nigerian banking sector.

Hassan (2011) indicated that, in mid-2004, CBN adopted merger and acquisition as a consolidation process to rectify the failure in the financial system. The banks received instructions to increase their capital bases from \$15 million to \$192 million, which caused some banks to raise \$3 billion in the capital market (Fadare, 2011). Before the consolidation exercise, the ownership of most Nigerian banks predominantly lay in the hands of private individuals, but later, shifted to public ownership (Ezeoha, 2011). The reform transformed 89 banks into 25 banks, but this situation was short lived as the banks affected by another financial crisis, resulted in the survival of only 24 banks

(Oghojafor & Adebisi, 2012). The banks also enhanced internal corporate governance positions (Ezeoha, 2011). The CBN repositioned the banks as a robust impetus for Nigerian development and enhanced their corporate governance positions (Ezeoha, 2011).

The Nigerian banking industry witnessed another monumental financial crisis provoked by the global financial crisis in 2009 (Sanusi, 2012). The Nigerian stock market significantly failed by 70% in 2007-2009, and many banks rescued (Sanusi, 2012). The financial crisis of 2007-2009 attributed to mismanagement and misrepresentation of the banks' financial performance (Oghojafor et al., 2012). Ojo and Ayadi (2014) stated the global financial misconduct started in 2008 and collapsed the stock market in Nigeria, primarily stemmed from financial mismanagement and corrupt practices by banks and stock market management, which affected investors' confidence in the stock market.

Biobele, Igbo, and John (2013) revealed corporate financial misconduct of character of the corporate financial leaders led to the financial industry collapse that affected the shareholders' fund. Biobele et al. suggested that corporate financial misconduct in Nigerian banks resulted in license revocation, which had adverse effects on other stakeholders from the sudden events with prior knowledge of the bank's status. The bank failure revealed a serious issue of corporate governance culture in Nigeria compared to other countries following international best practices (Biobele et al., 2013).

Okereke, Abu, and Anyanwu (2011) noted the banking industry witnessed different CBN legislative and regulation reforms with the aim of enhancing corporate governance toward sustaining the industry. The intentions of the regulators, largely the

CBN, gravitated toward corporate misconduct awareness, avoidance of other devious operations, bad debt retrieval, corporate restructuring, statutory financial recapitalization, and good corporate governance (Okereke et al., 2011). Otusanya (2012) revealed bank directors and executives were involved in corporate financial misconduct, resulting in adverse outcomes from intrigue to avoid laws and regulations. Haji and Mubaraq (2012) stated reforms introduced in the banking sector, clearly intended to induce better practices in the Nigerian banking industry.

The CBN introduced the 2005 Code of Corporate Governance to correct poor corporate governance and accountability practices in the banks (Haji et al., 2012). The banking sector is vital to the economic wellbeing of a nation and requires adequate monitoring and regulation to avoid systemic failure, as witnessed in the banking industry globally. The poor governance and corporate financial misconduct in the Nigerian banking sector was the motivation for this study to explore the corporate governance issues in the Nigerian banking industry and to provide strategies corporate financial leaders need to implement to reduce noncompliance with good corporate governance.

#### **Profile of Nigeria Economy**

Adegbite and Nakajima (2011) described Nigeria as Africa's largest market for goods and services. The 2006 census revealed Nigeria had a total population of 150 million people (Oghojafor et al., 2012). Nigeria has a landmass of 923,728 square kilometers, double that of California and has vast reserves of water, crude oil, and natural gas (Oghojafor et al., 2012). Oghojafor et al. noted Nigeria is one of the top crude oil exporters of the world, also exporting other minerals and natural resources.

Obayemi and Alaka (2014) stated, before its independence in 1960, Nigeria was under the control of the British, who instituted an Anglo-Saxon-based system of laws dating back to the pre-colonial era. According to Adegbite (2012), the principal business owners in Nigeria during the colonial period were British companies. Obayemi and Alaka noted that after independence, Nigeria changed the Company Ordinance of 1922 to the 1968 Companies Act, with significant influence from the U.K. Companies Act of 1948. Adegbite, Amaeshi, and Nakajima (2013) noted that thereafter, British law continued to have a major influence on the legal structure of corporate governance and financial reporting in the Nigerian Companies and Allied Matter Act (CAMA) of 2004 (as amended by the Nigerian Government). Such laws include directors' responsibilities, disclosure prerequisites, insider dealings, minority shareholder protection, and management remunerations (Adegbite, 2012).

The CAMA regulates and governs all profit and nonprofit concerns in Nigeria (Adekoya, 2011). The military government passed these laws in Nigeria but recognized input from few people in the absence of legislative debates (Adekoya, 2011). Despite the laws and corporate governance codes in Nigeria, there have been challenges impeding good governance. Ineffective and deficient legal and regulatory structures do not allow enforcement and monitoring of compliance with the CAMA (Adekoya, 2011).

Adegbite and Nakajima (2011) stated that corporate governance in Nigeria aggravated by financial misconduct across the country, uncertainty in government rules, poor management, racial competition, religious tensions, and indigenous issues that cut across the economy of Nigeria. Nigeria's economy suffered setbacks caused by the

decadence of its major industries related to the military autocracy in Nigeria (Isaac, 2014). However, legislators have become aware of the absence of governance constraints, inefficiency, and accounting misconduct in Nigerian banks (Isaac, 2014).

The banking industry and other financial institutions in the country encountered distress in 1980 and 1990, leading to the Failed Bank (Recovery of Debt) and Financial Malpractices in Banks Act, which sought to correct the failure of the banks and retrieve the debt from the perpetrators (Isaac et al., 2014). While the banking industry went through this difficult time, the state-owned enterprises (SOE) in Nigeria also failed to uphold corporate governance in their dealings. The failure of the SOE resulted in the privatization and commercialization of many enterprises (Isaac, 2014). The SOE benefited from government subsidies, waivers, and transfers totaling N265 million (Isaac, 2014), equivalent to \$1.55 million at N171 to \$1. The previous and recent failures in the banking industry and the SOE revealed that poor governance is an issue in Nigeria.

Corruption in the public and private sectors, including the banks and the need to protect investors from the corrupt management in the Nigeria Stock Exchange, led the Nigerian government to initiate codes of corporate governance for best practices (Isaac, 2014). Corporate governance in Nigeria is improving, and its objective is to ensure principled guidelines, accountability, and transparency (Okereke et al., 2011). Corporate governance in Nigeria is of great importance to investors as well as the economy of the country (Adegbite & Nakajima, 2011). However, the peculiarity of the Nigerian business environment has made the theory of corporate governance in Nigeria uncertain. Agency

theory and shareholders theory underlie Nigerian corporate governance (Adegbite & Nakajima, 2011).

### **Overview of Nigerian Banks**

The first licensed bank in Nigeria, previously known as the African Banking Corporation, now the First Bank of Nigeria, commenced operation in 1892 (Ajibo, 2015). Since then, the number of banks in Nigeria has surged (Ogujiuba & Obiechina, 2011). Nigerian banks control 90% of the financial assets and most of the nation's stock market (Nwagbara, 2012). Nwagbara noted that the financial misconduct in the banks affects Nigerian economy because of the banks significant impact on the economy. Mistrust plagues corporate governance in Nigeria's banking sector, lack of principles, unscrupulous management, and corporate ignominy among its chief executives and managers (Nwagbara, 2012).

Ikoh, Nsien, and Nicholas (2013) noted that collapse of banks is not a new phenomenon in Nigerian banking industry. The reports indicated that 124 banks were distressed in Nigeria previously. The Nigerian financial sector witnessed turmoil during the 1990s and the fall of many financial institutions, which severely eroded investors' faith in the banks (Adegbite, 2012). In 1997, extensive mishandling of funds because of credit extended to executives, directors, and relations with the chief executive led to the expulsion of 26 banks in Nigeria (Oghoghomeh & Ogbeta, 2014).

In 2004, the CBN assessed 62 banks as healthy and satisfactory, 14 as negligible, and 11 as unhealthy; two of the banks failed to make any return to the CBN during the review (Ogujiuba & Obiechina, 2011). Oghoghomeh and Ogbeta noted that some of the

chief executives offered credit to their families and acquaintances without sufficient collateral. The executives approved payments and transfers to authenticate the transactions. The financial crises in the Nigerian banking industry largely resulted from bad leaders in the banks (Oghoghomeh & Ogbeta, 2014).

To fortify the financial system of Nigeria and enhance the banking industry, the CBN initiated a merger in the sector in 2004 (Ogujiuba & Obiechina, 2011). The banking sector lost 74 billion naira of public sector funds because of the reforms (Isaac, 2014). Ogujiuba et al. (2011) informed that the CBN increased the minimum capital base of the banks from the initial 2 billion naira to 25 billion naira by 2005.

Ajibo (2015) stated that this reform led to the reduction of banks from 89 to 24, lowered funds from \$9 billion to \$3 billion, to meet the new capital requirement of the CBN. Okereke et al. (2011) reported that the 2007 trouble and the ultimate failure of the banks were because of issues of poor corporate governance. A study conducted by the Nigerian Deposit Insurance Corporation (NDIC) in 2003 outlined the circumstances that provoked the distress in Nigerian banks and attributed 51.1% of the problem to transparency, ethical conducts, and competency issues (Okereke et al., 2011). Changes became necessary to protect the wealth of the investors as the state of corporate governance in Nigeria banking sector became the foremost worry to the regulators (Adegbite, 2012, Adegbite & Nakajima, 2011).

The CBN reviewed a code of corporate governance for banks and produced the 2006 code for commercial banks in Nigeria (Isaac, 2014). The rationale for the institution of the code of corporate governance included improvement, to supplement and strengthen

the performance of other current rules in the Nigeria banking industry (Isaac, 2014). The legal standards of corporate governance although still need enforcement. Adegbite (2012) noted that the improvement of corporate governance in Nigeria led to the development of the Security and Exchange Commission Code in 2003, when subsequently revised in 2011 with contributions from various stakeholders, including the CBN, NDIC, and Corporate Affairs Commission of Nigeria. The SEC code was principle based while the CBN code for corporate governance of banks is rule based (Adegbite, 2012).

Before the banking reform, several banks in Nigeria affected the CBN's capacity to institute effective monitoring of the banks for adequate compliance (Adegbite, 2012). Despite its inability for proper supervision of the banks, the CBN continued to indicate its dedication to eliminating board and managerial misconduct (Adegbite, 2012). The composition of the CBN code expected to resolve rudimentary problems in the banks; however, the CBN has admitted the reforms in the banking sector might not be sufficient to curb the immoral activities of corporate financial leaders (Adegbite, 2012).

Besides the limitations to the power of the CBN, the Nigerian banking sector also suffered due to the global financial crisis, which exposed great flaws in the corporate governance of Nigerian banks (Adegbite, 2012). The stress test performed on banks by the CBN and other regulatory authorities revealed corporate misconduct committed by corporate financial leaders and executives of leading banks in Nigeria, along with their collaborators (Adegbite, 2012; Adegbite & Nakajima, 2011). Adegbite, Amaeshi, and Nakajima (2013) noticed that the stress test conducted on banks in 2009 caused the CBN to remove eight corporate financial leaders for poor corporate governance,

embezzlement, and grave capital inadequacy. The situation was due to by the delinquency of several billions of naira and bad loans by borrowers, including wealthy business executives and politicians in the country. The CBN had to bail out the distressed banks with \$4 billion in 2009. The CBN also nationalized three banks that were unable to raise the required minimum capital for the continuation of their businesses (Adegbite, 2012).

Developing a strategy to improve the best practices in the Nigerian banking sector is crucial to averting further crises. Ikoh et al. (2013) noted that good corporate governance is the only way to prevent distress in the banking industry. Good governance needs appropriate enforcement with practical adherence to principles and conscientious execution of authority in a cautious way. The banking sector must strictly adhere to the rules, regulations, laws, and requirements expected of its management by regulators (Ikoh, Nsien, & Nicholas, 2013).

# **Corporate Governance and Banking Regulation In General**

The importance of the financial industry to a nation's economy often prompts the regulators to enact financial regulations to curtail the financial risk taking, prevent harmful ideas, and reduce uncertainty in the banking industry (Ramady, 2015). Marilen and Ana-Cristina (2013) noted that proper implementation of governance systems and procedures are crucial to banking governance. Corporate leaders should not consider corporate governance as mere regulations and procedures, instead as a creative process by which leaders can appropriately manage their organizations through duly exemplified values and cultures (Marilen et al., 2013).

Achchuthan and Kajananthan (2013) defined corporate governance as a process in which to control a manager and held to account for an organization. In the last five years, interest in corporate governance issues has increased (Marilen & Ana-Cristina, 2013). The Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development steering group on corporate governance asserted that weak governance is the principle cause of financial crises (Adams, 2012). The committee blamed board failure for the crisis in the banks and established a process to improve corporate governance (Adams, 2012).

Economists and financial analysts have conceded the recent global financial crisis as caused by a blend of market collapse, government breakdown, interest rates, and risk excesses (Alao & Raimi, 2011). Alao and Raimi noted that the lack of oversight of the regulators and operators resulted in a disastrous failure of the financial sector. Pacces and Heremans (2012) stated that excessive risk taking by financial institutions had led to financial uncertainty.

Banking regulations and financial markets have become a crucial problem for public authorities (Hereman et al., 2012). Mendonca, Galvao, and Loures (2012) called for an active regulation system, unambiguous legislation, and increased authority for central banks to eradicate the problems created by market inadequacies. Shoddy financial markets have characteristics of information asymmetry, agency problems, and moral hazards (Pacces & Heremans, 2012). Government intervention in the policies guiding the financial sector may avert and curb the significance of adverse market procedures (Hereman et al., 2012).

Becher and Fryer (2011) suggested that regulators and investors have diverse interests in the financial sector. The regulators do not have access to the actual control of corporate governance implementation might persuade organizations to take up adequate corporate governance systems that uphold safety and soundness (Becher & Frye, 2011). Brown and Dinc (2011) reasoned that the arrangement and standards of regulations are essential considerations in sustaining a healthy financial system and economy. Considering the importance of corporate governance in dealing with agency problems and controlling risk taking within organizations, new actions of banking authorities, central banks, and other authorities have affirmed the relevance of effective corporate governance practices in the banking industry (Peni & Vähämaa, 2012).

Yang, Chi, and Young (2011) stressed that legal protection is one of the major issues in the corporate governance of a nation while effective corporate governance gives exceptional protection to shareholders. Man and Wong (2013) observed that healthy legal protection of shareholder interests could be costly and empower some investors to solicit legal directives because of particular leaders' attributes or legal suits against the organizations. Becher and Fryer (2011) stated that the presence of regulators might coerce organizations to accept efficient corporate governance that advocate safety and soundness.

Petitjean (2013) indicated scholars and professionals share the notion that the new regulatory system must coerce the financial institutions to address adverse areas that may threaten the global economy. Mehran and Mollineax (2012) informed that academics have affirmed that a healthy economy cannot survive without a functional financial

system. To address agency problems and distortions in the banking industry and to ensure a steady and sound financial system, different mechanisms must be in place through legislation and supervision (Pacces & Heremans, 2012).

Reddy and Sharma (2014) noted that disclosure might allow the shareholders to avert operational risk by establishing a system of transparency. Mishira and Mohanty (2013) stated corporate leaders may have information, which may not be transparent to the shareholder, but availability of such information could assist shareholder in its decision-making. Ben (2014) asserted corporate governance practices could enhance law as a regulatory system to curb the agency problems to safeguard shareholders interest.

African corporate and capital market regulators have adopted good governance and accountability as an essential mechanism to curb corporate corruption (Adegbite, 2012). In their study of financial regulations and transparency information, Mendonca et al. (2012) found evidence from the banking industry that a greater commitment by regulators will reduce vulnerability in the financial market. Mendonca et al. cited Brazil as an example of a country that has good market discipline and a highly regulated system, which prevented the country from suffering during the financial crisis. Mendonca et al. concluded that market discipline is a vital aspect of the regulatory system, with the primary objective of punishing bad management and reducing risk in financial institutions.

Corporate governance in the banking industry. The corporate governance crisis in the banking industry raised major issues and played a significant role in determining the improvement process addressed by financial regulators and governments

around the world. According to Ibrahim (2013), several financial crises that occurred recently in the United States such as Enron and WorldCom and, in Europe such as Parmalat and Ahold weakened confidence in the financial reporting of publicly quoted organizations. Ibrahim et al. found that the goal of several reforms introduced was to enhance corporate governance implementation and reinstate investors' trust in the financial reporting both at the national and international level. Ibrahim et al. cited the examples of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2012 in the United States and the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development at the highest level of the European Commission.

Waweru (2014) argued that sound standard governance might be a requirement for profitable business. According to Adams (2012), financial disaster emanated from the United States, despite the U.S. being judged a good example in respect of established stability and governance. Igbatayo (2011) indicated the financial crisis advanced from the United Stated to other nations, both developed and emerging countries.

Larcker and Tayan (2011) noted that debate on corporate governance misconduct evolved when Enron, WorldCom, and Tyco collapsed in 2001-2002 and when the financial catastrophe of Bear Stearns, Lehman, AIG, and others in 2008-2009 revealed self-seeking and dishonesty that provoked the collapse of major U.S. organizations. Angelides and Thomas (2011) argued that the financial crisis of the United States stemmed from human exploitation and inactivity, not because of natural causes or a technology failure. Angelides and Thomas noted the chief executives and regulators

neglected alerts, refused to question, and did not manage emerging risks within the system.

Shachmurove (2011) stated that the financial system arrangement aggravated the bubble with overly leveraged organizations that frequently had agents investing funds with excessive risk. Angelides and Thomas (2011) attributed the failure to hazardous subprime lending and securitization, erratic increases in housing prices, and risky lending practices. In short, Angelis and Thomas concluded that poor corporate governance and faulty risk management caused the financial crisis in the United States. Most organizations behaved carelessly, took excessive risk with little capital at their disposal, and relied on short-term funding. The vulnerabilities appeared connected to a collapse of corporate governance and regulation (Angelides et al., 2011). Angelides and Thomas also noted that, as much as organizations pursue profit, fair dealing, responsibility and transparency should be the guide for safe and sustained financial systems.

Angelides and Thomas (2011) reported that the effects of the financial misconduct destroyed the faith of shareholders, businesses, and the public in the financial industry. Angelides and Thomas noted the U.S. financial system collapsed because of human behavior, both those of individuals and society, indicating such moral defects as selfishness and self-conceit. Adeyemi (2011) argued that the global financial crisis of 2007 also affected banks in Nigeria, not because of their direct participation in the world financial market but because of deep-rooted poor corporate governance practices and a lack of an effective risk-management system.

Adams (2012) cited the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development Steering Group on Corporate Governance asserted that poor corporate governance caused the financial failure in the United States. Sanusi (2012) noted that the financial crisis in the United States predated over 100 instances, of which 75% seemed caused by capital market or affected the capital market. Sanusi also asserted the financial crisis in Nigeria greatly affected the capital market. The financial crisis of the United States resembled the Nigerian banking sector, with its evidence of misconduct among corporate financial leaders, excessive risk-taking, erosion of shareholder wealth, and disastrous effects on the economy. Corporate governance issues in both Nigeria and the United States exploded because of managerial self-interest, which became evident in their lending practices and negligence of regulations to govern their banks appropriately. Ogujiuba and Obiechina (2011) argued that financial innovations, such as leveraging, substitutes, and sub-prime lending, became so highly sophisticated that investors could not understand them. These tools perpetrated corporate misconduct in the U.S. financial system.

Sanusi (2011) asserted that the rise in capital placed tension on professionalism in the banking industry. This tension led to poor governance and an unacceptable risk-management structure, which resulted in the Nigerian experience of margin loans and risky investment. The prevalence of toxic assets in the banks contributed immensely to the liquidity position of some of the banks. Ogujiuba and Obiechina (2011) noted that Wall Street and chief executives acted carelessly at the expense of the investors, which caused some of the actors to go to jail for their involvement in the financial crisis. The

crisis was also the case in Nigeria, where the government jailed chief executives for their participation and corporate misconduct in the Nigerian banking industry.

Ogujiuba and Obiechina (2011) stated the U.S. stock market collapse expanded the liquidity and credit crisis and affected confidence in the banking sectors and users' interest in the economy. The financial crises of the United States and Nigeria pointed to the attitudes of the corporate financial leaders in managing their various banks. Poor corporate governance and excessive risk taking were detrimental to the shareholders' returns. Corporate financial leaders engaged in unclear investments without adequate information for proper assessment of the banks' portfolios (Ogujiuba et al. 2011). In reviewing the effect of global financial failure on the Nigerian banking sector, Ajao and Festus (2011) noted that Nigeria's money markets relied on dollar funding, withdrawal of credit flow from international banks, the weakening of the bond market, decline in quality credit, and foreign exchange remittances, in addition to various psychological factors.

### **Corporate Governance Issues in the Nigerian Banking Industry**

The Nigerian banking industry witnessed a significant crisis in 2008 that affected investors and the entire nation with the havoc caused by corporate financial leaders' misconduct. Exaggeration of the significance of corporate governance in a developing country such as Nigeria is impossible (Kasum & Etudaiye-Muthar, 2014). Igbatayo (2011) stated that the Nigerian economy proved vulnerable very early in the global economic crisis. Sanusi (2012), the governor of the CBN, reported the Nigerian economy fluctuated and suffered by the financial crisis, which destroyed 70% of the stock market

in 2008-2009. Several banks in Nigeria experienced enormous losses from their exposure to the capital market and the downturn in oil and gas prices. Sanusi identified eight factors that contributed to the crisis in the Nigerian banking industry after consolidation, including: instability caused by high and unexpected capital inflow, lack of corporate governance in the banks, inadequacy in investors and customer communication, lack of disclosure and transparency of the banks' financial status, serious gaps in regulatory frameworks and regulations, an imbalance between supervision and implementation, disorganized governance processes at the CBN, and a poor business environment.

Kasum and Etudaiye-Muthar (2014) explained that corporate governance and agency problems were the primary cause of the financial crisis in Nigeria. The corporate financial leaders involved in unscrupulous and possibly corporate misconduct (Sanusi, 2012). The practice resulted in the self-enrichment of the top executive of the banks to the detriment of the investors and depositors (Kasum & Etudaiye-Muthar, 2014). The managing director had considerable influence on the board of directors, impeding their monitoring role. The executives' immoral practices included the acquisition of private jets; acts of discrimination; amassing total assets worth \$2.7 billion in cash and choice properties, both in Nigeria and abroad; and misrepresentation of balance sheets to deceive the regulators concerning the profits (Kasum & Etudaiye-Muthar, 2014). The activities of the banks executives revealed the agency problem was the primary cause of the crisis because the managers deviated completely from pursuing shareholder interests in pursuit of their interests (Kasum & Etudaiye-Muthar, 2014). Sanusi noted that the corporate financial leaders manipulated stock prices, converted nonperforming loans to commercial

papers, and created an off-balance-sheet item to conceal their losses (Kasum & Etudaiye-Muthar, 2014).

Alao and Raimi (2011) informed that the CBN audited the 24 Nigerian banks in accordance with international rules to discern the financial position and liquidity strength of the banks. The report revealed evasive habits of five banks, including frail internal control, corporate misconduct, and bad management. Alao and Raimi explained that the five banks were filling their financial positions with forged figures, distorted profits declaration, and discrepancies in assets liabilities.

The CBN audited the banks because the remaining loan obtained through the discounted expanded window had an outstanding value of US\$1.72B (Igbatayo, 2011; Sanusi 2011). Igbatayo revealed that the report found an extremely remarkable of non-performing loans connected to poor governance practices. Despite the effects of the financial crisis on some of these banks, other Nigerian banks seemed unaffected; some made significant progress during the financial crisis. Adeleye (2013) noted that the turbulent period gave new opportunities to the First Bank of Nigeria because of the reputation as a trustworthy bank.

The Nigerian case is similar to that of Zambia. Fundanga (2011) explored the failure in the Zambian banking sector and asserted banks failed because of weak governance, resulting in high loan exposure, inadequate lending policies, deficient management, inefficient boards, foreign exchange exposure, inadequate risk management, and the board chairman and managing director being the largest shareholders of the banks (Ikoh et al., 2013). Sanusi (2011) explained that the weaknesses

in the Nigeria banking sector included poor board oversight, weak risk-management practices, insider abuse, conflicts of interest, poor quality disclosure, inept external auditors, and the inadequacy of an independent board of directors.

Fadare (2011) reported that because of illiquidity of the banks, the CBN injected US\$4.1B into 10 banks from August 2009 to December 2009 and removed eight managing directors. Such removal is not new to the Nigerian banking industry because of corporate governance issues. Jimoh and Iyoha (2012) stated that as of 1996, the CBN had removed 178 bank executives and blacklisted 75 other, as reported by the NDIC, because of the collapse of corporate governance.

Aburime, Gannon, and Corrado (2011) found that the CBN removed the CEOs to protect the financial industry from systemic collapse. Aburime et al. stated that the CBN defended the action as legal in accordance with sections 33 and 35 of the Bank and Other Financial Institutions Act (BOFIA). Aburime et al. explained that the Economic and Financial Crime Commission (EFCC) prosecuted some of the bank managers while a number of them forfeited cash and properties worth billions of naira. Aburime et al., the CBN governor even stated that CEOs deserve tying to the stake and shot to death.

The development led to the implementation of several regulations in conjunction with other measures to safeguard and stabilize the soundness of the Nigerian banking industry (Fadare, 2011). Laeven and Valencia (2012), informed, that an asset management company (AMCON) was set-up in 2010 in Nigeria, and by 2011, a substantial non-performing loan moved to the company with total fiscal costs connected with bank restructuring. The primary purpose was for AMCON to soak up the toxic

assets generated by the Nigerian banks, make funds available to them, and help in their capitalization (Sanusi, 2011).

To forestall the continued corporate governance issues in the Nigeria banking sector, the CBN reduced the CEO tenure to 10 years. Aburime et al. (2011) reported the CEO continued tenure in office despite incompetence that eroded shareholders' returns. Aburime et al. asserted that where governance problem prevents an organization from the expected standards of corporate governance such pose a possible risk.

The stock exchange also made efforts to restore shareholders' trust in the capital market, considering the effects of the corporate governance issues on investors. Sanusi (2011) stated the security and commodity stock exchange reformed the 2003 Code of Corporate Governance to address the deficiencies in the current practices, enhance governance, and foster disclosure by publicly quoted organizations. The banks had to use International Financial Reporting Standard commencing January 2012 (Sanusi, 2011).

Lawal (2012) explained that the corporate misconduct globally prompted the regulatory authorities to formulate new legislation and directions known as the Code of Best Practices. Okereke et al. (2011) indicated that the fundamental problem in corporate governance with commercial banks in Nigeria lies in inappropriate management of risks and portfolios, unprincipled reputations, a lack of internal control, and poor professionalism. Okereke et al. stated that promoting good corporate governance is essential to the business performance of the banks. Isaac (2014) asserted that the worry about corporate governance originated from the certainty that sound governance habits by

the banks will yield improved services, strategic management of banks, firm market value, reduced cost of funds, and higher profitability.

Ayandele and Emmanuel (2013) explored corporate governance practices and challenges in Africa. Ayandele and Emmanuel investigated the importance of corporate governance mechanism and regulations and revealed that lack of adherence has affected the implementation of corporate governance, which has failed in Africa. Ayandele et al. noted that Nigerian banks invalidate the fundamental principles of banking, which include control, and accountability crucial to establishing strong shareholder trust in the banking sector. Ayandele et al. observed that corporate governance with a core value of integrity and certainty might enhance competitive advantage in retention of professionals and acceptability in the market.

Using the banking sector as a case study, Roman (2013) examined the nature of regulatory challenges and found that the financial crisis of 2007 raised awareness of the issues of mismanagement, sharp corporate practices, and poor corporate regulation.

Roman noted that the prevalence of self-interest and a practice of greed eroded confidence in the financial market, other corporations, and regulators. Roman insisted that despite the sentence of bank executives, effective monitoring of banks' transparency with respect to corporate financial leaders could have prevented the destruction of the market. Roman found that the unpleasant habits in the financial market went undiscovered because of minimum regulation until the public outcry.

Grosse (2012) noted that internal governance, which drives better risk management, is essential to the banking industry. Although governance may be firm,

holding erring managers liable for their risk-taking attitude is necessary. Grosse advised that regulators could address poor management of the banking system with policies that align appropriately with established practices in the financial industry. Grosse noted the security exchange could conduct an independent evaluation of the financial institutions. Regulators might not completely eradicate the destructive practices, but could administer policy to curb the kind of behaviors that led to the 2008-2009 crises (Grosse, 2012). Corporate financial leaders could reduce the information asymmetry and agency problems through disclosure and transparency regarding their business activities and use of investors' funds. In turn, this may yield better financial performance for the organization. Corporate governance issues surfaced in the United States despite regulations protecting investors.

Other parts of the world similarly affected, including Nigeria and in all cases, the issues of poor corporate governance originate from corporate financial leaders. The bank executives made the risky decision of investing shareholders' funds in derivatives that failed; corporate leaders neglected risk-management principles and took loans from the banks they governed. Most of the corporate financial leaders engaged gross financial misconduct that resulted in the collapse of organizations.

Lack of implementation of the code of corporate governance contributed to the collapse because the regulators failed to monitor the banks as expected. Financial crisis regulators need to concentrate on more reforms to the Code of Corporate Governance and to implement these reforms to forestall future collapses in the banking industry because adequate corporate governance leads to enhance financial performance.

## **Corporate Governance and Financial Performance**

The recent poor performance of banks linked to the contravention of several codes of corporate governance (Oghoghomeh & Ogbeta, 2014). The viability of banks is a crucial concern for regulators, and corporate governance efficiency requires regulators to monitor managers' decisions (Leventis & Dimitropoulos, 2012). Fanta, Kemal, and Waka (2013) noted that corporate governance is essential because of the separation of ownership and control in publicly held organizations.

In accordance with agency theory, Valenti, Luce, and Mayfield (2011) asserted that good governance policies are crucial to high performance. If an organization considers protecting the interest of the investors, organization can channel its resources appropriately to reduce waste and boost profitability, resulting in a better return to the shareholders. Fanta, Kemal, and Waka (2013) stated that good corporate governance enhances economic performance, stimulates growth, and strengthens shareholder confidence. Oghoghomeh and Ogbeta (2014) noted that good governance and solid ethical conduct improves banking performance because governance safeguards the stability of the economy and promises a higher realization of corporate objectives.

Kasum and Etudaiye-Muthar (2014) noted the main concern of corporate governance is ensuring that manager will apply the organization's resources in the interest of the investors to resolve agent-principal problems. Mishra and Monhanty (2014) observed a properly governed organization has the prospect of raising funds from a financial institution at a more reasonable rate than a poorly governed organization does. Mishra and Mohanty predicted investors would advance towards investment in a firm

with lower cost of capital because of its higher enterprising worth and stock cost for a particular cash flow estimate.

Shareholders may be willing to pay extra for a properly governed organization (Mishra & Monhanty, 2014; Agrawal & Knoeber, 2013). Waweru (2014) indicated organizations with enhanced financial performance have the wealth that improves their capability to adhere to the expectations of the corporate governance code, which would improve corporate governance. Doucouliagos, Haman, and Stanley (2012) stated that compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance in ensuring long-term sustainability of the business, as suggested by the Cadbury Committee in the United Kingdom, would improve an organization's performance. Mishra and Mohanty revealed that an organization with strong corporate governance would be more likely to report exceptional financial performance than an organization with poor management.

Leventis and Dimitripoulos (2012) examined the role of corporate governance in earning manipulation in the United States and noted corporate governance systems affect risk and returns for an organization. Leventis and Dimistripolous suggested that appropriate corporate governance would reduce agency conflict and assist shareholders in making adequate investment decisions. Rachid and Ameur (2011) showed that bank board attributes and formation often could have a critical role in bank performance and bank risk taking.

Siagian, Siregar, and Rahadian (2013) examined corporate governance and accounting reporting as related to a firm's value. Siagian et al. noted that corporate governance benefits investors. Siagian et al. explained that transparency and disclosure

reduce the agency problem between investors and managers, resulting in less risk and better profit for the organization. Siagian et al. found that organizations that implement superior corporate governance have a higher profit. Ibrahim (2013) observed that corporate governance improves the quality of the financial report and is a deciding factor for investment decisions.

Mohammed (2012) examined the effect of corporate governance on bank performance in Nigeria, using 25 banks in Nigeria as the population for the study. Mohammed revealed the increase in non-performing loans indicated poor governance quality in the Nigerian banking industry. According to Mohammed, to achieve adequate compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance and to enhance performance, calls for greater effort.

Ajibo (2015) noted the collapse of the Nigerian banking industry involved excessive risk taking, bad governance, and corporate financial misconduct. To curb the governance issues and excessive risk taking, Ajibo advocated adherence to best practices for adequate risk management in Nigerian banks. Nyor and Mejabi (2013) addressed corporate governance and financial performance from the point of non-performing loans because of bad governance and corporate financial misconduct. Nyor and Mejabi concluded that adherence to corporate governance principles would curb corporate financial misconduct and openness in financial transactions to enhance corporate performance.

Akingunola, Adekunle, and Adedipe (2013) examined how corporate governance affects bank performance using 24 banks in Nigeria. Akingunola et al. revealed that the

attitude management displayed in business practices reflects on banks' performance.

Optimum attitudes include clarity, integrity, dispassion, reliability, and responsibility

(Akingunola et al., 2013)

Onakoya, Fasanya, and Ofoegbu (2014) examined the effect of corporate governance on the performance using 24 Nigerian banks as a case study. Onakoya et al. found that corporate performance is an essential idea related to the process and manner by which an organization uses available resources to achieve its corporate objectives. Onakoya et al. explained the general effect of sound corporate governance should be enhanced shareholder confidence in Nigeria.

Onakoya et al. (2014) maintained that corporate governance should involve establishing integrity, ensuring transparency, and cultivating responsibility. These factors contribute to a functional method of information disclosure that promotes good corporate performance. Onakoya et al. found that poor corporate governance affected banks' performance adversely. Furthermore, because of the severe effect of poor governance, Onakoya et al. advised bank managers and board members to undertake strategic guidance or to enhance processes that promote good corporate governance and banking ethics

#### **Overview of Code of Corporate Governance Regulating Nigerian Banks**

Adherence to sound corporate governance system brings favorable outcomes that will lessen problems associated with agency, reduce corporate governance issues, and improve the financial performance of banks. The two major codes of corporate governance regulator used in regulating the Nigerian banking industry are the SEC Code

of Corporate Governance of 2003, as amended in 2011, and the CBN Code of Corporate Governance of 2006. The SEC, CBN, and NDIC regulate corporate governance issues in Nigeria for most publicly quoted firms, banks, and related industries (Akinkoye & Olasanmi, 2014).

Ofo (2011) reviewed the draft of the amended copy of the SEC Code of Corporate Governance in Nigeria. Ofo stated that the importance of having an efficient code of corporate governance in Nigeria cannot be over stressed and claimed that the financial misconduct in the Nigerian banking sector are explicit evidence of a breakdown of corporate governance practice in the banks and its implementation by regulators. Ofo indicated the new code is the most detailed code of corporate governance in Nigeria and found the new code drew best practices from different countries to rectify the previous problems caused in Nigeria. Chirtareas, Girardone, and Ventouri (2013) noted that a government that formulates and implements sound policies and higher quality governance will improve bank efficiency.

Jimoh and Iyoha (2012) suggested, that the CBN circulated a code of conduct to the chief executive of banks and financial institution in 2006, apart from the initial Code of Corporate Governance previously issued in 2003. Jimoh and Iyoha indicated the banks meant to comply with the requirements of the code, and further confirmed that the codes contained the world's best practices and noted that compliance with the requirements was compulsory. Jimoh and Iyoha indicated the issue of corporate governance exposed a high degree of unethical habits and corporate misconduct practices in the banking sector, and

further warned that corporate governance alone is not sufficient to ensure quality and transparency in the banking industry.

Akinkoye and Olasanmi (2014) examined corporate governance practices and levels of compliance among organizations in Nigeria. Akinkoye and Olasanmi stressed the importance of banks' aligning with international best practices and observed that good governance results in regulatory authorities issuing and endorsing the code of best practices for Nigerian companies. Adewuyi and Olowookere (2013) reviewed the new corporate code and immediate performance change of the Nigerian organizations.

Adewuyi and Olowookere (2013) noted that different scholars have compared the code of corporate governance of such countries as Britain, Germany, Spain, and Portugal to confirm if conformity to corporate governance related to enhance organizational performance. Salterio, Conrod, and Schmidt (2013) also noted high compliance with the code of corporate governance in Canada. Adewuyi and Olowookere stated that code of governance is essential to determine the level of compliance with corporate governance and its impact on organizations performance.

Adewuyi and Olowookere (2013) also noted the quest to ensure compliance with international best practices drove the SEC and the CAC to reform the code to enhance Nigeria's corporate governance practices. Biobele et al. (2013) asserted, with the embracement of international best practices, the CBN and SEC should sanction erring managers who fail to comply with the code of corporate governance. The outcry for appropriate corporate governance disclosure needs serious attention in Nigeria (Biobele et al., 2013).

Despite the financial crisis in the Nigerian banking industry, not all banks have suffered from poor corporate governance, for example, the First Bank of Nigeria (FBN) and the GTbank. According to FBN Holdings (2012), having survived several banking crises in Nigeria with no effect on the bank from its inception is a point of pride and testifies to the bank's absolute compliance with the corporate governance of the banking sectors regulated by the CBN and other related regulatory authorities.

### The Code of Corporate Governance in Nigeria

The code of corporate governance in Nigeria inherently connotes and acknowledges the board is answerable for the organization in a legal and adequate manner and must safeguard the organization by continually developing its value as much as possible (Adewuyi & Olowookere, 2013). The code states that the board should comprise of both executive and non-executive members, with the Chairman as the overall supervisor (Adewuyi & Olowookere, 2013). The provisions of the code of corporate governance further stipulates that the roles of the chairman and chief executive should be divided between different persons while a nonexecutive director should be independent of the business and not subject to any interference to be able to make independent judgments concerning the organization (Adewuyi & Olowookere, (2013).

Nordberg and McNulty (2013) however suggested that practical studies have indicated boards usually lack the capability to govern chief executives and might be weak and inefficient. Nordberg and McNulty observed that boards are strong only when an independent non-executive director promotes accountability by adopting individual and concerted attitudes that both challenge and encourage executives. Nonexecutive directors

who exercise their independence and conduct themselves with noble character can strengthen higher accountability to investors (Nordberg & McNulty, 2013).

Adewuyi and Olowookere (2013) noted the code emphasizes the significance of holding frequent board meetings, at least once a quarter, with enough notice to allow investors to contribute purposely at the annual general meeting. This scheduling for meeting may foster effective control and monitoring of the business. Investors with more than 20% holding in a company must have a representative on the board while minority investors are permitted to have a least one director on the board (Adewuyi & Olowookere, 2013). Shareholders with the most shares, in addition, are encouraged to participate in the process of corporate governance to maximize shareholders' wealth (Adewuyi & Olowookere, 2013). The code of corporate governance proposes a committee to oversee remuneration of the directors. The code exempts external auditors from the business of the organization and recommends three non-executive directors form an audit committee to promote transparency (Adewuyi & Olowookere, 2013).

Dembo and Rasarantnam (2014) recommended that Section 34 of the code of corporate governance stipulate some details and issues, which merits reflection in the annual reports of Nigerian companies. The items include a corporate governance report, risk-management issues, directors' accounts and loans, related parties' transactions, and board reports concerning the compliance level of the organization to SEC 2011 codes. The code indicates the board should use great prudence in revealing issues not related or stated in the code that could possibly affect the financial position of the business.

Adewuyi and Olowookere (2013) indicated the only difference between the codes of the SEC and the CBN is the sanction of erring banks in the CBN codes of 2006. The CBN regulates the banks solely while SEC regulates all registered companies in Nigeria. Dembo and Rasarantnam (2014) noted the code strengthens corporate governance practices and exposure by protecting shareholders' interests.

Guo, Smallman, and Radford (2013) explained that the board of directors plays a significant role in corporate governance and is answerable for monitoring and guiding the managers on behalf of the investors. The board of directors serves as a mechanism by which investors can influence managers' attitudes, so the board aligns with the organization's interests and shareholders' values (Guo et al., 2013). The board's monitoring role ensures scrutiny of management for destructive behavior while its guidance role can be valuable for management in making appropriate decisions for the business.

Agyemang and Castellini (2015) examined corporate governance in an emerging market, using Ghana as a case study. Misconduct and embezzlement in Ghana have required the composition of a committee in corporations to assist boards in achieving their fiduciary obligations. Agyemang and Castellini claimed the presence of an independent board committee would help the board to check the effectiveness of appropriate allocation of the organization's resources, with both internal and external audits revealing possible risks

Oyerinde (2014) noted, in accordance with the code of corporate governance in Nigeria, the audit committee should not be under the influence of the major board, nor

should the committee disrupt and impede executive management. However, Oyerinde also observed that a managing director removed by the CBN and subsequent appointment as a member of the bank's audit committee, threatened the independence of the committee, especially since the committee was responsible for controlling the excesses of the chief executive. Oyerinde noted the committee for Intercontinental Bank and Oceanic Bank worked closely with the managing directors of these organizations, contravening the regulations and revealing a conflict of interests.

Oyerinde (2014) stated that despite the misappropriation of funds and illiquidity in the two banks, the independent auditor failed to show the position of the bank. Instead, the auditor approved their financials as accurate and fair. In addition, the auditor was found to be involved in other financial services for the banks, a situation that contradicts the Code of Corporate Governance (Oyerinde, 2014). The chief executive's influence on the independent audit committee contributed to the corporate governance issues in the Nigerian banking industry and the inability of shareholders to detect the corporate misconduct plaguing the banks.

Teng et al. (2011) found, to strengthen sound corporate governance principles and good practices, tight regulations and active regulators are not enough. There must be integration of a robust culture of virtues, integrity, and good sensibility established on the proposition of trust, responsibility, and candor (Teng et al., 2011). Corporate governance needs further enhancement in Nigeria's banking industry to reach greater compliance with international best practices.

### **Corporate Governance Strategies**

For effective and efficient corporate governance, corporate financial leaders need to embrace compliance and implement the code of corporate governance for enhanced performance and returns to the shareholders. Corporate financial leaders need to demonstrate adequate knowledge, effective strategy, and efficient risk-management approaches for proper governance of the business (Günay & Apak, 2014). Corporate governance means good corporate management (Günay & Apak, 2014). Failures, financial disaster, and advances in organizational performance over the past 3 decades have revealed corporate governance is not an ordinary plan for survival in business; rather, governance is a strategy to develop (Badele & Fundeanu, 2014). Corporate governance enhances organization management by curbing the misconduct of corporate leaders and implementing the means to monitor managers concerning their corporate responsibilities.

Onuoha, Ogbuji, Ameh, and Oregwu (2013) discussed the strategies for improving corporate governance of companies in Nigeria. Onuoha et al. noted the poor governance and misconducts of the corporate leaders of corporate organizations have prompted calls for compliance to a code of corporate governance. Corporate governance is no longer voluntary for corporate leaders but a critical requirement (Wajeeh & Muneeza, 2012). Companies must participate in a model shift from reactive maneuvering and use an efficient, enterprising technique with strategic attention on sustainable improvement (Wajeeh & Muneeza, 2012). Such strategies involve issues of board

governance, professionalism, compliance, corporate culture and ethics, strategic ethical bank leadership, and strategic risk-management objectives.

### **Effective Board Governance**

Onuoha et al. (2013) stated that sound corporate governance depends on an active board practice that protects policies, processes, structures, and resources. In the case of the financial crisis in the banking industry, the boards were possibly ignorant, unenlightened, and noncompliant with regulations (Aburime, Gannon, & Corrado, 2011). Karmadin and Haron (2011) indicated that effective board governance should safeguard investors' wealth maximization, control agency costs, assess the performance of chief executives, and remove such executives when necessary. Because boards have a significant role to play in the agency relationship, they can supervise management on behalf of the shareholders (Sarenz & Abdolmohammad, 2011). Supervision by the board of directors can mitigate the danger of corporate leaders acting in self-interest. Dermine (2013) noted that proper governance of banking supervision should have the objective of sound banking while good governance by the board should concentrate on protecting investors. Nkundabanyanga, Ahiauzu, Sejjaaka, & Ntayi (2013) asserted that transparency in the board minute disclosures to investors is an essential mechanism for aligning investors' and corporate leaders' interests. Htay et al. (2012) noted information disclosure is an important and valuable channel for safeguarding investors.

Kumar and Singh (2013) maintained that external directors are vital to corporate governance mechanisms, especially from the perspective of agency theory in emerging nations. Kumar and Singh found the market appreciates organizations with higher

numbers of independent directors. Kumar and Singh advocated adequate regulations to separate independent boards from management of organizations to protect shareholders' interests. Board members have the mandate and responsibilities to implement actions to protect the organization. Corporate financial leaders should accept and submit to the regulations concerning use of the board for good governance and better performance.

Carreta, Farina, and Schwizer (2012) argued, in light of the recent poor governance of the banks, the boards of directors must strive to exhibit to shareholders' ethics, sincerity, virtue, and clarity. Carreta et al. asserted that in order to accomplish enduring change, banks must reveal decision outcomes to shareholders and make timely adjustments as required. Similarly, Nkundabanyanga et al. (2013) asserted that transparency in the board governance and constructive communication would improve the efficiency of the board. Board governance is a critical mechanism for curbing and monitoring corporate leaders' attitudes (Rachid & Ameur, 2011).

Adams (2012) stated that banks could improve the financial culture of their boards by recruiting experienced and well-educated directors. Doing so would enable the boards to ask thorough questions regarding management activities and to avert future collapses of the banks (Adams, 2012). Tan (2014) understood board responsibility to include formulating strategic objectives, directing corporate values, and intercepting activities that could have adverse effects on the quality of corporate governance, such as corruption, insider abuse, and related parties' transactions.

## **Corporate Culture**

A culture of integrity enhances performance and goes beyond regulations and policies. Amah (2012) asserted a culture of integrity is the only contribution corporate leaders can create in an organization. Amah examined the effects of corporate culture on organizational effectiveness in the Nigerian banking sector and noted that one of the greatest improvements a chief executive can initiate is in the culture he or she can establish. Amah suggested that leaders should intentionally strengthen the corporate culture through consistency in following regulations. Amah noted that consistent adaptation to cultural value of an organization could enhance financial performance and market value.

Chan and Cheung (2012) examined differences in corporate governance in organizations in different countries, using the idea of ethnic sensitivity and explained that implementation of corporate governance could, at times, cause conflicts of interest among directors and investors. For example, a conflict could arise in which directors are reluctant to discipline unproductive leaders because of their close relationship. The continuity of such leaders in the office could severely affect shareholders' interests (Chan & Cheung, 2012).

Chan and Cheung (2012) argued that maintaining good governance is not an easy task; governance entails appropriately structured ethical guidelines, ethical leadership, and integration of ethics into the company's techniques and strategies. Corporate governance requires perseverance, training, and dialog to guide people with a limited

sense of how ethics affects corporate governance. The financial sector needs leaders with high ethical standards and the perseverance to stay on the right track (Vadhar, 2013).

## Strategic Leadership in the Banking Industry

Warburton (2011) investigated whether fiduciary duties affect the behavior of organization insiders. Warburton noted that corporate leaders carry considerable personal responsibility in trust because of various fiduciary standards. Stringent fiduciary obligation could greatly influence an organization (Warburton, 2011). Leadership enhanced fiduciary duty has implications for corporate governance because leaders could increase shareholders' protection, ease agency conflict, and reduce executive risk taking (Warburton, 2011).

Using a qualitative case study, Otusanya, Lauwo, and Ajibolade (2013) examined corporate executive misconduct by Nigerian corporate financial leaders. Otusanya et al. found evidence that Nigerian corporate financial leaders were involved in corporate misconduct practices. The corporate leaders gathered their energy to prevent board control, contravening the Code of Corporate Governance. Otusanya et al. posited that in order to curb corporate leaders' unethical practices, a more thorough approach is needed in Nigerian banks. Nigerian banks must establish compliance with moral practices to protect the industry from corporate financial misconduct; however, such compliance has been limited in development in the current years (Otusanya et al., 2013).

Nwagbara (2012) reviewed the case of the Nigerian banking sector and financial misconduct among corporate financial leaders. Nwagbara found a need to renew the culture of corporate governance crucial to the transformation of the Nigerian banking

industry and suggested better regulatory practices would be ideal to restrain the excesses of the corporate financial leaders. Corporate financial leaders should embrace proper ethical conduct as a strategy for positioning their businesses for better performance and increased returns to the shareholders (Nwagbara, 2012).

Corporate financial leaders should use appropriate risk-management processes to establish and manage present and future risks and improve corporate governance (Onuoha et al., 2013). Cavelaars and Passenier (2012) examined the business model of the prudential supervisor in the banking industry and suggested successful corporate financial leaders are those who recognize and address the risk in the banks. Corporate leaders must know the source of their profit and possible risks in generating the profit. Corporate financial leaders must display professionalism and good corporate governance in their daily business activities for the banks to gain safe, healthy, and competitive advantage in the global market (Sanusi, 2011).

Paulet (2011) explored banking ethics and stated that corporate financial leaders need to focus on ethical behavior in the banking industry as changes in the global business market demands such compliance. Cowton (as cited in Paulet, 2011) noted that regulation is a way of growing and substantiating an ethical practice, but not a substitute for good business practice. Paulet concluded that corporate financial leaders (the agents) should concentrate on ethical practice and their core business (retail banking) instead of the speculative aspects of the business.

### **Internal Control and Mechanism in Banks**

Capriglione and Casalino (2014) argued personal integrity and expertise are crucial in the appointment of corporate financial executives to ensure internal mechanisms function effectively. Hassan et al. (2013) noted that internal governance control might lessen broad of managerial exploit to enhance organizational performance. Aransiola (2013) stated that an organization using good corporate governance as a norm attracts investors' patronage. Atu, Adegbe, and Atu (2013) examined internal control as a possible mechanism for effective corporate governance in Nigeria to combat corporate misconduct in the country. At et al. stated that internal auditing assists corporate governance by assessing a company's code of conduct and ethics guidelines. Regular updates and effective communication in the system may enhance internal control as executives offer feedback. Atu et al. also found internal control facilitates corporate governance among the board of directors. Capriglione and Casalino (2014) stated that corporate financial leaders' compliance with regulation includes supervision of internal control processes, indicating sound and careful management of the banks' risk control and financial regulation. Corporate financial leaders need to own internal control of their organization for effective implementation of corporate governance.

Sarenz et al. (2012) examined the role of internal audits in corporate governance and noted that management and the board should both participate in such audits. Internal control is essential to corporate governance in the banking industry to curb management excesses before they cause bank collapse. Corporate financial leaders' responses to internal control and internal audits will improve corporate governance in their businesses.

# **Bank Compliance with Regulations**

The financial failures and corporate financial misconduct in the banking sector have prompted regulatory action in an attempt to restructure the culture of the corporate leaders. The culture and ethics guiding business activities in the banking sector could facilitate effective compliance, strong performance, and protection of the shareholder. Al Barrak (2011) argued that a culture of compliance could help in curtailing risk.

A culture of compliance extends beyond heeding the Code of Corporate

Governance with its policies and procedures. Culture of compliance involves a

fundamental shift in attitude. Prorokowski and Prorokowski (2014) noted high

expectations regarding compliance allow banks to see compliance operations as a crucial

aspect of their intrinsic and strategic business components.

Chief compliance officers (CCO) in an organization could investigate business activities and detect misconduct, reporting corporate financial activities and lack of compliance to help prevent corporate misconduct. Chinaedu (2011) suggested that the appointment of CCOs in Nigerian banks would help prevent money laundering, and aid in implementing the code of corporate governance, and instill ethical practices in the system. For efficiency and proper outcome in risk presentation and management processes, regulators and financial authorities have asserted that oversight of compliance activities be independent of the business (Prorokowski & Prorokowski, 2014).

A bank's effective communication with regulators can avert sanctions from unintentional noncompliance. Corporate financial leaders would gain substantially when regulations receive adequate attention through internal assessment, and knowledge of the

compliance status would further improve a bank's reputation within the banking industry. Chinaedu (2014) examined corporate governance in Nigerian banking and noted excellence as fundamental to ethics in the banking industry to reveal core values and display banks' positions on the principles of corporate governance. Training corporate leaders and boards would improve their skills and competencies and enhance their knowledge from developed countries to eliminate corporate governance issues in the banking industry.

Sanusi (2012) reported the CBN would not relent in ensuring that banks strictly complied with the Code of Corporate Governance to establish adequate performance in the banking sector. The awareness of the regulations in monitoring the business activities of banks can improve their efficiency and give them competitive advantages in improving their profitability. Some banks may consider compliance a costly venture, but failure to comply can be even more costly, especially if noncompliance leads to future collapse.

Any bank not adhering to required regulations is destined to fail.

Without compliance with regulation, organizations may experience sanctions that may not be in the best interests of the business owners. Any erring corporate financial leaders should receive appropriate sanctioning (Onuoha et al., 2013). The corporate financial leaders should share the compliance culture with employees by communicating the changes in the industry. The banking sector requires effective monitoring to ensure effective corporate governance in the industry. Solid governance structures that reinforce compliance and sanction non-adherence to codes of corporate governance are essential in the banking sector (Mohammed, 2012).

### **Professionalism in the Banking Industry**

Corporate leaders who have ignored professionalism in their business activities have caused corporate financial misconducts that have affected investors and the entire economy in Nigeria. Alberto (2015) stated that unethical behavior in the banking sector has caused billions of dollars in losses, incurred legal battles, harmed organizations' reputations, and created financial vulnerability. Bankers who exhibit professionalism know their job descriptions and responsibilities; affirm the purpose of the organization; and exhibit integrity, sincerity, and proficiency (Alberto, 2015).

Alberto (2015) examined professionalism in the banking sector as an appropriate route to recover from corporate misconducts and explained that ethical leadership and professionalism are integral to a sound banking culture. Some corporate financial leaders lack adequate qualification and do not have any professional background related to proper conduct of the industry. Thomas and Margaret (2014) observed that many Nigerian banks collapsed due to mismanagement of financial transactions by leaders without adequate knowledge or character. The character of business managers is crucial in managing change (Alberto, 2015).

Alberto (2015) suggested that the financial crisis of 2008 revealed an apparent cultural problem in which only bankers with professional ethics remained consistent sometimes even at the expense of their careers. Alberto argued that corporate leaders with tenacity, vigor, and commitment to ethics would enhance their individual reputations along with their organizations' reputation. Corporate leaders must be resilient and be committed to personal values that drive their individual responsibility in the bank. In the

current competitive environment, corporate leaders need adequate training and resources that will enrich their knowledge for maximum gain in the banking industry. Alberto noted, as much as banks are important to the economy, society needs only exceptional banks with reputable professionals. Alberto argued that restoring good governance in the banking sector is the major route to developing a sound business culture.

## Strategic Risk Management

To prevent subsequent collapses of the banking industry, corporate financial leaders must be ready for any eventuality. Corporate leaders must conduct strategic risk management to identify and monitor business trends. Calandro (2015) studied strategic management among leaders and concluded most did not have appropriate techniques to determine and manage the problems encountered in the financial crisis of 2007. Calandro stressed the importance of organization to evaluate risk liability against risk ceiling to have an idea of impending problems associated with limit contravention. Strategic risk management can assist corporate financial leaders in distinguishing and tracing weak signs of unclear threats by using internal data and external channels of information (Calandro, 2015). Successful corporate financial leaders use strategic risk management to achieve their organizational objectives, which include profit maximization.

Murphy (2011) examined the disclosures of 25 banks, focusing on their control centers for risk management. Murphy stated that risk management closely relates to corporate governance and, if properly used, could have prevented the previous collapse in the business and could mitigate future failure. The excessive risk taking in the banking industry resulted from lack of regard for established risk management frameworks. Tan

(2014) noted the strength of banks relies on the ability of corporate financial leaders to determine all inherent risks in the business. Risk management identification will foster corporate governance and improve performance in the banking industry.

Mongiardino and Plath (2010) revealed that risk management in some large banks has improved in light of regulatory policies stemming from the financial crisis. Schmid et al. explored the effect of corporate governance concerning risk-management quality on banks' performance during the bank crisis. Schmid et al. stated banks with chief risk officers reporting directly to boards performed better during the crisis than banks with direct reporting to CEOs. For best practices in risk management in the banking industry, Schmid et al. stressed the importance of having the CEO and the chief risk officer report directly to the board of the bank. The presence of dedicated boards of directors in some banks may reduce possible corporate financial misconduct at the expense of enhanced financial performance.

Zupanovic (2014) examined the concept of risk management and found that all aspects of banking business activities involve risk. Corporate financial leaders must thus establish effective risk management systems to avert adverse consequences for the banks' assets and liabilities. Zupanovic suggested risk management should follow the process of identification, evaluation, regulation, and management. Zupanovic further noted the supervision of risk management should be the responsibility of a competent manager. Finally, Frigo and Anderson (2011) discussed steps to success for organizations that want to enhance their enterprise risk management and noted that corporate leaders and boards of directors of various organizations must challenge each other and their organizations to

excel in strategic risk management. Corporate financial leaders need to follow best practices and ensure open communication of risk factors within and outside their organizations for better performance and eventual good returns for shareholders.

### **Conclusion of the Literature Review**

The focus of this literature review included a critical analysis of important views on corporate governance issues in the banking industry, which have become a major concern to regulators and shareholders. The review encompassed corporate misconduct, and excessive risk taking on the part of many corporate financial leaders. Many Nigerian corporate financial leaders have failed to understand the effects of corporate misconduct on investors' wealth and the implications of their attitudes to society. In the case of the Nigerian banking sector, the agency problem became apparent through the corporate misconduct activities of corporate financial leaders. The corporate misconducts of some of the Nigerian corporate financial leaders led to the removal of eight chief executives and the injection of 620 billion naira, equivalent to \$4 billion, into the affected banks. Garuba, and Otomewo (2015) confirmed that the financial misconducts that occurred worldwide and the current financial crunch in Nigeria are attributable to poor corporate governance.

The scope of the literature review included describing the attributes of the agency theory and the rationale to serve as a theoretical lens in examining the issues of corporate governance in the banking sector. Boards and shareholders faced resistance from corporate leaders who were acting as agents on their behalf. Dawar (2014) noted that the difference among management and investors, as a result of divergence of holding and

power emerged as management turn to expand personal benefit instead of the worth of the organization. The agency conflict between the manager and the shareholders resulted in the problem of corporate governance in the banking sector. However, banks may mitigate issues of corporate governance by appointing professionals as directors and chief executives. Banks may further mitigate the issues by implementing the Code of Corporate Governance set forth by the regulators.

The banking industry although established by an act of legislation in Nigeria and CBN regulations, however does not offer specific criteria for the appointment of directors and chief executives, giving corporate financial leaders the opportunity to manipulate the boards and act in their own interests without regard to regulations and shareholders' value. Because of the flaws in regulations, which resulted in the corporate governance issues in Nigeria, the CBN and the SEC reviewed the Code of Corporate Governance to correct the issues concerning board activities in the banking sector. The CBN also enacted a sanction that made possible removal of erring corporate financial officials as in the new code to ensure the banking industry embraces best practices in its business dealings. Garuba et al., 2015 explained that the concern for quality corporate governance has grown to influence issues in the world economic problems.

This literature review included details on corporate misconduct of the corporate financial leaders and their noncompliance with the rules and regulations binding the industry. However, banks can resolve most of the issues that relate to corporate governance with appropriate board governance. Chhillar & Lellapalli (2015) noted that the primary responsibility of the board of director is supervision, resulting in decrease of

agency expense and settlement of divergence interest in business. Proper board governance may allow board members to question the activities of the corporate leaders to safeguard shareholders' interests and ensure effective performance of the banks.

To ensure implementation of good governance, corporate financial leaders can use strategic risk management for proper identification and monitoring of risk that could affect the organization. Corporate financial leaders' compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance is crucial because noncompliance threatens the reputations and competitive advantages of the banks, both locally and globally. Internal company controls can protect the banks from corporate misconducts and provide adequate monitoring of the business for the maximum benefit of the company.

## **Transition and Summary**

Section 1 began with the background statement, problem statement, purpose statement, nature of the study, and research question. The details in this section included details on the rationale of agency theory as the conceptual framework for this study. Specific detailed provided also related to outlining of discussion of the assumptions, limitations, and delimitations of the study, followed by the definitions of key technical terms.

After these introductory sections, Section 1 continued with a review of the existing literature on corporate governance issues. The literature reviews further expanded several ways in which corporate financial leaders could implement best practices to adhere to good corporate governance for effective performance and strong shareholder returns.

Section 2 included a description of this research project. The description section covered method, design, data collection, and data analysis, among other issues. Finally, in this section, the details included techniques and strategies to ensure the study's reliability, validity, and associated qualities. I discussed the study findings, as well as the application of professional practices, and potential implication for social change in Section 3.

## Section 2: The Project

In this study of corporate governance, I explored the perception of senior leaders in regulatory authorities concerning strategies for implementing of corporate governance to enhance financial performance. In Section 2, the details include the purpose of the proposed study and a description of my role as the researcher. The discussion also encompasses the rationale for the methodology and design, selection of eligible participants, ethical considerations, data collection, and data analysis. The conclusion of this section includes identifying techniques and strategies planned to ensure study dependability, credibility, transferability, and confirmability of the research data.

## **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this multiple qualitative case study was to explore corporate governance strategies Nigerian corporate financial leaders need to ensure regulatory compliance and enhance organizational financial performance. According to Joshua et al. (2013), corporate financial misconduct in banks stemming from noncompliance with corporate governance codes has spawned concerns about the principles of the banking industry. The target population for this study consisted of 10 regulatory and corporate financial leaders of Nigerian recapitalized banks who regulate, supervise, and manage the Nigerian banking industry. The population was appropriate for this study as the accessibility, experiences, and perceptions about corporate governance of these individuals lead to a deeper understanding of the problem (Adegbite, 2012).

The research findings from the current study might contribute to positive social change by allaying the corporate governance concerns of banking customers and society.

The knowledge from the study findings might lead to the formulation of corporate governance strategies for corporate financial leaders to protect depositors and shareholders. The confidence in investments with no fear of misappropriation provides the confidence to investors necessary for engaging in positive social change oriented endeavors and increases business empowerment, and improved quality in service offerings.

#### Role of the Researcher

I served as the primary data collection instrument. The primary role of a qualitative researcher is data collection, data organization, and analysis of data (Collin & Cooper, 2014). In protecting the participant's details, researchers must maintain ethical standards when collecting interview data (Qu & Dumay, 2015). I obtained data in a truthful way and mitigated bias (Chenail, 2011; Smit, 2012). I removed personal bias, collected data from participants in a professional process, and ensured the privacy and confidentiality of the participants.

As a banker with more than 13 years of banking experience, I am familiar with the topic of corporate governance issues and the financial performance of banks. My knowledge of noncompliance with corporate governance in Nigerian banking stems from my current work as a banker in one of Nigeria's deposit money banks. Qualitative researchers commence the study of a phenomenon with their understanding, current theory, personal biases and their assumption on the possible development of role in research (Bluhm, Harman, Lee, & Mitchel, 2011). I expressed the ideas of the participants without bias.

I conducted the study in an ethical manner to align with the Belmont Report protocol, by protecting and ensuring the anonymity and confidentiality of participants. The identities of the participants were kept confidential, and I did not use any name or organizations when presenting findings. According to Bellavance and Alexander (2012), there must be equal treatment of all research participants, following the Belmont principle, which authorizes the use of Institutional Review Boards (IRB). All participants were respected and treated equally in line with the Belmont principles following IRB requirements. I completed the National Institute of Health web-based training course on Protecting Human Research Participants on October 11, 2013, with Certificate Number 1323328. Researchers must respect participants, with no personal exploitation because of their participation in the study (Greaney et al., 2012). In this study, the protocol included obtaining the informed consent from the 10 participants and participants were duly informed of their fundamental rights. Qu and Dumay (2011) noted researcher must assure participants of their right to withdraw from the study at any time or to choose not to respond to any question.

Researcher bias can change the direction or the result of a case study (Yin, 2014). As the sole researcher, I remained unbiased, impartial, and nonjudgmental throughout the research process. In conducting the interviews, I evaluated the process that revealed indepth perspectives of participants. Qu and Dumay (2011) noted that conducting qualitative research interviews demands different skills, such as attentive listening, recording details, diligent planning, and making adequate arrangement. During the semistructured face-to-face interviews, I did not restrict or influence participants while

responding to the questions. I maintained professional presence and an open mind throughout the research process. Revealing my assumptions and attitude for the awareness of my audience was essential for me in this study. In this manner, I mitigated the effect of researcher bias on the collection and interpretation of results.

The role of a researcher in a case study includes designing the interview questions and conducting interviews (Barratt, Choi, & Li, 2011). According to Bansal and Corley (2012), the signature of qualitative research is the solid grounding in the phenomenon; investigators are obliged to describe what they will bring to the body of knowledge. A researcher's role in a qualitative case study is to develop in-depth descriptions and conduct detailed analysis of the individual lived experiences (Marshall & Rossman, 2011). In this study, I explored the strategies corporate financial leaders need to reduce noncompliance and enhance financial performance; I obtained a rich detailed explanation from each participant to expound the topic of study.

I ensured personal actions were ethical in conducting the interviews, analyzing documents, and identifying themes. Researchers analyze data from interviews with frequent threads to identify themes that will emerge (Neuman, 2011). As a case study researcher, I collected, and analyzed the data using the process of coding and compressing the codes along with archival documents to generate the emerging themes to form the research.

### **Participants**

The target participants for this study consisted of regulatory senior executives and corporate financial leaders representing the Nigerian banking industry. The selection of

secondary data for triangulation of study results included public banking industry reports and corporate governance codes, which is the documentation on regulatory roles for ensuring compliance standards and mandates. The CBN has the power under Nigeria law to ensure monetary stability and an effective financial system (Ajibo, 2015). The participants for the study comprised of senior executives from financial regulatory agencies, with key involvement in regulating the Nigerian banking industry and corporate financial leaders. The issue of corporate governance and strategies for implementation requires knowledge of highly skilled specialists in this area (Othman & Rahman, 2014). Adegbite (2012) collected data from corporate governance experts, which included the senior management of regulatory authorities and corporate financial leaders in Nigerian banking sector. Ballaro and O'Neil (2013) asserted that a sample of the population is a selected part that represents the attributes of the whole group. Participants were individuals with real knowledge about corporate governance issues in the Nigerian banking sector and experienced in managing regulatory agencies. Adegbite et al. (2013) noted that governance experts would be in a position to give data comprising a comprehensive explanation of the situations that can provide enhanced details for answering the research question and objectives.

I contacted participants in person to collect their details and then e-mailed the informed consent form, which doubled as the introduction letter and followed by telephone call to confirm the receipt of the email. Participants then signed the informed consent form that I retrieved in person indicating their willingness to participate in the

research. One of the participants noted that the personal meeting is sufficient and so the informed consent form was signed after discussing the details of the study.

Iszatt-White (2011) noted that qualitative researchers affirm the strategy of recruiting participants who meet the purpose of the study. Participants received an e-mail that contained details of the research before gaining individual consent to participate in the study, following Baker and Moore (2015). Cachia and Milward (2011) contacted companies and participants by e-mail, courier, and telephone to participate in semistructured interviews with open-ended questions. Participants received e-mail, telephone calls and contacted personally to participate in the research.

Mcmurdo et al. (2011) stated that contacting participants with a telephone call to determine their willingness to participate in the study would enable a researcher to ascertain participants' consent. Halcomb, Peters, and Davies (2013) approached participants using a phone call to obtain their consent to participate in a qualitative research. Hoas (2011) contacted participants to obtain consent to participate in a qualitative study, using email and telephone. Rowley (2011) explained that using e-mail and telephone is crucial to gaining access to the participant consent in a research.

Meeting face-to-face with participants before the interviews help researchers and participants understand each other to establish a meaningful working relationship (Carenza, 2011). After I had received IRB approval, I contacted the participants individually and through e-mail to explain the focus of the study, measures to ensure confidentiality of participants, and provided details of the consent form and collection process, and address other concerns. According to Chikweche and Fletcher (2012),

meeting face-to-face and sharing of information is crucial to allow a researcher to get hold of the participants. Singh (2014) contacted participants through a face-to-face meeting in a case study research to build trust and discuss the research objective and procedure. Meeting face-to-face with the participants created meaningful working relationships with the experts in the banking industry to gain their insight into the research topic.

The recruitment steps involved sending consent letters through email to each participant after I had received approval from Walden University's IRB. The consent form enabled building trust with the participants (Qu & Dumay, 2011). According to Fein and Kulik (2011), researchers should establish confidence in the participant as a guiding principle in an ethical study. Swauger (2011) stated that establishing a cordial relationship with the participant is critical to achieving the desired goal in qualitative research. A researcher must have adequate understanding of the research objectives, rules and status when building a working rapport with the participants (Swauger, 2011). The research steps entailed building a relationship with the participant through the sharing of the interview procedures and research objectives and maintaining the principles of ethical research.

I requested that the participants participate at a convenient time and environment. According to Qu and Dumay (2011), the environment of an interview and the preference of the participants will cause a different setting for the interview. Building a relationship with the participants after the official review approval of the IRB will ensure a quality research study (Qu & Dumay, 2012). Zuo, Read, Pullen, and Shi (2012) noted

participants represent a critical population for a study because of their expertise. Through the requirements stated by the Walden University IRB, I followed the procedures to ensure adequate ethical protection of the participants. The study participants had full details of their rights as a participant. The participants in this research were experts in the field of banking. I am a professional in the banking industry, and I did not allow bias in the outcome of the interviews.

# **Research Method and Design**

Qualitative methodology gives researchers the processes appropriate to gather the subjective description of a situation or an event from the perspective of participants (Bluhm et al., 2011). The aim of this study was to explore the case deeply to understand the professional perspective on the study. Gathering further information entailed documentation, regulations, policies, and records to supplement the primary data collected through interviews, in an effort to source new information on best practices and perspectives.

### **Research Method**

The research included using a qualitative method to identify the strategies

Nigerian corporate financial leaders need to reduce noncompliance with corporate
governance. The study findings may serve to improve financial performance of the banks,
generate strong shareholders' return, and prevent further financial crisis in the banking
industry. The use of qualitative methods in studying issues of corporate governance has
increased lately (Agyemang & Castellini, 2015).

A qualitative approach reveals the connection between processes (Oyerinde, 2014). The method provides researchers the convenience of using interviews and other adaptable data collection tools to answer unfolding interview questions (Gare & Melin, 2011). Adegbite (2012) suggested that the use of various methods in qualitative research represents researchers' objectives to include diligence, breadth, and depth to the study.

Qualitative methodology has used several methods, such as interviews, observations, and documents to obtain understanding of most vital processes that can make corporate governance effective (Ahrens & Khalifa, 2013). The use of interview questions in this study aided in the exploration of the perspectives of 10 top management personnel regulating and managing the banks in Nigeria (Yin, 2012). A qualitative method concerns the details of events and gathering of in-depth data (Cilesiz, 2011; Gilliangan & Kypri, 2012). For this reason, a qualitative study was appropriate for the study, in contrast to a quantitative method that tests hypotheses.

Quantitative research depends on statistical data like the hypothesis, surveys, questionnaire and structured interview to minimize bias (Kisely & Kendall, 2011). Kisely and Kendall explained that qualitative research depends on emerging data instead of data generated before commencement of a research because the objective of the research is to gain deep-rooted meaning of an occurrence in a particular setting. In quantitative research, a researcher can adopt statistical data on staff turnover in a particular organization (Kisely et al., 2011). A qualitative researcher would prefer to interact with the individual with information on staff turnover in an organization to have a deeper understanding of the situation (Kisely et al., 2011).

A researcher can use both qualitative and quantitative research, which is known as the mixed method. Östlund, Kidd, Wengström, and Rowa-Dewar (2011) stated that researchers identified the combination of quantitative and qualitative as useful to exploit the vigor of quantitative and qualitative method. Östlund et al. explained that the use of qualitative and quantitative methods in research gives preference to one method than the other. Östlund et al. noted that the preference for a qualitative or quantitative method in a mixed method research relied on the objective of the research.

In qualitative and quantitative studies, researcher can use different approaches to answering a research question. The procedure of qualitative data analysis may seem similar to that of a quantitative study (Camfield & Palmer-Jones, 2013; Zivkovic, 2012); but, qualitative methods use open-ended questions and do not test hypotheses. Qualitative methods are adaptable and allow learning as reasonably as possible without being restricted to testing a hypothesis (Bansal & Corley, 2012). For this reason, qualitative method was best for this study.

## Research Design

The research design is a particular strategy for inquiring about a particular topic of study (Singh, 2014). Research designs are plans and procedures for research that comprises decisions from extensive assumptions to comprehensive methods of data collection and analysis (Marshall & Rossman, 2011). The case study approach was more suitable for the proposed research study, over phenomenological, ethnographical, grounded theory, or narrative approaches. The focus was on the strategies needed by corporate financial leaders to implement corporate governance and not individual

experiences of regulatory experts and professionals, so the narrative or phenomenological approach would not be suitable.

The case-study approach is an in-depth study of a particular situation instead of thorough statistical analysis (Petty, Thomson, & Stew, 2012). Njie, Asimiran, and Baki (2012) noted that the focus of a case study is on deepening an understanding of the attributes of a particular organization and the major recognizable characteristics. Case studies investigators can express a complicated view in a peculiar situation and setting (Hortho & Champion, 2011). Researchers can use case study approach as an initiative for the credibility of results appearing from the exploration of a single case study or multiple case studies (Case & Light, 2011). The case study involved investigating a given phenomenon, using comprehensive depiction of the phenomenon, rooted in real-life experience.

A phenomenological design is suitable to investigate participants' individual lived experiences and to acquire knowledge concerning the phenomenon (Finlay, 2012). Petty et al. (2012) stated that phenomenology approach emphasis on individual views on personal experiences by investigating the context of a situation. A phenomenological approach would thus not be appropriate for this study. Finlay asserted that the phenomenological approach highlights a process of generating understanding frequently experienced events as a historical theme in one's life, which the individual can detect in retrospect.

An ethnographic approach would not be suitable for this study because ethnographies investigate shared patterns of behavior, beliefs, and language within a cultural group, which is not the objective of this study (Erlingsson & Brysiewicz, 2012). Researchers use ethnographic design to translate culture and characterize the society and culture (Hubscher-Davidson, 2011). The ethnographic design is an approach to the understanding of social and culture of a different community, organization, or other settings (Landén, 2011).

The grounded theory involves various efforts to collect data to develop theories about an event (Koning & Can-seng, 2013) for this reason the grounded theory approach was not appropriate for this study. A narrative design requires the researcher to invite individuals to gain insight into the stories that have affected their lives. A narrative design involves the study of past events that involves individual stories, which often concerns oppressed society (Marshall & Rossman, 2011), making the design inappropriate for this study.

The case study approach has flexibility that other qualitative research designs, such as grounded and phenomenology, cannot offer (Hyett, Kenny, & Dickson-Swift, 2014). Other qualitative research designs will not offer the flexibility of a case study design. Using phenomenology or grounded theory may not be conducive to the use of multiple data sources from participants (Shover, 2012) to enrich data. Grounded theory design is a design to extend existing theory (Fernandez & Lehman, 2011); so, the design was not appropriate for the current study. Phenomenology design is appropriate to study the lived experiences of individuals as opposed to the perceptions of individuals in a situation. After a careful review of available research designs, a case study approach was appropriate to gain insight into the perceptions of participants regarding corporate

governance strategies corporate financial leaders need to enhance financial performance.

A case study is amenable to triangulating the study results against secondary data from credible sources that relates to the topic under study (Heras-Saizarbitoria, 2011).

A case-study approach encompasses past, present, and future states influencing the situation. The study entailed exploring the corporate governance strategies needed in banking industry to enhance financial performance. Case study encourages the exploration of a particular phenomenon and enables the researcher to investigate events in a given, recent perspective (Yin, 2014). Case study researchers use interviews, documents, observations, and artifacts in research. A case study usually involves various data collection and analysis processes to advance and understand the case determined by the situation and the emergent data (Petty et al., 2012). Yin (2014) noted that case study could be exploratory, explanatory, or descriptive. The research involved the use of an exploratory case study design to understand strategies Nigerian corporate financial leaders need to implement for good corporate governance, to improve financial performance, and to generate impressive shareholders' return. The study did not require testing hypotheses.

A case-study approach, unlike other approaches, typically involves more than one type of data collection method; case-study approach can include review of documents and interviews with those involved in the events (Agyemang & Castellini, 2015; Yin, 2012). The interview process can take various forms. The use of semistructured interviews with open-ended questions was the most appropriate technique for the research to reveal different meanings and perspectives of corporate governance issues and strategies for

implementation. Okpara (2011) used semistructured face-to-face interviews in a qualitative approach to study corporate governance in a developing economy to discover barriers, issues, and implication for firms. Othman and Rahman (2014) used qualitative method to explore the attributes of ethical leadership in leading good governance.

A case-study design involves the investigation and inquiry into a single case or multiple cases with the intent of capturing the issues that are the focus of the study and establishing validity of findings from the cases (Case & Light, 2011). A case-study design presents an opportunity for participants to demonstrate their real and practical understanding in response to interview questions by offering a deeply rooted explanation of their lived experience (Yin, 2014). A case-study design provides researchers with the opportunity to use multiple data sources for the purpose of triangulation. Yin (2011) suggested triangulation as one of the benefits of case study design. The case-study design needs triangulation for interpreting intensely complex data (Crowe et al., 2011; Marshall & Rossman, 2011). The qualitative case study facilitates the rigorous exploration of the phenomena because the researcher engages in an in-depth study and uses multiple sources to understand the case.

Data saturation will occur when no new information emerges from the participants (Houghton, Casey, Shaw, & Murphy, 2013). O'Reilly and Parker (2012) noted that information from the participants will determine achieving satisfactory data saturation, to represent the point when further interviews do not yield new information. In exploratory case study research, data saturation occurs from consistent information from the response to the research question (O'Reilly & Parker, 2012). Data saturation for this

research occurred at the point when participants had no new themes to discuss concerning the research questions.

## **Population and Sampling**

I used purposive sampling to recruit participants with adequate knowledge and expertise. Purposive sampling is a method by which samples collected include particular groups or areas of a population (Moss, Short, Payne, & Lumpkin, 2011). Alleyne, Weekes-Marshall, and Broome (2014) used purposive sampling to recruit regulatory experts and accountants to gain their perception about corporate governance in a public limited organization. The rationale for using purposive sample method stemmed from the need for using only potential participants with specific knowledge about corporate governance issues (Adewunmi, Omirin, & Koleoso, 2012). Yin (2014) noted that where the goal of a research is to extract deep-rooted knowledge of the participants about a phenomenon then, purposeful sampling is appropriate to gain in-depth information for the study.

In this qualitative research, a multiple case study design served to explore the strategies to implement corporate governance and enhance financial performance in the banking industry. The sample population for the study had deep-rooted understanding of corporate governance issues in Nigeria. According to Ajibo (2015), the central bank has the supervisory and regulating authority over all the banks in Nigeria as detailed in the Bank and Other Financial Institutions Act (BOFIA) of 1991. Carenza (2011) noted that sample selection represented a significant part of research strategies. According to Neuman (2011), to give rich perceptive details of a situation, case study design depends

mainly on a small, purposefully selected sample. The objective of the study was to collect data from documents and participants with specific understanding of corporate governance issues in business and management of banks in Nigeria. The use of top management of regulatory authorities as a purposive sample, along with using related documents, such as reports of the banks, often provides sufficient information to achieve data saturation (Adegbite, 2012).

Iszatt-White (2011) indicated that the sample size in a case study should not exceed 10 participants. The study entailed interviews of 10 participants to collect data. According to Dworkin (2012), in a qualitative research, the sample size expected to reach data saturation ranges between five and 50. Rao (2012) stated that the objective of selecting sample size is to determine the suitable number of participants for the research design.

To achieve data saturation, the sample should consist of participants with the knowledge to respond to the questions (O'Reilly & Parker, 2012). Suri (2011) stated data saturation relies on the type of the data source and integration of the research questions. Data saturation occurs at the point when additional collection of data contributes few themes, deep, viewpoint, or data in a qualitative study fusion (Suri, 2011). To achieve data saturation, interviews of 10 participants helped to gain extensive details of corporate governance strategies needed by corporate financial leader to enhance organizational financial performance. The small sample size provided detailed information to achieve the research objective. I obtained data by conducting semistructured interviews with 10

participants in an appropriate, convenient setting and reached data saturation at 10. The semistructured interviews took place on site.

In this study, the case study design included collection of data from documents and participants' perceptions as regulators and corporate financial leaders of Nigeria commercial banks. The deposit money banks in Nigeria are under the supervision of regulatory agencies and corporate financial leaders as chief executives. The participants included 10 senior management personnel of regulatory authorities and corporate financial leaders, experts and professionals in managing banks in Nigeria. According to Marshall and Rossman (2011), a qualitative researcher should select the research participant that best suits the objective of the research; such as, understanding of the research problem or exploration of various perceptions. According to Elo et al (2014), the understanding and expertise to respond to interview questions should be included in the requirement for involvement in a qualitative research. The prerequisites and the planning of conducting a qualitative research may restrict access to possible participants (Elo et al., 2014). The participant of this study involves senior regulatory executives and corporate financial leaders who were currently supervising and managing Nigerian banking industry.

### **Ethical Research**

Ethical research practices are essential to ensure participation, trust, and cooperation from participants and to establish the integrity of the study (Kisely & Kendall, 2011). Walden University requires all doctoral students to obtain approval for their proposals from the University's IRB before collection and analysis of data. The

responsibility of the IRB is to ensure that research proposals meet adequate criteria and standards of relevant law and institutional regulations and practices (Szanton, Taylor, & Terhaar, 2013; Tsurukiri, Mishima, & Ohma, 2013). For ethical protection of the study participants, I sought the approval of the Walden University IRB prior to commencement of the research. The approval number for this study is 10-26-15-0441755.

Participants of this research received access to details about the consent form (Appendix A). Participants also received information about the research direction, risks involved in participating, expectations, gains, their rights concerning willingness to participate, and confidentiality. I sent the informed consent through email to the participant and also in person during the interview. Qu et al. (2012) stated that investigators require participants consent to be part of the research. Cook and Hoas (2011) noted that participant must have access to information to understand the research techniques, the risk involved, and that consent must be in agreement with the willingness of the participants.

Researchers use informed consent as key ethical standard to regulate participant participation in research (Lambert & Glacken, 2011). Study participants signed the informed consent form to show their voluntary intent and willingness to take part in the study (Appendix A). The purpose of informed consent is to ensure that participants agree to participate willingly (Zuo et al., 2011). Study participants received the informed consent form, which doubled as a letter of introduction in the research along with the attached copy of the consent form through e-mail (Appendix B) to enable asking any questions before the study and understand the process of the research.

I informed the participants in this doctoral study of their right to withdraw from the study before or during the interviews either by writing or through verbal communication. Van Lith, Fenner, and Schofield (2011) noted that participants have the freedom to ask questions prior to the interviews, confirm their anonymity, and have the right to withdraw from the research. I did not offer incentives to the participants.

A researcher has two vital tasks in ensuring ethical standards in the research development. Aluwihare-Samaranayake (2012) stated that researchers must regularly review their research and incorporate thorough ethical practices to protect the principles of autonomy, confidentiality, respect, beneficence, maleficence, and justice. Aluwihare-Samaranayake also noted that researchers need intelligent and rigorous review to indicate thorough development and use of ethical standards, validated by approval of IRB. I constantly reviewed the ethical practices to protect the principle of autonomy, confidentiality, respect, beneficence, maleficence and justice guiding the research. As a researcher, I worked to ensure the confidentiality of participants as a vital guide in ethical research (Fein & Kulik, 2011).

I adhered strictly to ethical standards and conduct regarding the protection of the participants to reduce possible risk. Paly and Lowman (2012) noted that the researcher must safeguard the privacy of the participants in research. Paying close attention to ethical conduct in the study enabled instituting appropriate measures to ensure participant privacy, addressing concerns, developing trust, and the assuring confidentiality of views expressed in the research. Participants had access to details of the ethical standard for this study through the consent form (Appendix A).

The safeguarding of data included storage in a repository for 5 years to safeguard participants' rights and privacy and after that deletion of text data and incineration of hard copy by incineration to ensure protection of participant anonymity. Hoile, Banos, Colella, and Roux (2011) recommended the use of Cyber Shredder software product to destroy electronic data. The identity of participants remained private and confidential in this study. To assure privacy and confidentiality, I concealed the names of the participants to maintain confidentiality. I labeled the participants as *P1* to *P10* to ensure confidentiality and privacy. I stored signed informed consent forms and interviews recorded in a locked storage on a password- protected flash drive. To protect the confidentiality of the participants, I would store the password protected flash drive for 5 years. After 5 years, I will destroy all consent forms, interviews recording, and transcripts by wiping and burning the password protected flash drive.

### **Data Collection Instruments**

I was the main instrument of data collection in this research. Where the researcher is the main instrument in research, the researcher competencies, and experience improves the qualitative research outcomes (Sergi & Hallin, 2011). Kisely and Kedall (2011) asserted that researchers use interview as a data collection instruments. Hanson, Balmer, and Giardino (2011) stated that researchers gather data from information, perceptions, and interviews through video or audiotape to gain insight into a phenomenon and the environment. The research instruments for this study included the researcher, semistructured interviews with open-ended questions and other archival documents.

Semistructured interview requires the development of questions from established themes prepared to extract in-depth insight of the participant concerning perception on a phenomenon (Qu & Dumay, 2011). The use of semistructured interview with open-ended questions for this study was the data collection approach to capture the opinions of participants on corporate governance strategies Nigerian corporate financial leaders need to improve financial performance. Semistructured interviews facilitate in-depth responses by participants to research questions (Qu & Dumay, 2011). The main approach in a qualitative study is the use of semistructured interviews through the utilization of organized and unorganized explorations to facilitate in-depth insight from the participants on the research topic (Qu & Dumay, 2011).

For this study, I conducted semistructured interviews with open-ended questions on site to provide an environment conducive for participants' to comfortably describe individual experiences as regulators and corporate financial leaders. Trangkanont and Charoenngam (2014) used semistructured interviews to capture the perception of participants on what and how risk delay project output, results, and business performance. Silic and Back (2013) used semistructured interviews with open-ended questions on security experts, along with archival documents on information management, to develop a deep-rooted understanding of information governance in an organization.

Walker and Jones (2012) conducted semistructured face-to-face interviews with open-ended questions with senior management and purchasing specialists to explore factors that influence sustainable supply-chain management and future best practices.

Christopher, Mena, Khan, and Yurt (2011) used semistructured interviews with openended questions to gain in-depth understanding of how managers assess global sourcing
risks across the entire supply chain. The use of semistructured interviews with openended questions in this study provided the opportunity to elicit detailed information about
corporate governance strategies. The use of multiple sources of data collection is vital to
confirm triangulation of data (Rohrbeck & Gemünden 2015). I used multiple sources of
data collection approach for this study for triangulation of data. The data collection plans
involved using semistructured interviews to collect information about participants'
perception and in-depth understanding of corporate governance strategies in Nigerian
banking industry and request for documents relating to the topic of discussion. Adegbite
(2012) triangulated data by collecting secondary data along with semistructured
interviews details in a corporate governance study in Nigeria.

In this study, I collected code of corporate governance, financial reports, and other archival documents related to corporate governance from top regulatory leaders and corporate financial leaders, which I triangulated with semistructured interviews data.

Documents used for corporate governance research includes regulations, policies, financial reports, and other documents related to the study (Adegbite, 2012; Agyemang & Castellini, 2015; Yin, 2014). Using different sources of archival documents in this study was suitable for triangulating data to give in-depth details on the research topic. The use of various archival documents is appropriate for triangulating data to provide in-depth detail on the topic of study (Sargeant, 2012). Triangulation of data sources allowed me to analyze participants' responses adequately and detect possible contradictions. Bommel

(2014) noted that triangulation of data sources enables a researcher to analyze participants' responses appropriately and identify potential differences in the data available.

In a qualitative study, interview methods involve interviewing participants and translating the responses (Qu & Dumay, 2011). In the development of semistructured interviews with open-ended questions, the efforts made help to minimize, reduce, and eliminate any form of bias likely to emerge (Cachia & Millward, 2011; Yin, 2014). The participants responded to the semistructured interviews with open-ended questions. Yin (2012) stated that to gain in-depth understanding and explanation of an event, data collected through interviews, records, and observations is appropriate in a qualitative research.

Interviews are widely used in qualitative research (Petty et al., 2012). Using various methods such as interviews and documents, including annual and governance reports, facilitated the ability of participants to provide valued insights into the situation of corporate governance in the Nigerian banking industry (Adegbite, 2012). Yin (2012) recommended triangulation of documents and interviews to establish validity and reliability of the results. Bogers (2011) used such documents as annual reports and corporate and technical journals to collect data for triangulation with semistructured interview data.

In this study, I used methodological triangulation to serve to ensure validity and reliability. Hanson et al., (2011) stated that the process of ensuring reliability in a qualitative research includes the use of various sources of data known as triangulation

method. Methodological triangulation includes the use of several sources to explore an event or a situation (Spadafino et al., 2016). I used methodological triangulation to improve the reliability and validity of research outcomes from the semistructured interview and archival documents related to the study. White, Parry, and Puckering (2016) used methodological triangulation to enhance the reliability of the outcome of their research on information knowledge acquisition in the information system. Adegbite (2012) employed methodological triangulation in the study of corporate governance regulation in Nigeria for reliability, validity and possible acceptance of the research outcomes. I employed methodological triangulation through the use of multiple sources, which includes semistructured interviews with open-ended questions, code of corporate governance, financial reports and other archival documents to improve the reliability and validity of the research. Researchers can use multiple sources of data in a process known as triangulation, to enhance the reliability and validity of qualitative studies (Bekhet & Zauszniewski, 2012; Wang et al., 2011).

Hanson et al. (2011) indicated that the process of ensuring reliability in a qualitative research includes sharing of the emerging themes and interview outcomes with the participant known as member checking. To improve the reliability and validity of this research, I sent the emerging themes generated from the data, my interpretations of the data, and conclusion to all the participants for the credibility of the findings for comparison to their responses. Houghton et al. (2013) stated that member checking should take place after the analysis of the interview instead of after coding to enable participant identify their own words. I allowed the participant to have access to the

research analysis from the interview process before coding and shared the themes and conclusion generated from the data collected after coding for reliability and validity of the research findings. Conducting member checking with the participants gives an opportunity to share the outcomes, improving credibility and participant participation (Harvey, 2012).

Qualitative researchers use an interview protocol as a planning process in conducting research. Interview protocol includes the use of the same semistructured interview with open-ended research questions and guidelines for all participants (Sooniste, Granhag, Stromwall & Vrij, 2015). In this study, preparation of an interview protocol consisted of semistructured interviews with open-ended research questions, a log to detail the interview procedures to safeguards and prevent losing important data. The preparation of an interview protocol was necessary for the analyses of data regarding the research objective, accuracy, and uniformity in data collection. In studying the staff perceptions on patient motives for attending GP-led, Greenfield et al., (2016) developed an interview protocol consisting of semistructured interviews with open-ended questions to safeguard the reliability of the research by ensuring uniformity in data collection. Van den Sanden (2015) adopted an interview protocol that consisted of semistructured interview with open-ended questions to guide the interviews by ensuring consistency, reliability and validity of the data collected from the research. I adopted an interview protocol by using a semistructured interview with open-ended questions to ensure consistency in the interview with the participant for reliability and validity of the data collected from their responses. Appendix C: Interview protocol.

#### **Data Collection Technique**

The data collection technique for this study included interviews with 10 senior managers of regulatory authorities and corporate financial leaders, and review of documents on corporate governance issues in the Nigerian banking industry. I used semistructured interview with open-ended questions to explore corporate governance strategies corporate financial leaders need to enhance financial performance. I conducted 10 face-to-face semistructured interviews with open-ended questions with senior management of regulatory authority and corporate financial leaders who have 10 years of banking experience. I recorded the interviews, listened to the recordings and transcribed data to capture the responses of the participants' accurately. In this study, I documented my encounter with each participant's and the data collected after the interviews.

Recorded interview were transferred to my protected computer and stored data in password-protected folder. I also stored the recorded data in a flash drive and locked in a box for adequate protection.

The use of semistructured interviews with opened-ended questions was appropriate for data collection in this qualitative study. Haak-Saheem and Darwish (2014) used semistructured interview and documents to gain in-depth understanding of manager in the role of knowledge management in creating culture learning. Haak-Saheem et al. adopted the use of the interview and documents as quality control of information from the experts and documents to prevent bias. Adegbite (2012) used interviews and documents in the study of corporate governance in Nigeria. The primary data collection

for this study consisted of review of documents and use of semistructured interviews on regulatory leaders and corporate financial leaders in this study of corporate governance.

Collecting data from documents involves gathering information from publications, reports, and other such documents solicited from study participants (Felder & Barker, 2013; Marshall & Rossman, 2011; Yin, 2014). I requested in advance for participants to bring relevant documents during the interviews, which aided in triangulating the interview data with various current documents from banks and the regulatory authorities to enhance the reliability of the data. Researchers use semistructured interviews frequently because semistructured is methodical and appropriate means of collecting information (Orobia, Byabashaija, Munene, Sejjaaka & Musinguzi, 2013). Semistructured interview is often used because of its effectiveness to gain in-depth insight in context and describe researchers experience of the research topic (Doody and Noonan, 2013). The use of different sources, known as triangulation, may remove possible biases arising from interviewees' or the researchers own experiences (Trangkanont & Charoenngam, 2014).

The use of the interview modality has both advantage and disadvantages (Phellas, Bloch, & Seale, 2011). The advantage of using an interview to collect information in research includes the presence of the researcher, which enables interviewees to respond to difficult questions (Phellas et al., 2011). Patrick et al. (2011) noted that one disadvantage of conducting an interview is the duration of data collection. Interview can only be conducted with one participant at a time (Patrick et al., 2011).

In a qualitative explorative case study, a researcher must avoid bias to understand the perception of the participant on the phenomenon (Qu et al., 2011). According to Phellas, Bloch, and Seale (2011), an interviewer can regulate the topic and the settings of the interview. The process of listening without any interjection may reduce the bias of the researcher (Irvive et al., 2013). Bias may arise from the manner in which the interviewer presents the questions (Phellas et al., 2011). Choudrie and Culkin (2013) stated that the triangulation of semistructured interview and documents reduces bias likely in using one source of data collection. I developed interview questions appropriate for the study, which included semistructured interview with open-ended questions, to foster deeper level insights from participants. Irvine et al. (2013) noted that nonvisual cues could affect the quality of data collected in an interview. The use of semistructured interview was appropriate to elicit and solicit information from experts in corporate governance.

I used member checking to improve the credibility of this study. The use of member checking allowed all participants to review the analysis of their responses to confirm the correct meaning of their words (Petty et al., 2012). The advantage of using member checking provides opportunity for participants to preview the analysis of their individual interviews to ascertain contextual interpretation of words expressed (Houghton et al., 2013). The use of member checking also validates research ethic in a qualitative case study (Mero-Jaffe, 2011). I allowed the participants to review the analysis of their interview for confirmation of their responses to the research questions before importing the textual transcript into Nvivo 10. I kept the transcript as originally written and made notes regarding how the participants changed their responses.

#### **Data Organization Techniques**

Barrat et al. (2011) noted that a major problem in data analysis is assuring accurate conclusions by confirming the objectivity of the procedure of collected data and field notes. The use of a research diary helped me to maintain proper records and organize the data. A researcher should document, detailed, expressive insights about the phenomenon based on the themes that emerge while conducting the research (Barratt et al., 2011). The research diary is a reflective log that helps to track data and emerging understanding and perception during the study (Roberts-Holmes, 2011). Reflective journal writing inspires researchers to document their reasoning about descriptions that reflect personal experiences and situations (Goh & Matthews, 2011). Using a research diary for taking notes helped in recording participants' views, ideas, feelings, and unexpected information during the research (Stylianou-Lambert, 2011).

I obtained permission to audio record the interview through the signed consent form. I assigned each of the participants an identifying number ranging from 1 to 10 preceded by the letter p (for participant). The semistructured interviews were audiotaped with the content of the participants. I kept the folder containing the transcribed interview and written words for each participant in a password protected computer. Jacob and Furgerson (2012) kept the folder containing their transcribed interview and written words for all the participants that participated in their research.

Labeling and data categorization aided in the organization of data in the study. I sorted and labeled the data based on the responses of the participants to the interview questions. I assigned label to each of the participants and saved the data file with the

corresponding participant's names. The first participant was labeled as Participant 1 and the second respondent as Participant, 2 and continued in the same format to the last respondent to the interview questions. Then, I commence data categorization through coding by using common words and phrases to identify the themes. Clarke (2015) used NVivo to improve the quality and consistency of coding data according to common words, phrases, and emerging themes in the study. Using Nvivo helped the researcher to improve the quality and consistency of data coding using keywords, phrases, which leads to the emerging themes in the study. Qualitative researchers obtain documents and identify themes within, by including words, phrases, and sentences (Yin, 2011). Building a case study database in NVivo constituted plans to store and organize information and additional data, following the guidelines outlined by Blome and Scoenherr (2011). I built a case study database in Nvivo to store and organize information in the research.

I will protect the data on a password-protected safe and computer for 5 years. Wahyuni (2012) explained that in attaining research ethics, researchers should store the hard copies of data in a protected locked safe, and soft copies should be password protected in a computer. Hall et al. (2011) stated that researcher should preserve the main data of their research for confidentiality and compliance with safety control. According to Hall et al., critical data must be kept in a password-protected electronic server and accessible to only the researcher. For this study, the data back-up plans include storage of all data generated on flash drives through a password-protected file and protection of the data in a fireproof cabinet and computer for 5 years.

#### **Data Analysis**

In addition to the primary data collection through face-to-face interviews, triangulation of data entailed using documents from the regulators and banks, such as relevant corporate governance codes to support the interview findings. Walshe (2011) used face-to-face interviews and triangulated data using banks and regulators documents such as corporate governance code to support findings from research conducted. The steps in a qualitative study involve data collection and the process of data analysis (Barusch et al., 2011). In this study, data analysis provided a structure to understand the strategies needed by corporate financial leaders to implement sound corporate governance to improve financial performance.

Heras-Saizarbitoria (2011) stated that triangulation involves use of data from credible sources to improve the accuracy in a research. Methodological triangulation entails the use of the multiple source of evidence to explore a phenomenon (Bekhet & Zauszniewski, 2011). Rohrbeck (2015) recommended the use of multiple sources for data collection to improve triangulation of data. The use of methodological triangulation is advantageous in verifying the study outcomes, ensuring detailed data collection, strengthening the validity, and, improving knowledge about the subject of the research (Bekhet et al., 2011). I used the Behket et al. strategy to achieve methodological triangulation in this study. The data collected from the face-to-face semistructured interviews conducted on 10 senior leaders of regulatory authorities and corporate financial leaders were triangulated along with code of corporate governance and bank

documents collected from the participants and documents retrieved from the public domain to improve interview data.

In data analysis, researchers use various approaches sequentially (Wahyuni, 2012). Analyzing data includes using collected data to reveal significant themes, patterns, and explanations related to the central research question of the study (Yin, 2011). The objective of my data analysis was to discover themes that answered the main research question. The categorization of themes that emerged from the data in the study reveals strategies corporate financial leaders may need to implement to follow good corporate governance and improve financial performance.

The data collected in a qualitative study are in the form of several pages of written words that require analysis and interpretation (Petty et al., 2012). After the collection of data, I analyzed the data collected from the semistructured interview and archival documents collected from the participants. Initially, I organized the data collected into categories, relating to corporate governance strategies corporate financial leader need reduce noncompliance and enhance financial performance. In this study, I adopted Yin's (2011) five-stage data analysis approach: (a) compiling data, (b) disassembling data, (c) reassembling data, (d) interpreting the meaning of the data, and (e) drawing conclusions from the data. Gu (2014) used Yin's data analysis approach and confirmed its suitability for qualitative research. Kikuchi et al. (2014) also adopted Yin's data analysis approach to analyze data collected for a qualitative study.

Using NVivo to analyze available published documents on corporate governance helped to gain insight into or draw conclusions about the content of the documents

(Rooney & Cuganesan, 2015). NVivo is software used in analyzing qualitative research data. NVivo software enabled audio recording and transcribing, as well as analysis and thematic coding of documents (Bøyum & Aabø, 2015). NVivo software improved the quality of analysis in a research study, and was found suitable. According to Morgadinho, Oliveira and Martinho (2015) NVivo is identified as a useful aid for researcher exploring mechanism and strategies for building up evidence obtained from an interview or literature. The interview scripts after transcription was imported into NVivo and coded under different nodes in the software until the five themes clearly emerged to reflect the evidence from the interviews and documents obtained.

In this study, I imported textual transcripts into NVivo10 to analyze the data collected from Microsoft Word. Compiling is the process of organizing all data collected and notes (Yin, 2011). After compiling data, I commenced disassembling of data.

Disassembling the complete data comprises a process through a coding technique (Yin, 2011). Coding data involves organizing and labeling data in segments by names or explanatory words (Wilson, 2012). Coding and exploring data within NVivo are the initial process of further in-depth analysis through recognizing patterns and themes (Smith & Firth, 2012). I used the nodes attributes in the Nvivo10 software in identifying similar data and common themes occurring in participants' comments on each of the interview questions. In this study, I developed and arranged the similar data on node in NVivo to generate codes and commenced categorization to generate the emerged themes.

After diassembling the data, I began reassembling the data that included a process in the study of grouping the data until themes clearly emerge (Yin, 2011). The themes for

this study clearly emerged during reassembling process. Yin (2011) stated that the next phase after disassembling was interpreting the data. The reassembled data were interpreted to give meaning to the research. The process involved interpretation of the data based on the understanding of the researcher. According to Yin, data interpretation requires researchers to express their understanding of the data collected. A qualitative researcher needs competence in the subject matter to interpret the data. The last phase of data analysis was to draw conclusions concerning the data (Yin, 2011). The conclusion phase involved producing a sequence of statements that describe the outcome of a study from a broad perspective (Buchanan, 2013; Yin, 2011). In qualitative research, the conclusion concerning the themes and patterns obtained from the central research questions was essential (Yin, 2011). Researcher objective should be to conclude a study with a concise gripping representation of the main conclusions that depict the research findings and their significant to theory and future study (Goldberg & Allen, 2015). For this study, I derived the conclusion from the analysis and interpretation of data collected from the participants and the documents available. The conclusion of this study comprises of the expression of the research outcomes from the data collected.

Qualitative researchers frequently use software for analyzing their data (Hanson et al., 2011). The features of Nvivo 10 assisted me to load, store, code, and dissect themes and patterns led to consideration as the favored data analytical software for this study.

Nvivo 10 is computer software appropriate for classifying and coding qualitative data (Kikuchi et al., 2014). Ishak and Bakar (2012) noted the benefits of using NVivo include (a) the ability to arrange documents in a folder, (b) the use of audio as a data source, (c)

the use of inquiries to reveal more information for further insight into the phenomenon under study, and (e) comparison with other software to note the reliability of coding procedures. The use of NVivo improves the rigor of a qualitative study (Leech & Onwuegbuzie, 2011). The data analytical feature of the NVivo computer package served in aligning the interview data with information from the literature review (Garrett-Howard, 2012; Benbow et al., 2011).

Agency theory connotes, that the relationship between managers and shareholders need monitoring, using strategies to ensure managers are working in line with the expectations stated in the contract between the parties (Kasum et al., 2014). The alignment of the conceptual framework of the research method and the outcome of the research is essential in a qualitative study (Barratt et al., 2011). The lens of the agency theory served as the conceptual framework for this study and served as a reference in interpreting the meaning of the data by examining strategies needed to implement corporate governance. I compared the research findings to previous similar studies to validate the results. From the lens of Agency theory, Kasum et al. (2014) pointed out that the primary cause of agency problem is the lack of adequate corporate governance in the financial industry. Quaresima, Pereira and Dias (2013) explained that acceptance of best practices lessened doubt on the company's sustainability by improving investors' trust in the organization for enhancement of business financial performance. The existence of conflict of interest among managers and investors indicates the importance of incorporating corporate governance strategies confronting the differences between the parties (Chhillar & Lellapalli (2015). Through agency theory lens, Filatotchev and

Nakajima (2014) noted that organization's governance that depends on an integrated system of responsibility and reporting, and board supervision and risk management are efficient to the extent of reducing agency costs and enhanced financial performance.

Study on governance in developing economies is involved on situations related to agency differences and independent governance strategies (Chhillar et al., 2015). A qualitative researcher uses the research design to establish consistency among the research questions, literature review, theory, data collection procedures, and data analysis (Hanson et al., 2011).

## Reliability and Validity

# **Dependability**

In qualitative research, dependability is the process of ensuring consistency and auditability for research replication and understanding of differences (Petty et al., 2012). Achieving a reliable study requires a researcher to document the processes of the research adequately and appropriately. In a study of gap in governance, Knight, Kenny, and Endacott (2015) noted that procedure to achieve dependability includes, the use of interviews data, audio recording and transcription of interviews. Nurunnabi (2015) achieved dependability through the use of all documents and interview data collected to provide an audit trail on the research. In ensuring dependability, I audiotaped the interviews and documented details of the research process. Semistructured interviews data, documents collected and the transcription of interviews provided an audit trail in the research. The use of member checking helped to ensure dependability by allowing participants to review the interview transcript and verify that the codes and themes

aligned with what was expressed in response to the interview questions. I allowed participants to have access to the themes generated from the response to the interview questions and shared the findings and conclusion for credibility and reliability of the research.

Recording personal thoughts about the research steps and process followed during the research improved dependability and clarity of the procedure (Houghton et al., 2013). Triangulation was appropriate to ensure dependability of the content in this research. Reliability in qualitative research requires having a similar outcome to previous studies (Ali & Yusof, 2011; Grossoehme, 2014). Barusch et al. (2011) established that consistency of coding is sufficient to ensure reliability.

Computer software, such as NVivo, can improve the rigor of qualitative research in the process of data collection and analysis (Leech & Nnwuegbuzie, 2011).

Triangulation improves the credibility of a study by using several sources of data (Ertmer et al., 2012). Using triangulation to reveal enlightening and extensive details from multiple sources concerning corporate governance strategies enhanced the richness, validity, reliability, and possible acceptability of the results of the study (Adegbite, 2012). Credibility

To achieve credibility for this study, I provided interviewees copies of analysis and interpretations, to check consistency between responses and the interpretations derived from the interviews, which is known as member checking. Member checking enabled participants to verify their responses in the researcher's analysis and ensured the accuracy of the findings (Tong, Chapman, Israni, Gordon, & Craig, 2013). Researchers

have access to the analysis of their individual interviews before commencement of data coding (Houghton et al., 2013). The semistructured interviews with open-ended questions allowed respondents to give detailed information concerning the phenomenon under study (Hanson et al., 2011). The expectation was that these approaches ensured research credibility.

Triangulation is one important technique a qualitative researcher can use to resolve the threat of research validity (Isaac, 2011; Yin, 2011). A qualitative researcher can improve credibility through deep information and triangulation (Houghton et al., 2013). Trustworthiness refers to the confidence the researcher has concerning the validity of the research (Petty et al., 2012). Validity concerns the accuracy of the results (Hodges, 2011; Thomas & Magilvy, 2011). I explored as much information as possible on the research topic for in-depth understanding until no new information emerged; achieving data saturation (Houghton et al., 2013). Qualitative research requires the researcher to collect enough information to initiate a credible case, thereby, establishing that the researcher has in-depth understanding of the research subject (Hanson et al., 2011).

## **Transferability**

Providing a detailed description of the studied phenomenon enabled the audience to relate to the research and incorporate the outcome of the study into their own settings, a process known as transferability (Houghton et al., 2013). When conducting quantitative research, the research priority is often the reliability and validity of the research while qualitative researchers work toward the assurance of credibility and transferability of the results (Denzin & Lincon, 2011). I achieved transferability through the provision of an

in-depth depiction of the research processes and the population. Triangulation of data is a significant influence in ensuring transferability of the research.

## **Confirmability**

The process of confirmability is to ensure the outcome of the research reflects the intention of the study and not the researcher's bias (Petty et al., 2013). The use of member checking and triangulation was appropriate to reveal that the finding is devoid of researcher's bias. Member checking may occur by reviewing interview questions, presenting analysis and interpretations of the research to participant's for validation and credibility of the study (Harper & Cole, 2012). All participants received analysis of interviews prior to the commencement of coding, and extracting patterns and themes. And they all confirmed their responses to the interview analysis before coding. Using member checking helps to ensure consistency and accuracy (Johnson, Singh, & Gonzalez, 2014). The use of NVivo was invaluable for systematic analysis of the research (Houghton et al., 2013). The presentation of the outcome without researchers' bias confirmed the credibility of the result of the study. I shared the emerging themes, findings and conclusion with the participants to ensure the research outcome revealed the intention of the study and the perceptions of the participants.

Comparing several sources of collected data, otherwise known as triangulation, supported the results of the study (Houghton et al., 2013). The methods for generating data had complementary advantages that enabled deep insights into the phenomenon of study. The process of achieving methodological triangulation involved using the findings from the semistructured interviews with open-ended questions, compared against

documents on corporate governance strategies and financial performance of banks. Methodological triangulation refers to the use of several data sources to guarantee detailed data to answer the research questions (Järvensivu & Törnroos, 2010). Thomas and Magilvy (2011) recommended that researchers use multiple strategies to achieve both internal and external validity. The adoption of methodological triangulation in case study research improves data analysis through extensive similarities in various data collected (Gibbert, & Ruigrok, 2010).

#### **Data Saturation**

In an exploratory case study approach, data saturation occurs with sufficient information collected concerning the research topic (O'Reilly & Parker, 2012). Data saturation occurs where no new information or themes and codes emerge from the data (Liu, 2014). The purpose of a qualitative research is to achieve saturation and sufficient quality data (Al Sayah et al., 2014). Data saturation was an important aim of the current study to achieve the objective of the research. I achieved data saturation when no new information emerged from the participants. In this study, I listened to the recorded audiotape at the end of each interviews and read the transcript to have knowledge of the participants' perception of the research topic. Using this process, I became familiar with each participant's view of the research topic, which made me identify the point of data saturation as no new information emerged from the last Interviewee. The responses of the last participant revealed the same perception of other participants' about the corporate governance strategies corporate financial leaders need to implement to enhance financial performance. During data analysis, I used the same process with coding of data to

identify emerging themes during categorization, only five themes emerged and discussed in details as provided by the research participants. In a case study research, data saturation is an indication that the researcher has reviewed all data and no evidence of new themes is possible from more interviews (Palinka et al., 2013). Where a researcher believes that subsequent interview may not provide no new information that is the point of data saturation (Sargeant, 2012). Effective exploration of data in qualitative study ensures the collection of sufficient and quality data (Dworkin, 2012).

## **Transition and Summary**

In this section, the description included details on the research study, the rationale for the chosen methodology and design, and the role of the researcher in all engagement with study participants. The objective of this qualitative study was to use the analysis procedures of Yin (2011) to understand the business strategies that Nigerian corporate financial leaders need to implement for effective corporate governance to improve financial performance of their banks and generate strong shareholder returns. The research involved using semistructured interviews with open-ended questions and recording responses to collect data and gain insight into strategies used and personal views of the participants. In an effort to triangulate the interview data with documents related to corporate governance, the research entailed using purposeful sampling techniques by collecting data from Nigerian corporate governance experts and professionals who are regulators and corporate financial leaders. Before the commencement of data collection through interviews and documents, I obtained Walden University IRB approval. Face-to-face interviews represented the data collection

modality and involved recording and transcribing the interviews verbatim. Uploading the transcribed data into NVivo  $10^{\text{@}}$  qualitative software served to identify emerging patterns and themes in the study.

In this section, the discussion included the selection of participants and sample size, research method and design, data collection and analysis, and the expected reliability and validity of the study results. Section 3 of this research study will include (a) presentation of the findings, (b) application of professional practices, (c) implication for social change, (d) recommendations for action, and (e) possible areas for future research.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Social Change

Introduction

The purpose of this multiple case study was to explore what strategies corporate financial leaders need to reduce noncompliance to corporate governance and enhance financial performance. The data collection process involved semistructured interviews with 10 senior leaders of regulatory authorities and corporate financial leaders with more than 10 years of experience in banking. The participants for this study consisted of 10 senior leaders of regulatory authorities and corporate financial leaders of Nigerian recapitalized banks that regulate, supervise, and manage the Nigerian banking industry. I used the interview data, code of corporate governance, financial reports, regulatory documents collected from corporate financial leaders and senior management of regulatory authority to generate the themes. The generated themes from the participants' responses and documents reviewed provided insights into the strategies corporate financial leaders need to enhance financial performance. Five themes emerged from the interview data and documents reviewed, and they include (a) the need for improvement on compliance to corporate governance regulations, (b) the need for effective board governance, (c) strategic risk management and internal control, (d) training, education, and awareness on best practices, and (f) the need for strategic and effective leadership.

#### **Presentation of Findings**

The presentation of the findings of this study addressed the overarching research question of what strategies do corporate financial leaders need to implement to reduce noncompliance and enhance financial performance.

Five themes emerged from the interview data and archival documents reviewed, the need for (a) improvement on compliance corporate governance regulations, (b) effective board governance, (c) strategic risk management and internal controls, (d) training, education, and awareness on best practices, and (f) strategic and effective leadership. I presented the themes based on the participants' responses.

# Emergent Theme 1: The need for improvement on Compliance to Corporate governance Regulations

Compliance is a strategic aspect of governance that reveals how financial institutions achieve business responsibilities (Lagzdins & Sloka, 2012). Stringent regulations and close supervision by the regulators may serve as mitigating factors regarding the significance of the board (Lee & Isa, 2015). The significance of the managerial characteristics of compliance relies on the complexity that banks have in creating its structure (Birindelli & Ferretti, 2013). The place of the compliance purpose, its independence, the reinforcement of importance involved, and its relation with the other supervisory responsibilities are guidelines for managerial competence (Birindelli & Ferretti, 2013). The regard for these guidelines is one of the implementations within the regulatory assessment and appraisal process, aside from controlling the competence of board practices (Birindelli & Ferretti, 2013).

Noncompliance to the regulatory guidelines is when the corporate financial leaders or banks violate the rules and regulations binding their business ethics (Zeidan, 2012). The participants defined regulatory noncompliance to corporate governance about the financial industry in Nigeria as nonadherence to rules and regulations, stipulated by

the regulatory authorities. P1 stated that the Central Bank of Nigeria took a portion of the Securities and Exchange Commission code and then fine-tuned to be with the requirements of the banks. P2 noted that regulatory noncompliance occurs when an organization fails to comply with the requirements of the code of corporate governance subsisting in our jurisdiction. This may be seen as not filling returns on the code of corporate governance, and making material misstatements of facts on certain filings of returns on the code of corporate governance to the regulatory organization. P3, P4, and P5 explained that compliance is the adherence to the rules and standards of corporate governance that have been defined by either the regulators or any other leading practice authority. The participants explained that noncompliance or breach would be non-adherence to those rules and regulations. P4 stressed that regulators will apply appropriate disciplinary action on any banks, or financial leaders found not complying with the laid down regulations in the financial industry

P6 explained that Nigerian banks cannot be said to be substantially noncompliant; the regulatory arena makes compliance mandatory to comply with some aspect of corporate governance code for Nigerian banks. P7 revealed that the Nigerian landscape before the financial crisis had almost zero adherence to regulatory problems with respect to corporate governance. The participants revealed that the banks directors mismanaged the business and hired their preferred candidates on the board of the banks without considering the effect of their decisions on the shareholders and depositors. The indication of this reflects financial noncompliance on corporate governance was significantly poor based on the findings from the participants. Zeidan (2013) confirmed

that the problems of breaching guidelines or unauthorized regulations turned uncontrollable within the banking industry. P7 affirmed that

Noncompliance spreads far and wide and eats into the fabric of our financial system, that even now that we do have a code of corporate governance, some of our financial institutions are still struggling to get a good grasp of what is required of them.

P8 explained that the central bank using their regulatory tools made compliance mandatory with the code of corporate governance for banks. The participant noted that this has helped in ensuring that the corporate entities are governed well. Relationship between the board management and shareholders of any company is a principal and agent relationship; a relationship of trust, and there must be something that will guide that relationship. The assertions of the participants' is grounded in extant literature on corporate governance by Prorokowski and Prorokowski (2014), who stated that regulatory compliance includes all mechanisms and rules that an organization must know and the adherence.

P10 described the presence of different committees in the banks and various compliance officers, the risk officers, internal control, and the statutory audit to review and force compliance in the financial industry as an effective means toward improved compliance. The participants noted that the situation with compliance has largely improved compared to the past. The participants confirmed how bad corporate governance led to almost collapse of the banking industry such that the CBN had to intervene due to insider credits, insider loan, abuse of office, debiting wrong GLs for

accounts, spending within and without the budgetary limits. P10 noted that over five years, corporate governance has evolved and is improving.

The findings from the participants revealed improvement after the financial crisis, based on the reviewed corporate governance codes. However, issues of noncompliance still require the attentions of both the regulators and the corporate financial leaders.

Adherence to corporate governance is important to performance of any financial institutions in improving shareholders returns and increasing business patronage for sustainability of the business. O'Neill (2014) stated that there are perceptions that firms weigh the disadvantage of adherence to the effect of nonadherence to corporate governance. The fundamental to sustained compliance is the proficiency in not only having the right approach to the actual adherence position of the firm but to anticipate the imminent uncertainty and organization collapse (O'Neill, 2014).

During member checking, P2 stated that the critical factors in mitigating regulatory noncompliance to enhance financial performance are adherence to rules and regulations. Compliance to the code of corporate governance may help enhance financial performance in the Nigerian banking industry if the financial leaders follow the guideline of the regulatory authority; this will enable the banks to attract investors and further enhance the banks' profitability. This finding is grounded in the Utrero-Gonzalez and Callado-Munoz's (2015) study of corporate governance and firm's performance, which found that organizations' corporate governance would be assessed alongside effective, perhaps more-challenging codes.

Each of the participants discussed the importance of compliance to regulatory policies to achieve best practices in the financial institutions. P1 stated that the sector is heavily regulated and that scrutiny is quite high; as a result, the leadership of financial institutions takes compliance quite seriously. P8 noted that several years ago, the central bank removed the boards of some companies and appointed administrators. The removal of the boards sent warning signals to those in charge of corporate entities that the regulators would take decisive action to ensure good corporate governance. P1 emphasized that fines and penalties put each and every person under checks and balances, and that the members who are in charge of running the organizations must mitigate regulatory noncompliance to enhance financial performance. P10 confirmed that the institution must have checks and balances, and that everything revolves round the structure put in place within the banks.

P3 noted that financial leaders have probably not seen a direct link between their bottom line and regulatory compliance; however, a number of them now see the link to capital, including monies coming in and the ability to attract outside investors. The participant stated that banks' demonstrating better corporate governance practices are beginning to see that, the banks can attract investors on the stock exchange or through private placement to show the banks are better managed. In doing so, more funds will be attracted to the business inform of capital inflows that overtime should then affect the bottom line.

P3 further stressed that if linkages between compliance and financial performance are not evident, then regulators have an issue. The duty of the regulators' is to make the

linkages between compliance and financial performance very clear and obvious to banks and may be incentivizing to banks that complied, but where there is laxity there should be sanctions. Prorokowski and Prorokowski (2014) confirmed that under the present regulatory system of more comprehensive and inquisitive supervision of banks, any improper practices revealed within compliance responsibilities could attract stringent sanctions forced by regulators.

P1 confirmed that banks not willing to take the corrections are normally fined and the regulator ensures that many banks are not presently escaping with the provisions of the code. P9 expressed that banks have a compliance function that ensures that every kind of regulation that is issued by the regulator is followed and, there is the risk of sanctions, the risk of penalty, which reduces the risk of payment of fines. The payment of fewer fines improves financial performance because revenue generated from the business is not lost to payment of fines, sanctions, and gives reputation to such organizations as highly complaint to corporate governance. P3 noted that compliance right now is still very much a checkbox thing. The participant explained that the banks focus on compliance as opposed to the true benefits of compliance to regulatory requirement. P4 stressed that the central bank requires those financial institutions to send in a quarterly report of their governance issues and how they have complied with every section of the code; those reports are in turn analysed, criticized, and supporting documents are requested from the financial institutions.

P1, P2, and P3 confirmed that the regulators require banks to render their compliance report. P5 stated that report rendition is a factor helping to mitigate

noncompliance because when the banks are rendering the return; they are already questioning themselves; if the banks are really moving in tandem with the code? The report rendition draws the bank to self-regulation; report serves as a self-check towards compliance to regulatory requirements. P7 confirmed that the bank report almost every aspect of the business, and make enquiry before rendering the report and oftentimes, the compliance officers or any officer with the responsibility use the backdoor approach to get information on how to improve their report knowing the implication of noncompliance to their job. The participants identified that there is a drive from the leadership of the banks to ensure that there is compliance.

Prorokowski and Prorokowski (2014) confirmed that under the present regulatory system of more comprehensive and inquisitive supervision of banks, any improper practices within compliance responsibilities can attract stringent sanctions forced by regulators. Banks experience improved expectations of their compliance responsibilities, a crucial aspect of an integrated and strategic feature of the business (Prorokowski & Prorokowski, 2014). Zeidan (2012) confirmed that regulations have become more restricting and there have been increased sanctions in the last few years. Zeidan noted that nonadherence with any of the regulations may have significant lawful effects on the banks involved and their relevant management and directors. Corporate financial leaders should understand that the regulators would no longer tolerate failure in the banking industry; as a result, the need for improved compliance deserves the focus of the boards and management for enhanced performance in the financial industry. P7 explained that

corporate governance assists to enhance financial performance; adopting corporate governance principles would assist to enhance financial performance.

P6 stated that corporate governance practices include full disclosure and transparency. P8 identified one of the critical factors to achieve financial performance as the compliance with the financial reporting standards. The participant confirmed that adoption of the international financial reporting standards in 2012 has ensured that things that were been hiding in the past are now brought out to public knowledge because IFRS required detailed disclosures. P2 noted that corporate governance is a culture, and governance is evolving. The participant explained that in developed jurisdictions, corporate governance is not mandatory, banks either comply or explain, but the key thing people must note is that for transparency index the developed economy are up while Nigeria is down in terms of transparency index. The implication of this is that Nigeria regulators must create institutions and tripods that will help improve report rendition in the banking industry. P5 stressed, that banks are presently more cautious; corporate governance problems have not been fully taken care of, but there is improvement; compared to absolute breakdown where people failed to imbibe the culture of selfregulation.

P3 emphasized, there is the spirit and the letter of corporate governance, but corporate leaders are complying with the letter of what is written down. P4 confirmed having the code is not what matters, but the spirit of the code; members of the board should have the spirit of the code to avoid being coerced. Adherence to the code should naturally flow within banks processes and corporate culture. P3 emphasized that the

banks merely tick the box to fulfil compliance requirement as expected by the regulator. However, Adegbite (2012) found that extreme regulation might result in box-ticking without any improvement in conduct.

The implication of box ticking could be just to avoid regulatory sanction whereas banks compliance may not meet regulatory expectations. Krenn (2015) confirmed that an organization might seek a box-ticking strategy in the conformity with regulations instead of presenting the (rational) justification for nonadherence. P3 and P4 noted that the corporate financial leaders may not have the spirit from the onset, but the spirit is important to imbibe to work in the right direction. P4 stressed the importance of the adoption of the spirit of the code in the corporate financial leaders to ensure compliance to corporate governance. The adoption of the spirit of the code by corporate financial leaders will define the ability of the organization to succeed concerning its mandate, fulfilling its responsibilities to the staff, the shareholder, government, and all other stakeholders and ensure long-term sustainability invariably. P5 emphasized, any bank operating in the industry was expected to comply with the later and spirit of that code corporate governance.

P1, P2, P7, and P8 discussed that regulators are coming up with scorecards for organizations and financial institutions, after discovering that more needs to be done regarding the code of corporate governance. P8 stated that the introduction of scorecards into the market will be a tool to force disclosure by those responsible for those companies because the key words in corporate governance are disclosure. The participant emphasized that financial transactions should not be dealt with in secrecy. There should

be disclosure, and information should be available to people because where there is no information, there would be suspicion, where there is suspicion obviously there will be lose in confidence. Sharma (2014) suggested additional comprehensive disclosure in organization yearly statements covering all the mandatory disclosures, in order to improve shareholders' assurance and lessen information asymmetry, for both knowledgeable and inexperienced shareholders to be properly enlightened.

P1 explained due to different provisions from the code of corporate governance guidelines; the regulators realized that more is required and then decided to improve further compliance by introducing corporate governance scorecards to access all public quoted companies instead of submission of a half yearly report. The participants noted that this scorecard gauges the organizations' compliance with the provisions of the code. P2 expressed that the securities and exchange commission, in conjunction with the financial reporting council, is launching their scorecard, which is a quantitative and a qualitative measure of measuring performance with the code of corporate governance. The participants stated that the scorecard is made up of 800 indicators, which have been compounded into 400 indicators for ease of the regulator.

P1 stressed that all banks in Nigeria will be expected to publish the scorecard report on their website; the essence is that other stakeholders can go to the website, peruse this information, and blow a whistle if they perceive deviance from the scorecard. P5 confirmed that the whistle blowing culture and policy, which is part of corporate governance code, is there to ensure anything not in tandem with corporate governance code is reported to the regulator. Agnihotri and Bhattacharya (2015) noted that

whistleblowing is a useful technique of uncovering improper practices in an organization. The participants further explained whistleblowing report, embedded in the code of corporate governance helps to mitigate noncompliance revealing certain things and then call the banks back to order to ensure they are not moving in one right direction. P1 stated that the regulators would guarantee the safety and confidentiality of any whistle blower to obtain information either from the shareholders, other stakeholders, or also other regulatory agencies. The participant's expressed that whistle blowing will be of advantage to the organization and investors to launch processes and protection for complaints by staffs, either individually or through their delegates, and others external bodies, regarding dishonest and unethical conducts in the banks. The amended Code of Corporate Governance of 2014 by the CBN stipulates that banks must have a policy of whistle blowing and ensure confidentiality to encourage all stakeholders to report its unethical activities in the banks (CBN, 2014).

P4 explained that the introduction of the code of corporate governance is the regulatory mitigating factor to ensure sound governance, "So where there is no rule or law, there can be no sin." P6 noted that there are regulatory requirements that must be met by corporate institutions, legal requirements, and then guidelines that have assisted corporate financial leaders to implement corporate governance. The participant stated that in cases where this corporate governance was violated, adequate punishment has been meted out to corporate financial leaders. P8 stated that critical factors to mitigating regulatory compliance with regard to corporate governance to enhance financial performance, is the ability of a regulator to be able to monitor effectively. The regulatory

system in Nigeria is specific about the mandatory nature of its regulations, and the corporate financial leader does not have any other choice than to comply without any issue.

P4 commented that there are mainly two approaches to corporate governance: there is rule-based approach and the principle-based approach. The rule-based approach is used in the U.S., and the principle-based approach is used in UK or recommended by the UK financial regulators; but in Nigeria, the regulations incline towards the principle-based approach. Jakada and Inusa (2014) noted that the rules-based and the principles-based corporate governance regulatory structures remain competing suggestions in the corporate governance regulation literature. Jakada and Inusa stated that compliance with the requirements of codes of corporate governance in Nigeria is compulsory because the code also reflects some of the OECD and Basel Principles of best practices.

P1, P2, and P7 stated that the strategy to implement corporate governance by corporate financial leaders is to hire a Chief Compliance Officer. P1 noted this Chief Compliance officer is usually a lawyer, or one who has good knowledge of banking activities. The compliance officer is given the responsibility of fully complying with the provisions of the code. P3 expressed that the presence of a strong compliance officer, will ensure that most of the rules and regulations of the regulatory bodies are complied with in order to prevent regulatory risk, regulatory compliance risk. P1 and P2 emphasized that the compliance officer must be knowledgeable, and must be well trained in terms of the rules and regulations governing the organization.

P7 stated that banks are expected to comply because Nigeria code of corporate governance is comply or fail; the code is not advisory, so the banks must comply, and must appoint Chief Compliance Officers. The amended code of corporate governance stipulated that every bank must have a compliance officer for effective execution of corporate governance. P2 proposed that corporate financial leaders could implement corporate governance to enhance financial performance by ensuring that their compliance officer as much as possible be their "company secretary." The participant stated that the wide knowledge base and the visibility which the company secretary has in an organization and their involvement in serving as secretariat to various committees will make their duty effective as a compliance officer.

Krenn (2015) noted that the cost of compliance might be expensive for organizations. However, organizations may have investors who do not want to invest in a company that fails to comply with the Code of Corporate Governance. One of the participants mentioned a similar situation wherein European investors came to Nigeria to make enquiry about a bank only to discover that the banks have serious corporate governance issues. As a result, the regulator advised the group managing director to resign, but the investor left without any investment in the banks. The importance of compliance to the code of corporate governance in the market place is crucial to the business of financial institutions to attract investors and enhance their financial performance. Lama and Anderson (2015) stated that there is an underlying proposition that shareholders will access an organization's governance system by its level of compliance. Krenn (2015) emphasized that external and noticeable noncompliance with a

code may cause an organization a reputation as improperly managed. Organizations that obviously oppose compliance for code implementation can incur significant expenses of noncompliance in different ways (Krenn, 2015). Lagzdins and Sloka (2012) stated that financial institutions must harmonize the improved expenses related with the developments in current compliance business environment against their need to function profitably and enhance their businesses.

P8 stated that Nigerian banks are regulated by many regulators, so the corporate leaders have no option than to comply with the strictest of all the codes. Presently, the CBN code of corporate governance for the banks is mostly stricter than the SEC code and because of the mandatory nature of the code the banks have no option than to comply, otherwise noncompliance would affect the reputation of the financial institutions. The participants stressed that noncompliance can also affect the reputation of the individual directors and managers of such banks; considering the advocacy for good corporate governance; no corporate leaders' wants to associate with failure.

P9 confirmed that the financial services industry is the most highly regulated; as a result, there is a very strong focus on regulatory compliance, and most financial institutions are governed by at least two regulators. The participants identified the Central Bank, NDIC, Securities, and Exchange Commission, Nigerian Stock Exchange, for those who are listed, and the financial reporting council of Nigeria; these regulators had their codes that required banks compliance. P10 stated that failure to comply with rules and regulation of these regulators will results sanctions. The participants revealed that recently the regulators has been very firm in monitoring the banks, both the Central Bank

and even the Federal Reporting Council have been active in their carrying out their responsibilities.

P4 explained that people, processes, and resources are three factors considered to be critical success factors for mitigating regulatory noncompliance; compromising any of these will result in high level of noncompliance. P8 emphasized that corporate financial leaders can affect the amount of banks financial performance through strict compliance with regulatory requirements. The participant noted that strict compliance will ensure that heavy penalties that may eat into profits are avoided, and compliance also projects the image of the bank, thereby boosting depositors and investors' confidence. Lambe (2014) concluded that corporate governance is compulsory to accomplish the appropriate running of banks and that corporate governance can avert bank crisis only if governance is properly executed.

P9 commented that if a financial services organization has a regulator, but that regulator is "sleeping;" that is, if the regulator is not living up to its watchdog role to monitor compliance in that particular organization or industry, monitoring could be a critical factor to regulatory compliance. The participants emphasized that the amount of focus that both the regulator has, and what the regulator requires to be implemented internally, helps in ensuring that corporate governance is implemented. P6 stressed that through the regulatory requirements the regulators have ensured that there is strict adherence to code of corporate governance. P5 stated the banks are expected to integrate all sections of the corporate governance in their policies and, later on, followed up by the

regulators. All the banks are supposed to align their business strategy with the corporate governance code.

P10 noted that banks have the external auditor and the Central Bank and other regulators going around banks for examination purposes to check the banks' governance structure. P3 stated that regulators required the corporate financial leaders to render returns on certain aspects of their corporate governance practices, the questions, and the responses would show one way or the other whether there's been a deliberate strategy to adopt or banks have deliberately incorporated corporate governance into their business strategy. P7 stated that a regulator like CBN ensure that the effectiveness of the code of corporate governance is in place. The participant noted that to enhance effectiveness of corporate governance, the CBN look more into the corporate information also under the conditions of confidentiality, which assists in several ways to alleviate the noncompliance of the financial institution. Lambe (2014) found that to avert bank crises through appropriate corporate governance, importance should not be solely on regulators setting guidelines and rules, but to establish that the set of guidelines and rules are strictly obeyed in the financial industry.

The findings revealed that compliance is improving in the Nigerian financial industry. However, there are still issues of noncompliance and issues related to conflicts of interest, which may affect the financial performance of the banks in the long run and may lead to financial distress. As a result, regulators must improve their monitoring strategy to ensure that bank' corporate financial leaders are not just complying to the part of the code they are comfortable with, but all aspects of the codes of corporate

governance, which must be reviewed in alignment with global best practices. The regulators must enforce strict adherence to corporate governance in the Nigerian financial industry, because there are still governance issues within the system. Until the corporate financial leaders assume the spirit of the code as part of their embedded character, the industry needs stricter codes to enhance financial performance. Lambe (2014) concluded that is also vital to insist that all financial institutions conform to legal provisions, which the government, regulatory, and supervisory authorities might outline to curtail crises in the banking sector.

The amended Code of Corporate Governance stipulates that banks must render quarterly returns to ensure full implementation of the new code. The theme of improving compliance to regulation aligned with the literature, including agency theory, in that compliance to the code will safeguard the interest of the investors by removing the conflict of interest between the management and the business owners to enhance financial performance. The implication of these findings is adherence to regulations, the concerns of the business, and enhanced financial performance. The regulatory documents reviewed revealed the processes Nigerian banks needed to adopt to ensure best practices in the banking industry but despite, there are still issues of noncompliance to corporate governance in some banks according to the participants.

A bank's effective communication with regulators can prevent sanctions from unintended noncompliance. Corporate financial leaders would benefit significantly when code of corporate governance receive sufficient recognition through internal assessment, and knowledge of the compliance status would further improve a bank's reputation

within the financial industry. Without compliance with code of corporate governance, banks may experience sanctions that may not be in the best interests of the business owners. Lama et al. (2015) revealed that the value related with executing compliance is financial in nature, while the value of noncompliance is initially market prestige, but could result in huge financial implication. Corporate financial leaders need to align their personal interest in ensuring compliance to corporate governance to meet shareholder expectations to avoid the cost that could affect the reputation of their organization, such that noncompliance would influence the financial performance of the business.

Shrives and Brennan (2015) wrote that agency theory is frequently implored to describe disclosure, proposing that corporate leaders will be required to prove to investors that their corporate governance practices are adequate. Jakada and Inusa (2014) concluded management staff must follow stringently the codes of corporate governance to safeguard adequate financial practices that will result in financial industry stability. Authorities should enact other strict fines for breaking corporate governance codes; this will reinforce the implementation techniques of the regulatory authorities (Jakada & Inusa, 2014).

## **Emergent Theme 2: The Need for Effective Board Governance**

Boards of directors have a crucial responsibility in corporate governance (Pandya, 2013). The key role of the board is to approve the company's strategy, establish a guiding policy, hire, control and remunerate top management, and to safeguard responsibility of the corporation to its owners, regulators, and other investors (Pandya, 2013). Biondi and Reberioux (2012) asserted that the board of directors is the key recognized mechanism

needed by corporate governance for controlling and checking the particular economy of the business organization, portrayed by irregularity between the internal and the external states of the organization. The board of directors has been judged to be the most critical mechanism in an internal governance structure.

Boards of directors are not expected only to monitor the executives; they are held responsible for an organization's failure to attain performance goals or failure to conform to rules and regulations (Lee & Isa, 2015). The board of directors is the foundation of a company's monitoring and management systems (Leventis, Dimitropoulos, & Owusu-Ansah, 2013). Biondi and Reberioux (2012) stated that the supervisory role of the board requires the reporting of financial statements through financial reporting and supervision of the corporate directors, including the decisive authority to fire the managing director.

All of the participants emphasized boards' importance to the financial performance of banks by implementing controls, giving directions, and putting checks and balances into place. P3 asserted that the board is the head and the manager of the organization. P4 noted that the board has the overall responsibility for the management of a bank. The participants stated that governance is very crucial, such that the board has to ensure that certain measures are taken to make governance effective in the organization. P4 asserted that one of such measures is to clearly define the roles of the board and management, so that there is no conflict. Lama and Anderson (2015) stated that executive management and directors require supervision and direction towards ensuring that the business decision is in line with investors' expectations. P1 recounted that the problem of liquidation and distress in the banking industry was a result of duplication on the roles of

chairman and the managing director, which attracted the attention of the CBN and the SEC. To ensure safety of the financial industry the regulators separated the roles of chairman and the Managing director to avoid conflict of interest in preventing future collapse in the financial sector.

P10 linked the critical factor of financial performance to managers who believed that sole decision making, rightfully or wrongfully, would make the institution successful, but that might not be the appropriate approach The participant noted that shortcuts to profits or shortcuts to power would definitely affect the financial performance of the financial institutions. Eighty percent of the participants emphasized that separation of power to avoid conflict is a critical factor to best practices, as well as an effective strategy to enhance financial performance. P3 noted that the understanding of the board on its role in the institution is predominant. The participant further reiterated the board defines the strategy and gives direction to management on how to manage the business.

P4 explained that over bearing influence should be eliminated in membership of the board. Most of the current reforms of corporate governance focus on enhancing corporate governance by improving the board's effectiveness (Ujunwa, 2012). P4 discussed six types of boards in financial institutions: (a) rubber stamp board, that is, boards that just agree with anything introduced by the management; (b) talk shop; a board just keeps talking without implementing decision; (c) number crunchers; boards that are always dealing with figures but there is no effective progress in terms of delivering its mandate; (d) the dreamers, boards that are always over-optimistic about what they need

to attain; (e) the adrenaline junkies, the board that focuses more on the short term; and (f) the best board which is an effective board that ensures that board uses its resources to achieve the mandate of the organization and also ensures that there is adequate and clear defined relationship between the board, management, employees and other stakeholders. Every board should ensure operating an effective board. The attributes of sound governance suggestion with respect to diligence involve checks on managing directors power initiated by separating the role of the managing director (MD) and the board Chairman (Essen, Engelen, & Carney, 2013).

P5 noted that the bank either has a chairman or an executive; but impossible to have an executive chairman. The participant noted that separation of responsibility assists in making performance better. P2 emphasized that the critical factor to financial performance in the financial industry is a strong board. The board of directors has the responsibility to supervise the organization's businesses in the interests of the organization and all of its investors, within the structure of the regulations, rules and resolutions in which the organization functions (Aguilera, Desender & Castro, 2012). Grounded in agency theory, the boards are responsible for the supervision of good performance, and maximizing investors' wealth (Javaid & Saboor, 2015).

Board structure affects organizational performance among other internal corporate governance mechanisms. Board structure is an essential factor to performance of banks in the improvement of board governance (Pathan, Hag, & Gray, 2012). When integrating strategy to achieve best practices, all the participants discussed having a strong structure through the creation of committees and the need for an independent director on the board.

P2 reported that foremost for any bank is building strong institutions by constituting committees that are the control pillars of the banks. P10 stated that the initial step for the board is to define various corporate governance issues and the management through establishment of committees. The participants noted that the committees scrutinize different areas of a bank and checking all the committees holistically, the board would have touched on various areas where improvements are needed.

P1 noted that the leadership of the boards makes sure that they comply fully with all the provisions regarding the appointment of committee chairmen. P1 expressed that this is the case with particular audit committees, risk management committees, strategic committees, and establishment committees. P4 noted that the board is expected to have an effective oversight over management, because the board represents the shareholders while the management runs the business. P5 confirmed that the strategy of separating ownership from management is important because one will be a check on the other one. P10 expressed that checks and balances revolves around the structure put in place by the board. The managing director should not be allowed to finish or start a transaction there should be the maker checker principle in the organization. The participants reiterated there should be a limit to delegated authorities for responsible officers in order to achieve checks and balances in the banks.

P10 affirmed that there are different committees both at the board level and executive level looking at things separately to ensure that the controls and balances. P4 and P7 stated that there is an oversight audit control in the bank, and that the boards have a risk management oversight body. P2 noted that the CBN code makes provisions for

banks to have two audit committees. P10 noted that there are credit committee that screens both at the executive and board level with credit limit for responsible officers, to actualize their job functions. The documents reviewed revealed different committees at the different level of the management in banks. In the code of corporate governance of the CBN, the minimum committees expected by the regulators was clearly stated for proper guidance of the banks' executives and directors.

P4 emphasized that corporate financial leaders can affect banks' financial performance by having adequate board committees. The participant explained the board cannot function solely; the role of the board has to be divided into three standard minimum committees recommended by the CBN, which are the risk management committee, the audit committee, and the credit committee with clear mandate. P8 noted that avoidance of concentration of power in one individual would make the governance structure strong and improves the performance of the company. P1 emphasized that a board chairman cannot make a decision without affecting other members and the shareholders of the organization. Sixty percent of the participants discussed the need to have an adequate board committee to avoid concentration of power on one individual, and to ensure checks and balances on both the board and management levels.

P10 stated that to achieve financial performance; the first critical factors is having a stable structure and then working on how to ensure the effectiveness structure by ensuring that power is not concentrated on one location. P2 stated that the most effective strategy for financial performance is the effectiveness and strength of its board. P3 noted that a board should be clear about where the institution should be going, as the one that

has given the direction and has provided the resources required to reach the goals. P10 asserted that the most effective strategy to improve financial performance depends on the defined structure banks put in place, such as; corporate structure, governance structure, and code of conduct that should guide the behavior of the people working in the organization.

An organizational structure should be structured such that employees know the next in line and the expectations, so that irrespective of changes at the management and executive levels, the organization will remain productive (Garg & Van Weele, 2012). P6 noted that the most effective strategy that can affect or improve financial performance is succession planning. P3 confirmed that the most effective strategy for corporate financial leaders to improve financial is succession planning. The existing literature of Garg and Van Weele confirmed that succession planning would impact financial institutions' decisions about the growth and continuity of the organization. P6 stressed that there are specified tenor for office holders both at the board level and the management level in Nigeria code of corporate governance, and the bank must comply with the regulatory directives.

P6 stated, "An Africa adage said that, a new broom sweeps better; if someone has been in the office for 20 years and he is still there not leaving, the tendency to run out of ideas is very high." The participant explained that where there is a good succession planning, a new person would come on board with new ideas, which most often improves financial performance because the new person would want the success ascribed to tenure.

Garg and Van Weele (2012) explained that shareholders monitor the quality of the next

group of management and its readiness to drive the organization to new pinnacles. The code of corporate governance stipulates that the board must ensure that there is a succession plan in place for management, executives, and senior management officers of the banks (CBN, 2014). Succession planning should be a strategic focus of the board to ensure that the incoming executives are prepared for the role ahead of them to avoid a vacuum in the business and to ensure sustainability for investors' patronage. Garg and Van Weele found that executing a proper succession plan is key to confirming that boards have considered all parts of the organization. Corporate governance accomplishes an essential function for the stability and growth of banks (Zagorchev & Gao, 2015).

The participants' assertion on board structure aligned with agency theory and literature on corporate governance on board structure. Zagorchev and Gao (2015) found that the unhealthy outcome of the financial crisis could have been lessened if financial institutions had implemented strong adequate governance mechanisms and improved clear governance structures. Pandya (2013) concluded that board structures involving executive and independent directors with different expertise and different experience are acknowledged for their influence in the organization. Independent directors are doubtful not to align with management against the investors' interest (Al-Saidi & Al-Shammari, 2013). Al-Saidi and Al-Shammari argued that a board with controlling members as independent directors may put executive management in check to reduce the personal conduct of the managing director and give strategic supervision, resulting in enhanced financial performance. Wawuru (2014) stated that the independent director's

responsibility is to ensure that management are liable to the investor and that investors' interests are safeguarded.

Seventy percent of the participants discussed the need for independent directors on the board of the banks in the integration of regulatory compliance. However, there has been inconclusive research on the impact of board independence on financial performance (Adegbite, 2012). P2 noted that the bank management must ensure the independent directors on that board are actually independent of management, to prove there is credible management in place to strengthen regulatory compliance, which will enhance the profitability and the going concern status of the organization. P5 expressed that independent director is everything, not just profit; (a) someone who has a duty to ensure whatever banks are discussing at the board level is addressing the issues of corporate governance code, (b) individual who is not a shareholder, and (c) someone who does not enjoy loan facility in the bank. P5 concluded that the independent director is there to ensure that whatever banks are doing or discussing must be in line with the corporate governance with a duty to report to the regulator. The assertion of the participants aligned with literature of Wahba (2015) boards dominated of independent directors make lesser provision for delinquent loans. Grounded in agency theory, Wahba noted that in accordance with agency theory, boards composed of a high number of independent directors might effectively monitor the management.

P4 noted that board appraisal should be done by an external body that is not the auditor, in order to see how effective the board is over the years. P3 stated that having independent board members is challenging to the corporate financial leaders. The

participant explained that the whole essence of having an independent board is to have an independent judgment from someone without any strong ties, whether emotional ties, financial ties, and any other ties to the institutions, to dispassionately express their opinion. P2 explained that having an effective measure of evaluating the board by an independent third party is a critical factor in mitigating regulatory noncompliance concerning corporate governance. The independent director enables the board to have a scoring mechanism that show the board its areas of weakness regarding enforcing corporate governance reporting, because the responsibility for enforcing corporate governance rests with the board. P10 emphasized that with a good structure, there should be self-check to ensure the bank is not going aboard, the other way around, beyond set goals, or overboard. The bank should have internal mechanisms that should be able to checkmate when going towards the wrong direction to return to the right direction. Where the banks failed to do self-check, then the external parties would point to the weaknesses of the organization, which might threaten the existence of the bank as a corporate entity. The perception of the participants aligned with exiting literature that independence is an ethical quality desired for a board of directors to avert connivance or personal interest (Biondi & Reberioux, 2012).

The participants contributed to the view that independent directors on the board of the financial institution would curb the personal interest of the management. The founder of agency theory recommended that boards controlled by independent directors may lessen the agency problem by checking and monitoring the unprincipled conduct of executives to guarantee investors' interests (Waweru, 2014). Ujunwa (2012) explored the

domination of the agency theory in corporate governance, and concluded that board efficiency is the capability of boards to act separately from executives to safeguard investors' interest. Lee and Isa (2015) stated that an independent director on the board may effect efficient corporate governance. Independent directors are likely to be unbiased in their responsibilities and can efficiently supervise the executives (Lee & Isa, 2015). The presence of committees and the independence of their representatives is anticipated to enhance risk management, with corporate governance (Dedu & Chitan, 2013).

The board of directors in Nigerian banks should consist of persons with various expertises, such as higher education and corporate professionalism (Ujunwa, 2012). Ntayi et al. (2013) found that board governance and collective knowledge of the individuals are main drivers of organizations' financial performance. Darmandi (2013) stated that in order to manage professional jobs, organizations need to recruit board of directors, including a managing director with a certain degree of competence. Darmandi found that educational qualification should not be the only criterion to appoint members of a board of directors, but that they should be chosen based on other factors such as professionalism, supervisory skills, networking, and other skills gained outside of school. Berger, Kick, and Schaerk (2012) found that highly educated executives use practical risk management expertise and improve business designs properly. To safeguard the efficient integrity of financial institutions, an extensive variety of professional competency is necessary (Capriglione & Casalino, 2014).

P4 noted the quality of the board is very critical, and the regulator appraise individual board members, on their abilities, experience and fitness test are conducted to

ascertain the that individual are qualified to sit on the board of a financial institution. The participant stated the board is expected to be diverse and knowledgeable, in addition contribute to the development of policies, principles, and procedures for the organization to thrive so that its corporate objective are achieved. P3 noted that the board appoints the CEO, appoints the key persons, and sets the general direction. P6 explained that anyone seeking for position of managing director of a bank, an executive director or general manager, must have qualifications before such a person can be appointed, including the chief of internal audit or chief of compliance.

P7 indicated the need to get corporate governance experts on board. P8 expressed that banks may promote compliance by having qualified people on their board, knowing that the regulators would always check to ensure that they are fit and proper to handle the position. P1 confirmed that the committee created such as risk management, audit committees, and other committees at the board must be headed by well-knowledgeable people, to ensure value added to whatever decisions taken on the job. P6 stated that to improve financial performance, corporate financial leaders must have adequate knowledge of the business. The presence of experienced and reliable executives and personnel in the organization will give shareholders confidence and improve the attraction of interested parties to the business with more bargaining power (Garg & Van Weele, 2012).

P2 asserted that the most effective strategy to enhance financial performance comes from having the appropriate personnel in strategic offices in the organization. Proper fit of the executives, key administrators, and major owner of the banks are

important (Hopt, 2013). Jassaud (2014) asserted that fit assessments for bank management positions should become the standard. Regulation should be reinforced to ensure that persons who have been penalized in other industries are disqualified from being on the board of directors of a financial institution (Jassaud, 2014). P2 noted that the basic way financial leaders could affect bank performance is through having a fit and proper person to lead the sensitive areas of institutions. To achieve this, the governance committee that is in charge of nominating people to these positions must list people that are fit and proper. Personal uprightness and fitness should be key standards for hiring bank management, in order to guarantee that the board of directors performs effectively (Capriglione & Casalino, 2014). P8 emphasized that if the financial leaders of financial institutions are qualified, suitable, and are fit and proper, the performance of the institutions would likely be positively impacted.

P10 stated that at the selection, checking is very critical for the listed person to go through the fit and proper tests, set by the regulators, and security agencies. To manage a bank, or be an executive director of a bank, the person must go through a lot of processes. The participant further explained that regulators check candidate's references, check everything, so, at the selection level, appointing the right person is fundamental and definitely, the leader would have clear key performance indicators of expectations and the deliveries that will determine remuneration of the selected person. The participants' assertion aligned with Capriglione and Casalino (2014) who stated that the advocacy of corporate governance faces several challenges, which include recruiting the right people to function on boards and management, considering the intricacy of the business settings

and new financial offerings. P8 confirmed that one of the critical factors in mitigating regulatory noncompliance with regard to corporate governance is having the right people in the right place. The participants noted that the appointment of a qualified people with the requisite qualification, the requisite experience, would definitely ensure compliance with regulatory requirements.

P2 stated that the strength of the governance committee enables them to nominate proper persons to be members of the audit committee. The participant stressed that the strength and quality of the board goes hand in hand with enacting strong policies and ensuring that reports from the audit committees are effectively implemented. P1 noted that most of the committees could only be handled by professional people with accounting backgrounds; other financial backgrounds and retired bank officers. P8 explained that the previous experience in the banking industry is a lesson believed to force the leaders of such financial institutions to adopt and ensure compliance by having stronger audit committee, and committees with qualified people serving on those committees.

Capriglione and Casalino (2014) confirmed that fit and proper checks are essential for the financial institutions, both at the appointment of directors and as a foundation. P6 stated that one of the critical factors in mitigating regulatory noncompliance is people. The participant expressed that some individuals that may find adoption of codes difficult to comply with regulations. The appointment of such individual into a high office would mitigate compliance, so people with personal qualities is very critical to meet regulatory requirement. If a naturally dishonest person, someone

that lacks integrity, or is used to breaking the rules with impunity and getting away with rules are appointed at the helms of affairs of an organization, such individual would not see the need to adhere to corporate governance and that would cause problems.

P6 informed that the corporate governance code stipulates that in banks, the chairman cannot be the managing director. There must be resources in place to ensure that a bank has a chairman and managing director that are suitably qualified to perform their functions separately. Abels and Martelli (2013) stated that the managing director should be creative and be striving, but must regard rules and be enthusiastic to work with the team. Abels and Martelli also noted that the organizational chairman requires great honesty, leadership abilities, and no ambition to assume the managing director position, which in turn encourages a competent adviser as managing director.

The conceptual basis for this study, agency theory, proposes that executives in corporations can act in personal interest. Kumar and Singh (2012) found board governance to be fundamental for organizations' financial performance, because the board of directors can function as an adequate internal mechanism for monitoring the supposed self-interest of executives where there are no outside control mechanisms in emerging markets. Agency theory was appropriate for exploring the theme of board governance, because of the boards' efficiency of guaranteeing organizations' expected performance on behalf of the shareholders (Nkundabanyanga et al., 2013). Waweru (2014) found that good standard governance might be a requirement for profitable business. A key responsibility of the board is to control possible conflicts of interest

concerning executives, directors, and investors, including misappropriation of company resources and immoderate related party dealings (Albu & Girbina, 2015).

### **Emergent Theme 3: The need for Strategic Risk Management and Internal Control**

As the board of directors check and manage the governance of the organization, quality corporate governance practices also necessitate the executive management to communicate on the position of internal control and risk management to the board. A sound risk management system does not aim to merely avoid financial losses, but also to ensure that the bank accomplishes its financial performance with consistency and stability (Mokni, Echchabi, & Rajhi, 2015). Financial performance is a crucial check to consider the efficiency of risk management (Mokni et al., 2015). Appropriate corporate governance implementation with good risk management directed to crisis causes provides the opportunity to reduce failure in the banking industry (Quaresima, Pereira, & Dias, 2013). Outside of obedience to quality corporate governance values, organizations identify the significance of internal control structure and risk management, which are also considered effective mechanisms for safeguarding the overall accomplishment of the goals of the organization (Abdul-Aziz, 2013).

Participants revealed that corporate financial leaders must give great attention to risk management to achieve the ultimate goal of the business. P2 noted that good risk management frameworks would enhance financial performance. P3 asserted that in banking, some other things are absolutely critical, such as risk management. P4 revealed that if an organization does not have an effective risk system, there is no way the organization can ensure that risks are identified, measured, and mitigated. The participant

identified effective risk management as a mitigating factor to achieve financial performance. P7 noted that risk is a mitigating factor for non-compliance just to get financial gain. P6 stated that the insiders are those that will kill the business. As a result, everything that concerns the business must be executed at arm's length. The participants stated that the issue of corporate governance in the banking industry came about due to bad risk decisions by the corporate financial leaders and the insider participation in lending to executives without adequate collateral. As a result, the participants stated that there is a need for lower risk appetite to avoid further crises in the financial sector.

The participants' views aligned with Tan (2014) who asserted that risk management is a key element in the management activities of a bank due to its direct link to the concern, soundness, and financial performance of the banks. Tan further stressed that solid governance presents a strong basis to provide effective risk management. Participants revealed that excessive risk taking of the corporate financial leaders had led to the collapse of financial institutions in Nigeria. P6 expressed that there were some instances in the past where managing directors of banks assigned loans to themselves and their cronies without disclosing that they were interested parties. The participants stressed further that such loans affected the performing loans of the institution, which impacted on the capital adequacy ratio and the shareholders' fund of the banks. P3 emphasized that there are things in the financial market that the regulators still grapple with, such as related party transactions and conflicts of interest.

The issues of nonperforming loans related party transactions, and conflicts of interest were vital parts of the corporate governance issues that affected the Nigerian

banking industry during the financial crisis. The findings from the participants revealed that there are still issues related to risk management and internal control in the financial industry. Corporate financial leaders need to have a clear understanding of risk management and internal control, and be attentive to managing all risk that could affect the performance of the banks. The perception of the participants is consistent with the findings of Zupanovic (2014) who studied the concept of risk management and found that all aspects of banking business activities involve risk. The findings confirmed the perception of the participants that effective risk management enhances performance of banks. The need for effectiveness of proper risk management objective and internal control is evidenced in the code of corporate governance for banks to embrace adequate risk management.

The assertion of the code was confirmed by the participants as well as by Bilal, Talib, and Khan (2013) who advocated effective risk management in the banking industry. P5 stated that in setting risk appetite or risk tolerance, banks must ensure that all transactions are in line with compliance to corporate governance code as set by the regulators. Bezzina, Grima, and Mamo (2014) noted that risk appetite is inclined with transaction opening, undertaking of directions, and the tolerance positions of the organization's recognized risks. P2 noted that risk management should not only be at the individual and departmental levels, risk management should also be at the enterprise level. P4 stressed that regulators have mandated that all banks in Nigeria have an enterprise risk management system to achieve best practices. Risk management is an integral part of monitoring the banks' business to comply with governance policies.

Researchers confirmed that risk management is a constant and cautious practice for banks (Mokni et al., 2015). Banks must often be practical, putting in place and efficiently supervising the entire risk related to the banking industry (Mokni et al., 2015). Mokni et al. found that risk management in financial institutions is not just a set of procedures and representations, but a practice of risk-taking is needed within the system. Bezzina et al. (2014) confirmed that the restoration of the financial industry would require the execution of an effective supervision structure, robust governance, and a continuously enhanced risk management framework. P10 stressed that on the operation side, the banks should have risk management committees, and that the operational risk should be defined at the CBN level and corporate level.

The assertion of P10 aligned with the findings of Bezzina et al. (2014) that effective risk management implementation needs strategic and corporate-level drivers, as well as educated leaders who can incorporate the precise values at all stages of the business. P1 emphasized the need for risk management committees to look at the kind of business that a particular bank can enter to avoid those risky areas, which may create a failure of the bank. P3 argued that there's no credible board leadership in Nigerian financial institutions that does not have interest in risk management. Ajibo (2015) found that to enhance adequate risk management practices in Nigerian banks, directors and executives must incorporate and comply to the Code of Corporate Governance principles with reverence to risk management.

The amended Code of Corporate Governance confirmed that every bank must have a risk management system stipulating governance structure, strategies, techniques, as well as recognition, assessing, supervising, and controlling the risk integral in its operations. The document revealed that boards of directors are answerable for the banks' strategies on risk oversight, and that executives have established and executed solid risk management and internal control. P4 emphasized that for a corporate financial leader to affect banks' performance, there should be proper accounting and internal control system. The executives of banks have significant parts to play in establishing a thorough internal control structure in their banks and ensuring that established procedures are revised frequently (Lambe, 2014).

The 2014 Code of Corporate Governance stated that the risk management strategies of the banks should reveal the banks' risk outline and appetite, and describe the components of risk management and internal control. The exiting literature of corporate governance confirmed the assertion of the participants. Abdul-Aziz (2013) found that by diligently conforming to a legal structure that strengthens adequate governance, internal control, and risk management, organizations would gain immense profits. The profit will stream from effective practices that will improve competencies, effective administration, management, and the entire corporation's capability to generate worth and eventually boost investors' wealth (Abdul-Aziz, 2013). Quaresima et al. (2013) stated that to guarantee appropriate execution of risk management and to monitor banks, the integrated risk management practices of Basel Agreement I and Basel Agreement II would lessen the event and reduce the consequences of risks.

To reduce agency issues in the financial industry, which is the underlying expectation of the agency theory that grounded this study, integration of risk

management, is essential (Quaresima et al., 2013). Corporate financial leaders should integrate strategic risk management and internal control into their governance structure to protect the banks from possible future collapse and appoint a chief risk management officer who will report directly to the board. Aebi, Sabato, and Schmid (2012) concluded that for banks to be exceptionally organized to experience future financial upheaval, the banks must seriously enhance the quality and characteristics of their risk management role, and entrench suitable risk governance. Banks must employ managing directors and chief risk officers on the same level, with the duo reporting directly to the board of directors (Aebi et al., 2012).

# Emergent Theme 4: The need for Training, Education, and Awareness on Best Practices

All participants discussed education, training, and awareness of the best practices to improve knowledge and enhance financial performance. The reviewed documents showed that training has become essential for the corporate financial leaders to improve their knowledge of corporate governance and enhance financial performance. Ameeq-ui-Ameeq and Hanif (2013) noted that training is an essential factor in organizations' performance. Jimoh and Iyoha (2015) recommended good training programs that keep leaders' skills up to date with regulatory commitment. P2 stressed that most corporate leaders require more training to bring up their knowledge of corporate governance performance. P3 noted that the CBN has put in place training programs on corporate governance, which is a form of engagement, for understanding and compliance of the bank leaders with regulatory requirement. P7 stated that chattel of corporate governance

needs to be cascaded to lower levels of management and staff in the organization and improves staff interest through training. These processes become mitigated factors, which helps to reduce the effects of non-compliance.

P1 confirmed that regulators train the corporate financial leaders on how to improve the activities of their corporate governance as far as performance is concerned. P3 stated that no person could gain knowledge through aspiration; leaders must seek knowledge. P4 expressed that the board members are supposed to have a minimum amount of training to build their capacity and improve their knowledge of the business in order to contribute effectively to the business of the organization. P5 and P9 emphasized that training is key to enhanced financial performance. P6 confirmed that corporate financial leaders must continue to train and be retrained to keep abreast with good knowledge of corporate governance, to enhance financial performance. P4 noted that corporate financial leaders can integrate regulatory compliance with their strategy to improve financial performance by bridging the skill gap in terms of capacity, improving knowledge on the job, increase revenues, how to curtail waste and ensure that banks remain profitable and sustainable in the future. Garg and Van Weele (2012) stated that professionalism improvement is of vital significance to succession progress, because new growing leaders require the appropriate training and growth to function as the new frontrunners in an organization.

P6 noted, "If an individual was a chief financial officer in 2011, and has not been trained on new guidelines of international financial reporting standards, then he would not be able to perform." The participant further stated that the financial performance of

such an organization would be adversely affected. P7 stressed that only training improves knowledge. P9 confirmed the assertion that the most obvious solution is training. P4 emphasized that there should be a clear training and capacity building program for the board members. Capriglione and Casalino (2014) stated that management and executives' competence should be improved by continuing training courses that underline the proficient, principled, and practical pressure thrust by the growing multifaceted business practices. The participants stated that although corporate governance is an over-flogged subject, every organization must always strive to keep improving and trying to be better. The participants indicated that there is always something to improve upon, such as training and organizational learning, which should be part and parcel of the organization.

Each of the participants expressed that training people on corporate governance is key. P10 confirmed that knowledge is key in everything. All the participants expressed the same perception on how corporate financial leaders can improve their knowledge to enhance financial performance. Training can involve experience on task or outside training (Ameeq-ui-Ameeq & Hanif, 2013). The existing literature confirmed P10's assertion that there are different ways of acquiring the knowledge, experience, networking, and trainings such as attending trainings in international or local institutions like Harvard Business School, Lagos Business School, and the Institute of Directors. Board of directors and executives may think training is not for their level; however, corporate governance structure within the system is deficient, and so are professional trainers outside (Capriglione & Casalino, 2014). P10 emphasized that to assume management positions, such a person must have gone through some levels of trainings to

acquire enough training to be a good leader and to run an organization. Simpson (2014) stated that the board of directors requires diverse skills and a high level of knowledge in order to handle business concerns and assess executive management performance.

The findings from the participants aligned with the code of corporate governance that the board shall determine the skills, knowledge, and experience that members require to work effectively as a team to achieve the bank's objectives (CBN, 2014). Some of the banks' annual reports did not specify the training of the directors or executives, but only revealed the capacity building of the banks to improve the competency of their employee to develop competence in working with their line managers for a competitive advantage in the market. The findings indicated that corporate financial leaders should create trainings to improve their knowledge for enhanced financial performance. Training regularly produces improvement and assists organizations in achieving their objectives. Capriglione and Casalino (2014) noted that continued supervision of board proficiencies is crucial to ensure that people recruited on the boards have the relevant competencies and continue to perform productively. To effectively compete in a complicated and fast-moving environment, directors and executives require steady access to modernized knowledge capitals throughout their employment (Capriglione & Casalino, 2014).

Berger et al. (2014) found that well-educated directors use more cultured risk management procedures and regulate the business ideals appropriately. P5 stated that corporate governance involves acting on the job, the execution of task in the office about certain responsibilities. P6 argued that for corporate financial leaders to improve their knowledge on corporate governance and enhance financial performance, the first priority

is education. P6 also noted training as part of a way to improve knowledge of corporate governance to enhance financial performance, but emphasized education. The participant noted that before the publication of the corporate governance code, every bank was doing business in their preferred ways; such that MD would be the chairman, mother would be the MD and two of the children would be executive directors, one would be non-executive director and these are publicly quoted companies.

The participants informed that the introduction of corporate governance code has stopped such an act in the banking industry. However, there may be some smaller companies whose leaders may not be aware of the provisions of the code corporate governance and so such business would be mismanaged. O'Neill (2015) emphasized that education with respect to rules and code is a vital aspect of firm's supervisory governance system. The most important in the financial industry is to improve knowledge and corporate financial leaders must be educated on the best practices of corporate governance. The room of education is never filled up, even when one is educated initially, the corporate world is changing, and is dynamic, so there is need for improvement, training, retraining or re-education. Having several controls for education enables conformity to be precisely well thought out at the right time in the situation of staff turnover and lifetime of a firm (O'Neill, 2015).

The need for corporate financial leaders to be educated on corporate governance and have the requisites to assume an executive position is important to the financial performance of the bank. Uneducated corporate financial leaders may make wrong decisions that could adversely impact the organization. With appropriate education,

corporate financial leaders can reduce noncompliance to corporate governance by ensuring that decisions are in line with the banks' objectives. P10 stated that minimum education is required for anyone seeking an executive position. Education should be relevant to corporate financial leaders' duty to function effectively on the job and contribute to the business goals of the organization. Corporate financial leaders must have in-depth knowledge of corporate governance for proper guidance towards implementation of compliance.

In the integration of regulatory compliance to achieve corporate governance best practices, P6 noted that executives could act improperly if they are not well educated on what to do. The participant further expressed that when corporate financial leaders are well educated and experience in the code of corporate governance, complying with corporate governance practices would not be difficult. The findings aligned with the archival documents, which revealed that higher education is a criterion to assume an executive position in the financial industry. The existing literature of Berger et al. (2014) confirmed the participant's assertion on the educational level of the management and board of directors. Berger et al. found that directors with higher degrees exhibit reduced risk taking.

The findings indicated that the educational level of the corporate financial leaders is a critical factor to effectively implement corporate governance for best practices for enhanced financial performance. The findings also indicated that board and management need to correct the process of hiring, by ensuring that corporate financial leaders with relevant education are chosen to handle a position of authority for better representation of

the organization and improved performance. Boards and management must ensure that they update their knowledge on the modern ideas in their field of study. Archival documents reviewed revealed that the CBN and SEC have recommended trainings for board of director and management of banks to update their knowledge on best practices in the banking industry. CBN and SEC as a regulators' have also embarked on trainings and seminars to improve the expertise and knowledge of the bank directors in ensuring sound banking system in Nigeria. Mastering best practices processes in Nigeria banking industry will ensure adequate corporate governance and enhanced financial performance.

Corporate leaders have to select from a variety of leadership improvement tools (Tourish, 2012). The choices include improvement programs and courses both internal and external; 360-degree achievement assessment; training; teaching; interacting; job tasks; and action enlightenment (Tourish, 2012). All 10 participants confirmed that corporate financial leaders need to improve their knowledge of corporate governance to enhance financial performance by learning from what other jurisdictions are doing. P5 stated that corporate financial leaders need to benchmark their practices with that of the outside world to share ideas. P6 stressed that there is the need for updating of knowledge so that corporate financial leaders can be abreast with modern day knowledge and best practice.

P7 stated that corporate financial leaders need conferences. The participant stressed that the corporate financial leaders need to get out and see how it's being done elsewhere, and compare notes with other competent jurisdictions such as U.S., Canada, the United Kingdom, and South Africa. P8 emphasized that through seminal courses on

corporate governance, knowledge sharing with other financial institutions across other jurisdictions, and working with experts in corporate governance, banks may enhance their financial performance. P9 expressed that looking at other countries and continued monitoring of developments in corporate governance in other jurisdictions would help the organization in improving its corporate governance. P8 added that the financial leaders could improve their performance with their interactions with the regulators.

The findings indicated that corporate financial leaders need to benchmark their practices with what is obtainable in the world of financial institutions. The corporate leaders must improve their activities by comparing notes and monitor development of corporate governance in countries that have stable financial systems. The review of best practices in other jurisdictions where strong corporate governance is effective should be the priority of the board and management for articulated strategy and compliance towards implementation of adequate governance in the banks.

### **Emergent Theme 5: The Need for Strategic and Effective Leadership**

Effective leadership is key to both strategy development and execution (Tourish, 2012). However, leadership's actions frequently drop below expectations (Tourish, 2012). Each of the participants discussed how leadership is important to enhance the financial performance of banks. For integration of best practices, P7 stated that there is a drive from the leadership of the banks to ensure that there is compliance. P5 explained, "If you don't set the right tone on the top, that means the fish is decaying from the head." The participant further noted that setting the right tone in leading by example will align every other person in the organization. If there is a corrupt leader in an organization,

corrupt leader will impact others. The participants emphasized that corporate financial leaders must "walk the talk." Omoijiade (2015) noted that the achievement of strong corporate governance in the Nigerian financial industry is reliant on the expansion of robust institutions with the capacity to limit the capability of the leadership.

P8 revealed that where there is bad leadership, the performance of the banks would be poor. P9 expressed that an organization not properly managed is almost doomed to fail. The participants noted that in applying one of Maxwell's laws, which is the law of the lid, an organization is almost only as good as its leader. The law of lid describes that the capacity and commitment of a person increases as the leadership skill multiplies (Sayed et al., 2014). The performance of a leader is enhanced normally as leadership skill improves with the same strength of commitment (Sayed et al., 2014). P6, P9, and P10 discussed issue of organizational collapse because of failure in corporate leadership such as Enron, WorldCom, and many companies and banks in Nigeria between 2008 and 2009 due to defecting corporate financial leaders. Issues of performance inadequacies, declines in performance, or total insolvency have been put against management leadership and corporate governance, especially in banks (Aliyu, Jamil, & Mohamed, 2014).

P9 stated that bad leadership has several negative implications. Poor leadership impacts on how the business makes money, the substratum of the business. This results in shareholders losing their funds, depositors losing their funds, and employees losing their employment. P10 revealed that if an organization has corporate leaders that are reckless, such would wreck the financial institution or any institution being managed. The

participant indicated that corporate financial leaders are very key to affect financial performance of a bank, they can sink or promote the institution at their end. Canals (2014) stated that leadership needs the capability to make appropriate timely decisions. Ujunwa et al. (2012) found that the board of directors contributes effectively to the strategic path and mechanism of an organization. P1 emphasized that corporate financial leaders can affect a bank's performance where there is issue of personal interest over that of the bank. P3 indicated that conflict of interest of the leaders could affect banks' performance.

Quick and Goolsby (2013) emphasized that conflicts of interest among the management and the corporation could result to complacency or self-defense. P6 noted that if corporate leaders have integrity, if they are honest, transparent, and are professionals in their dealing with others and with the institution on which they manage, then the business would be successful. P6 agreed with the findings of Martin et al. (2013), that a leader's integrity is more than just having solid ethical principles; rather, integrity includes acting on personal ethics and uprightness by personal moral principles. According to Quick and Goolsby (2013), integrity is the first key attribute of the best leaders and employees. Quick and Goolsby noted that the objective of integrity and principles in corporations is to support upright conduct amongst leaders and employees. Cetin, Karabay, and Efe (2012) stated that in the modern world, corporations must take part in the revolutionary process through the effective strategies employed by their leaders and management teams.

The leadership approach and competence of the leaders in the banks plays an important role in accomplishing banks' objectives (Centi et al., 2012). Martin et al. (2013) argued that leading with integrity includes sincerity to personal values, both openly and privately, and constantly proving these principles through personal actions. The conceptual framework for this study, agency theory stated that managers should act in the best interest of the owner and not on their own interest. P10 explained that the investors have entrusted the corporate financial leaders with the responsibility of managing the business and the company was set up not as a charitable organization, but as a profit making organization that will benefit all the stakeholders. The explanation of P10 confirmed the assertion of Warburton (2011) that corporate leaders carry considerable personal responsibility because of various agent principles.

Leadership is essential to the financial performance of banks. Each of the participants recounted how leadership affected the banks' financial performance, both positively and negatively. Strategic leadership in the banking industry impacts the best practices of corporate governance in banking, through working in the direction of the regulators and the management objectives. Leaders are process-oriented and work in line with their perception about the future by contributing consistently to the mission of the organization (Canals, 2014). The leadership of financial industry should focus on uprightness on the job and transparency when steering the affairs of the banks. P6 stated that non-transparency of corporate financial leaders in their dealing, would affect the banks' financial performance. Leaders in the financial industry must be transparent in their financial transactions and management responsibility in the organization. Nwagbara

(2012) found that Nigerian financial industry needs ethical leadership in providing effective mechanisms for expressing regulatory strategies that will mitigate corporate excesses.

Kaminski (2015) found that leadership and governance are considerably related with views of risk management efficiency. Kaminski further found that the practice of handling risk, executed appropriately, could be an indication of the personality of the leadership because personality proves a diligence, intelligence, truthfulness, uprightness, and also resolution to recognize and act on risks, many of which are uncertain. The theory grounding this study was agency theory. Agency theory, as described by Jensen and Meckling (1976), aligns closely to leadership in the financial industry by ensuring that managers work in the best interest of the business to maximize investors' wealth. The leaders can only achieve this where the conflict of interest is removed to ensure transparency, honesty, and integrity in their managerial position by channeling the resources of the organization appropriately. The findings from Jensen and Meckling aligned with the participants' descriptions of leadership.

#### **Application to Professional Practice**

My findings, conclusions, and recommendations could provide possible solutions to the strategies corporate financial leaders need to reduce noncompliance to corporate governance and enhance their financial performance. Corporate financial leaders can use the application of this information to (a) hire a fit and proper person into the management and board of the banks; (b) hire a compliance officer to ensure effective implementation of code of corporate governance with direct report to the board; (c) hire educated,

experienced directors who would be trained both locally and internationally on awareness of best practices; (d) ensure appropriate board governance; (e) implement an effective risk management and internal control processes; and (f) plan the successions of the managing director and other board members.

Regulators may implement stricter code for the effectiveness of corporate governance in the financial industry. The regulator must effectively monitor the practices and the implementation of the codes by the board and management. Stricter sanctions and fines should be given to erring management, directors, and their institutions to communicate to other banks that governance is present in the Nigerian banking industry. Senior management of regulatory authorities and corporate financial leaders have expressed that corporate financial leaders need to adhere to the code of corporate governance governing their operations in Nigeria and to learn from other countries' best practices to protect investors and attract new investments for enhancing financial performance. Findings from this study suggested that corporate financial leaders need to imbibe the spirit of the code of corporate governance for its effective implementation in the banks they manage.

Corporate financial leaders could consider consolidating existing risk management practices to reduce risk embedded in their business, improve shareholders returns, and enhance financial performance. The absence of the fit and proper personality is a challenge to any board. Corporate financial leaders should hire competent corporate leaders, train and educate them on new skills to fill the knowledge gap of best practices, and maintain capacity building in the banks. Corporate financial leaders may use

corporate governance as an effective mechanism for achieving appropriate board governance, effective leadership, and improved strategic risk management and internal control. Interviewee responses in this study indicated that compliance has been on an upward swing since after the financial crisis, but there are still issues of corporate governance within the banks. The regulators need to improve their monitoring tools for full implementation of corporate governance code for the stability of the financial industry in Nigeria. Corporate financial leaders must make conscious efforts to gain knowledge of corporate governance code regarding their operations, understand factors that lead to competitive advantages in the industry, and plan strategies that will assist their organizations' sustainability. Corporate financial leaders and regulators may find the themes of this study useful in (a) the need for improvement on compliance to corporate governance regulations; (b) the need for effective board governance; (c) the need for risk management and internal control; (d) the need for training, education, and awareness on best practices; and (e) the need for strategic leadership to drive enhanced financial performance in Nigerian financial institutions.

With compliance to code of corporate governance, banks must have proper personality fits among the board, which will result in appropriate board governance. The effectiveness of the board will result in separation of power, where the managing director and the chairman will not have the same role; this will ensure that there are independent opinions on the board to serve as a check to the board and management. Various committees look at all the business and operation of the banks with oversight functions over one another to ensure compliance and the eventual financial performance of the

banks. The integrity, honesty, and transparency of the leadership of the banks are critical to the bank's financial performance. The spirit of compliance to regulations should flow naturally from the leadership of the banks. This action will enable sound strategic risk management and internal control, which will bring about control of risk appetite and the culture of compliance in the banks that harms investors. The skills, capacity, and awareness of the corporate governance—both within and outside the country—will improve the bank networks and bring about appropriate strategies to drive the business towards meeting regulatory compliance and to enhance financial performance. The cause of poor governance in Nigerian financial industry must be adequately addressed to bring the industry to international standard for enhanced financial performance.

# **Implications to Social Change**

The implications to social change include effective strategies that corporate financial leaders may use for compliance to good corporate governance and enhance financial performance. These strategies may have positive effects on the investors and the public who have increasingly relied on financial services in Nigeria to support personal and business goals to identify banks with best practices. This information might be useful for corporate financial leaders to improve good corporate governance, ethical leadership, and ethical behavior for best practices to reduce corporate financial misconduct, excessive risk taking, and bad governance in the Nigerian banking industry. The effect of the findings on Nigeria's economic growth and development might be valuable through significant ethical values, transparency and compliance to best practices. The findings may allay corporate governance concerns of the society for improved bank patronage,

strong shareholders' and depositors' protection and attract international investors, thereby influencing the economic growth and development of the community through job creation, business opportunities and access to financial assistance from financial institutions with best practices.

#### **Recommendations for Action**

Corporate financial leaders may consider evaluating their strategies against the themes discussed in this study. Corporate financial leaders need corporate governance strategies for sustainability, a competitive advantage, and improved patronage from reputable investors within and outside their jurisdictions to enhance financial performance. If there are no effective corporate governance strategies in a financial institution, the management and the board should develop the most effective corporate governance strategies for compliance to regulations in that bank. If corporate financial leaders decide to implement corporate governance strategies, they should consider evaluating them against best practices in the banking industry, as specified and recommended in codes and literature. The board should consider effective board governance to ensure appropriate board structure and board quality to support corporate governance strategies. Corporate financial leaders should work on board quality by hiring fit and proper board members in line with the code of corporate governance in order to ensure that corporate governance strategies are aligned with the business objective of the banks. The regulators should improve monitoring of compliance in the banks through intensive monitoring to ensure adequate corporate governance in the banks. Compliance should be designed beyond requesting the banks if they have complied, compliance

should be on how have the bank leaders complied with the regulatory code of corporate governance to make governance effective in the banking industry.

Findings from my study are essential to corporate financial leaders and regulators. The application of the effective corporate governance strategies may allow the corporate financial leaders to use stable mechanisms to effectively comply and implement corporate governance strategies and enhance financial performance. Moreover, all financial institution stakeholders involved in corporate governance may be interested in the findings of this study. The findings may be particularly beneficial to investors and depositors, by exposing strategies that corporate financial leaders may have in place to ensure implementation and compliance to corporate governance. I will disseminate the results of the study through conferences, scholarly journals, and business journals. I may circulate the outcome of this study through trainings and seminars regarding corporate governance strategies that corporate financial leaders need to enhance financial performance.

#### **Recommendation for Further Research**

Researchers should consider the results and conclusions of this study in further research. For instance, more research can focus on comparing the strategies of banks that have complied with corporate governance in Nigeria with other countries that have employed best practices to make governance effective in their organizations. Future researchers should also study banks that have remained consistent in their financial performance, and examine the importance of compliance to corporate governance through quantitative approach. For example, future researchers should consider the

impact and benefit of compliance to corporate governance. Future researchers may focus on the specific themes identified within this study of: (a) the need for effective board governance; (b) the need for training, education, and awareness on best practices; (c) the need for improvement on compliance to corporate governance regulations; (d) the need for strategic risk management and internal control; and (e) the need for strategic and effective leadership.

### Reflections

I have learned much about corporate financial leaders and corporate governance, during my research, the hour I spent with the participants, and during my time in the Walden DBA program. I initially struggled to find participants who were willing to participate in the study, because of the sensitive position of the topic in the banking industry and the time involved, but I found 10 individuals who accepted my invitation and offered tremendous energy and insights. The participants were passionate, and I could see their enthusiasm and the motivation for effective corporate governance strategies and implementation in the financial industry in their responses. Planning and implementing this study has enlightened me on (a) how to conduct interviews and (b) how to use literature to expand my knowledge.

I planned to conduct the interview within 2 weeks and then commence the conclusion of the study, but when I started, the process became evident that more time may be required to complete the interview due to the timing of the participants. I had to follow up with the participants to confirm their willingness and participation in the study. All the participants sought for clarifications on the interview questions to have better

understanding of the research before each of the interviews took place. At the completion of the process, the participants were pleased to be part of the study. I underestimated the period of data collection, transcription, data analysis, and the process of putting the ideas and perception of the participants together to achieve the objective of the study. The data analysis process was a tedious phase of the research. Finding relevant literature to support the analysis of the perception of the participants became inevitable. The experiences from this study have strengthened and improved my research skills. The findings of this study exposed me to additional strategies and practices that I can utilize in ensuring effective corporate governance efforts.

## Conclusion

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore strategies that corporate financial leaders need to ensure compliance and reduce noncompliance for enhanced financial performance. The population for this study consisted of senior managers of regulatory authorities and corporate financial leaders in the Nigerian banking industry who had over 10 years of experience. Section 3 provided (a) a comprehensive discussion of the findings, (b) applications to professional practice, (c) the implications for social change, (d) recommendations for professional practice, (e) the implication for social change, and (f) recommendations for further studies.

My data sources included (a) participant interview data, (b) interview notes, (c) code of corporate governance and financial reports of banks, and (d) existing literature on corporate governance to triangulate and confirm the findings from the data. Data saturation occurred when I did not note new information emerging after member

checking. After I coded and analyzed the data, five primary themes were apparent: (a) the need for effective board governance; (b) the need for training, education, and awareness on best practices; (c) the need for improvement on compliance to corporate governance regulations; (d) the need for strategic risk management and internal control; and (e) the need for strategic and effective leadership. Agency theory provided the contextual foundation for this study. Agency theory aligns closely to exploring the corporate governance strategies that corporate financial leaders need to ensure compliance and enhance financial performance.

Findings from existing literature as well as the current study clearly showed that compliance to corporate governance is essential to enhance financial performance. With an improved dynamic global business environment, corporate financial leaders must continuously benchmark their performance to identify the skills and competencies needed to be aware of the best practices in the banking industry. Boards and management must execute board structures by ensuring that fit and proper personalities with adequate qualifications and experiences are given positions of authority. Banks must use appropriate caution not to assign significant unrestricted power to people that have a tendency to engage in dishonest actions (Lagzdins & Sloka, 2012). Corporate financial leaders should align corporate governance with their business strategies, business objectives, risk management, and internal control in order to improve compliance to regulations for best practices in the banking industry and enhance their financial performance.

#### References

- Abdul-Aziz, N.A. (2013). Managing corporate risk and achieving internal control through statutory compliance. *Journal of Financial Crime*, 20(1), 25-38. doi:10.1108/13590791311287328.
- Abels, P.B., & Martelli, J.T. (2013). CEO duality: How many hats are too many?

  \*Corporate Governance: The International Journal of Business in Society, 13(2), 135-147. doi:10.1108/14720701311316625.
- Aburime, T. U., Gannon, G. L., & Corrado, C. J. (2011). How long should bank CEOs continue? Evidence from Nigeria. *Social Science Research Network*, 1-137. doi:10.2139/ssrn.1970184
- Acharya, V., & Naqvi, H. (2012). The seeds of a crisis: A theory of bank liquidity and risk taking over the business cycle. *Journal of Financial Economics*, *106*, 349-366. doi:10.1016/j.jfineco.2012.05.014
- Achchuthan, S., & Kajananthan, R. (2013). Corporate governance practices and firm performance: Evidence from Sri Lanka. *European Journal of Business and Management*, *5*(1), 19-26. Retrieved from http://www.iiste.org/Journals/index.php/EJBM
- Adams, R. B. (2012). Governance and the financial crisis. *International Review of Finance*, 12(1), 7-38. doi:10.1111/j.1468-2443.2011.01147.x
- Adegbite, E. (2012). Corporate governance in the Nigerian banking industry: Towards governmental engagement. *International Journal of Business Governance and Ethics*, 7, 209-231. doi:10.1504/IJBGE.2012.050039

- Adegbite, E., & Nakajima, C. (2011). Corporate governance and responsibility in Nigeria. *International Journal of Disclosure and Governance*, 8, 252-271. doi:10.1057/jdg.2011.2
- Adegbite, E., Amaeshi, K., & Nakajima, C. (2013). Multiple influences on corporate governance practice in Nigeria: Agents, strategies, and implications. *International Business Review*, 22, 524-538. doi:10.1016/j.ibusrev.2012.07.006
- Adekoya, A. (2011). Corporate governance reforms in Nigeria: Challenges and suggested solutions. *Journal of Business Systems, Governance & Ethics*, 6, 38-50. doi:10.15209/jbsge.v6i1.198
- Adeleye, I. (2013). First bank of Nigeria: Reconstructing for higher performance: South Asian. *Journal of Business and Management Cases*, 2(1), 51-60. doi:10.1177/2277977913480658
- Adewale, A. (2013). Corporate governance: A comparative study of the corporate governance codes of a developing economy with developed economies. *Research Journal of Finance and Accounting*, 4, 65-77. Retrieved from http://iiste.org/Journals/index.php/RJFA
- Adewunmi, Y., Omirin, M., & Koleoso, H. (2012). Developing a sustainable approach to corporate FM in Nigeria. *Journal of Facilities Management*, *30*, 350-373. doi:10.1108/02632771211235206
- Adewuyi, A., & Olowookere, A., (2013). New corporate governance code and immediate performance change of Nigerian firms. *Corporate Governance*, *13*, 169-183. doi:10.1108/14720701311316643

- Adeyemi, A. (2011). An evaluation of corporate governance practices in Nigeria:

  Challenges and recommendations. *Social Science Research Network*, 1-17.

  doi:10.2139/ssrn.1648623
- Adeyemi. B. (2014). Corporate governance and agency: The Nigerian banking sector experience. *European Journal of Business and Management*, *6*, 18-28. doi:10.2139/ssrn.1537632
- Aebi, V., Sabato, G., & Schmid, M. (2012). Risk management, corporate governance, and bank performance in the financial crisis. *Journal of Banking & Finance, 36*, 3213-3226. Retrieved from http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378426611003104
- Agrawal, A., & Knoeber, C. R. (2013). Corporate governance and firm performance.

  Oxford Handbooks Online. doi:10.1093/oxfordhb/9780199782956.013.0022
- Agyemang, O. S., & Castellini, M. (2015). Corporate governance in an emergent economy: A case of Ghana. *Corporate Governance: The International Journal of Business in Society*, *15*, 7-44. doi:10.1108/CG-04-2013-0051
- Aguilera, R. V., Desender, K. A., & Kabbach-Castro, L. R. (2012.). Perspectives on comparative corporate governance. *SSRN Journal*. doi:10.2139/ssrn.1797142
- Ahrens, T., & Khalifa, R. (2013). Researching the lived experience of corporate governance. *Qualitative Research in Accounting & Management*, 10(1), 4-30. doi:10.1108/11766091311316176
- Ajao, M. G. & Festus, B. O. (2011). Appraisal of the global financial meltdown on the Nigerian money market. *International Journal of Economic and Finance*, *3*, 95-

- 105. doi:10.5539/ijef.v3n4p95
- Ajibo, K. I. (2015). Risk-based regulation: The future of Nigerian banking industry.

  \*International Journal of Law and Management, 57, 1-21. doi:10.1108/IJLMA-02-2014-0014
- Akingunola, R. O., Adekunle, O. A., & Adedipe, S. A. (2013). Corporate governance and banks performance in Nigeria (post-consolidation). *European Journal of Business and Social Science*, *2*, 89-111. Retrieved from http://www.ejbss.com/recent.aspx
- Akinkoye, E. Y., & Olasanmi, O. O. (2014). Corporate governance practice and level of compliance among firms in Nigeria: An analysis. *Journal of Business and Retail Management Research*, *9*(1), 13-25. Retrieved from http://www.jbrmr.com/
- Al Barrak, T. (2011) Value relevance and predictive ability of financial statement information: The case of Saudi Arabia (PhD thesis, University of Portsmouth).

  Retrieved from http://eprints.port.ac.uk/7744/
- Alabede, J. O. (2012). The intervening effect of global financial condition on the determinants of bank performance: Evidence from Nigeria. *Accounting and Finance Research*, *1*(2), 161-176. doi:10.5430/afr.v1n2p161
- Alao, O., & Raimai, L. (2011). Global economic meltdown and the role of financial institutions: Lessons from South Africa for policymakers in Nigeria. *Hanaomics*, 27, 201-211. doi:10.1108/08288661111165231
- Alawiye-Adams, A. A., & Afolabi, B. (2014). Asset management company of Nigeria:

  Matters arising. *Social Science Research Network*.1-25. doi:10.2139/ssrn.2436433
- Alberto, M. (2015). Professionalism in banking: The best root to recovery. *Aestimatio*,

- the International Journal of Finance, 10, 2-13. doi:10.5605/IEB.10.6
- Albu, N., & Girbina, M.M. (2015). Compliance with corporate government codes in emerging economies: How do Romanian listed companies "comply-or-explain"? *Corporate Governance, 15*(1), 85-107. doi:10.1108/CG-07-2013-0095
- Alleyne, P., Weekes-Marshall, D., & Broome, T. (2014). Accountants' perceptions of corporate governance in public limited liability companies in an emerging economy: Evidence from Barbados. *Meditari Accountancy Research*, 22(2), 186-210. doi:10.1108/MEDAR-09-2013-0039
- Ali, A., & Yusof, H. (2011). Quality in qualitative studies: The case of validity, reliability and generalizability. *Issues in Social and Environmental Accounting*, *5*, 25-64.

  Retrieved from http://www.iiste.org/Journals/index.php/ISEA/index
- Aliyu, N.S., Jamil, C.Z.M., & Mohamed, R. (2014). The mediating role of management control system in the relationship between corporate governance and the performance of bailed-out banks in Nigeria. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 164, 613-620. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.11.154
- Al Sayah, F., Szafran, O., Robertson, S., Bell, N. R., & Williams, B. (2014). Nursing perspectives on factors influencing interdisciplinary teamwork in the Canadian primary care setting. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, *23*, 2968-2979. doi:10.1111/jocn.12547
- Al-Saidi, M., & Al-Shammari, B. (2013). Board composition and bank performance in Kuwait: An empirical study. *Managerial Auditing Journal*, *28*, 472-494. doi:10.1108/02686901311329883

- Aluwihare-Samaranayake, D. (2012). Ethics in qualitative research: A view of participants' and researchers' world from a critical standpoint. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 11(2), 64-81. Retrieved from http://ejournals.library.ualberta.ca/index.php/IJQM/index
- Amah, E. (2012). Corporate culture and organizational effectiveness: A study of the Nigerian banking industry. *European Journal of Business and Management*, 4, 212-229. Retrieved from http://www.iiste.org/Journals/index.php/EJBM/article/viewFile/1949/2133
- Amah, E., & Ahiauzu, A. (2014). Shared values and organizational effectiveness: A study of the Nigerian banking industry. *Journal of Management Development*, *33*, 694-708. doi:10.1108/JMD-09-2010-0065
- Amran, A., Periasamy, V., & Zulkafli, A. H. (2014). Determinants of climate change disclosure by developed and emerging countries in Asia Pacific. *Sustainable Development*, 22, 188-204. doi:10.1002/sd.539
- Ameeq-ul-Ameeq, & Hanif, F. (2013). Impact of training on employees' development and performance in hotel industry of Lahore, Pakistan. *Journal of Business Studies Quarterly*, 4, 68-82. Retrieved from http://jbsq.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/06/June 2013 5.pdf
- Angelides, P., & Thomas, B. (2011). The financial crisis inquiry report: Final report of the National Commission on the Causes of the Financial and Economic Crisis in the United States. *Choice Reviews Online*, 48, 1-663. doi:10.5860/choice.48-7034

Aransiola, S. Y. (2013). The impact of consolidation on profitability of commercial banks

- in Nigeria. *Financial and Quantitative Analysis*, 1, 15-25. doi:10.12966/fqa.05.01.2013
- Agnihotri, A., & Bhattacharya, S. (2015). Whistleblowing policy disclosure: evidence from an Indian emerging market. *Corporate Governance*, *15*, 678-692. doi:10.1108/CG-05-2014-0057
- Atu, O. G., Adegbe, R., & Atu, O. O (2013). Internal control as a potential instrument for corporate governance. *Journal of Economic and Finance*, *2*, 66-70. doi:10.9790/5933-0266670
- Awotundun, D. A., Kehinde, J. S., & Somoye, R. O. C. (2011). Corporate governance and stakeholders' interest: A case of Nigerian banks. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 6, 102-111. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v6n10p102
- Ayandele, I. A., & Emmanuel, I. E. (2013). Corporate governance practices and challenges in Africa. *European Journal of Business and Management*, *5*, 51-59. Retrieved from http://iiste.org/Journals/index.php/EJBM
- Badele, C. S., & Fundeanu, D. (2014). Policy's beneficiaries of corporate governance and diversification strategy. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 124, 468-477. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.02.509
- Ballaro, J. M., & O'Neil, M. A. (2013). Transformational and transactional leadership behaviors: A phenomenological study of women executives in major league sports. *International Leadership Journal*, 45-106. Retrieved from http://www.tesc.edu
- Baker, C. A., & Moore, III, J. L. (2015). Experiences of underrepresented doctoral

- students in counselor education. *Journal for Multicultural Education*, *9*(2), 68–84. doi:10.1108/jme-11-2014-0036
- Bansal, P., & Corley, K. (2012). Publishing in AMJ-Part7: What's different about qualitative research? *Academy of Management Journal*, *55*, 509-513. doi:10.5465/amj.2012.4003
- Barratt, M., Choi, T. Y., & Li, M. (2011). Qualitative case studies in operations management: Trends, research outcomes, and future research implications.

  \*\*Journal of Operations Management, 29, 329-342. doi:10.1016/j.jom.2010.06.002
- Barusch, A., Gringeri, C., & George, M. (2011). Rigor in qualitative social work research: A review of strategies used in published articles. *Social Work Research*, *35*(1), 11-19. doi:10.1093/swr/35.1.11
- Becher, D. A., & Frye, M. B. (2011). Does regulation substitute or complement governance? *Journal of Banking & Finance*, *35*, 736-751. doi:10.1016/j.jbankfin.2010.09.003
- Bekhet, A. K., & Zauszniewski, J. A. (2012). Methodological triangulation: An approach to understanding data. *Nurse Researcher*, 20(2), 40-43. doi:10.7748/nr2012.11.20.2.40.c9442
- Bellavance, E. C., & Alexander, H. (2012). Ethical considerations in clinical research. *Annals of Surgical Oncology*, 19(2), 1-2. doi:10.1245/s10434-011-2143-z
- Ben, A. C. (2014). Corporate governance, principal-principal agency conflicts, and disclosure. *Journal of Applied Business Research (JABR)*, *30*(2), 419-432. http://www.cluteinstitute.com/ojs/index.php/JABR/article/view/8412

- Benbow, S., Kingston, P., Bhaumik, S., Black, S., Gangadharan, S., & Hardy, S. (2011). The interface between learning disability and old age psychiatry: Two specialties travelling alone or travelling together? *Mental Health Review Journal*, *16*(1), 25-35. doi:10.5042/mhrj.2011.0173
- Berger, A.N., Kick, T., & Schaek, K. (2014). Executive board composition and bank risk taking. *Journal of Corporate Finance*, 28(C), 48-65. Retrieved from http://econpapers.repec.org/article/eeecorfin/v\_3a28\_3ay\_3a2014\_3ai\_3ac\_3ap\_3 a48-65.htm
- Bezzina, F., Grima, S., & Mamo, J. (2014). Risk management practices adopted by financial firms in Malta. *Managerial Finance*, 40, 587-612. doi:10.1108/MF-08-2013-0209
- Biobele, B. S., Igbo, I. E., & John, E. F. (2013). The significance of international corporate governance disclosure of financial reporting in Nigeria. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 8, 100-106. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v8n8p100
- Bilal, A. R., Talib, N. B. A., & Khan, M. N. A. A. (2013). Remodeling of risk management in banking: Evidence from the sub-continent and gulf. *Journal of Risk Finance*, *14*, 468-489. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Mohd\_Noor\_Azli\_Ali\_Khan/publication/26 3215791\_Remodeling\_of\_risk\_management\_in\_banking\_evidence\_from\_the\_sub-continent\_and\_gulf/links/542aaf4b0cf27e39fa8f0467.pdf
- Blome, C., & Schoenherr, T. (2011). Supply chain risk management in financial crises: A multiple case-study approach. *International Journal of Production Economics*,

- 134(1), 43-57. doi:10.1016/j.ijpe.2011.01.002
- Bluhm, D. J., Harman, W., Lee, T. W., & Mitchell, T. R. (2011). Qualitative research in management: A decade of progress. *Journal of Management Studies*, 48, 1866-1891. doi:10.1111/j.1467-6486.2010.00972.x
- Bogers, M. (2011). The open innovation paradox: Knowledge sharing and protection in R&D collaborations. *European Journal of Innovation Management*, *14*(1), 93-117. doi:10.1108/14601061111104715
- Bolton, P., Brunnermeier, M. K., & Veldkamp, L. (2013). Leadership, coordination, and corporate culture. *Review of Economic Studies*, 80(2), 512-537. doi:10.1093/restud/rds041
- Bommel, V. K. (2014). Towards a legitimate compromise? An exploration of Integrated Reporting in the Netherlands. *Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal*, *27*, 1157-1189. doi:10.1108/AAAJ-04-2013-1309
- Boshkoska, M. (2015). Agency problem: Measures for its overcoming. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 10(1), 204-209. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v10n1p204
- Bøyum, I., & Aabø, S. (2015). The information practices of business PhD students. *New Library World*, *116*, 187-200. doi:10.1108/NLW-06-2014-0073
- Bozec, R., & Dia, M. (2012). Convergence of corporate governance practices in the post-Enron period: Behavioral transformation or box-checking exercise? *Corporate Governance: The International Journal of Business in Society*, *12*(2), 243-256.

  doi:10.1108/14720701211214115

- Brandas, C. (2011). Study on the support systems for corporate governance. *Informatica Economica*, 15, 55-63. Retrieved from http://revistaie.ase.ro
- Brandas, C. (2013). Formal representation of corporate governance principles and codes. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 73, 744-750.

  doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2013.02.113
- Biondi, Y., & Rebérioux, A. (2012). The governance of intangibles: Rethinking financial reporting and the board of directors. *Accounting Forum*, *36*, 279-293. doi:10.1016/j.accfor.2012.03.003
- Birindelli, G., & Ferretti, P. (2013). Compliance function in Italian banks: Organizational issues. *Journal of Financial Regulation and Compliance*, *21*, 217-240. doi:10.1108/JFRC-07-2012-0027
- Brown, C. O., & Dinc, I. S. (2011). Too many to fail? Evidence of regulatory forbearance when the banking sector is weak. *Review of Financial Studies*, *24*, 1378-1405. doi:10.1093/rfs/hhp039
- Bryman, A. (2012). Social research methods. London, England: Oxford University Press.
- Buchanan, W. L. (2013). Exploring sustainability: The key to corporate profitability in the 21st century (Doctoral dissertation). Available from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 3604426)
- Byford, M., & Davidson, S. (2013). Informing depositors: A proposed reform of the Australian banking sector. *Economic Papers: A Journal of Applied Economics and Policy*, 32, 417-425. doi:10.1111/1759-3441.12050
- Cachia, M., & Millward, L. (2011). The telephone medium and semistructured

interviews: A complementary fit. *Qualitative Research in Organizations and Management: An International Journal*, *6*, 265-277. doi:10.1108/17465641111188420

- Calandro, J. (2015). A leader's guide to strategic risk management. *Strategy & Leadership*, 43(1), 26-35. doi:10.1108/SL-11-2014-0082
- Camfield, L., & Palmer-Jones, R. (2013). Improving the quality of development research:

  What could archiving qualitative data for reanalysis and revisiting research sites

  contribute? *Progress in Development Studies*, 13, 323-338.

  doi:10.1177/1464993413490481
- Canals, J. (2014). Global leadership development, strategic alignment, and CEOs commitment. *Journal of Managerial Development*, *33*, 487-502. doi:10.1108/JMD-02-2014-0014
- Capriglione, F., & Casalino, N. (2014). Improving corporate governance and managerial skills in banking organizations. *International Journal of Advanced Corporate*Learning, 7, 17-27. doi:10.3991/ijac.v7i4.3993
- Carreta, A., Farina, V., & Schwizer, P. (2012). Assessing effectiveness and compliance of banking boards. *Journal of Financial Regulation and Compliance*, *18*, 356-369. doi:10.1108/13581981011093677
- Carenza, G. S. (2011). A phenomenological study of mindfulness of curriculum directors in a Midwest state. (Doctoral dissertation) Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses database. (UMI No. 3474865)
- Case, J. M., & Light, G. (2011). Emerging research methodologies in engineering

- education research. *Journal of Engineering Education*, *100*, 186-210. doi:10.1002/j.2168-9830.2011.tb00008.x
- Cavelaars, P., & Passenier, J. (2012). Follow the money: What does the literature on banking tell prudential supervisors about bank business model? *Journal of Financial Regulation and Compliance*, 20, 402-416.

  doi:10.1108/13581981211279354
- Cetin, M., Karabay, M. E., & Efe, M. N. (2012). The effects of leadership styles and the communication competency of the bank managers on the employee job satisfaction: The case of Turkish banks. *Journal of Social and Behavioral Sciences*, *58*, 227-235. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2012.09.996
- Chah, C., & Gupta, A. (2012). Corporate governance in banking sector. *Indian Journal of Applied Research*, *1*, 115-117. doi:10.15373/224955x/oct2012/41
- Chan, A. W., & Cheung, H. Y. (2012). Cultural dimensions, ethical sensitivity, and corporate governance. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *110*(1), 45-59. doi:10.1007/s10551-011-1146-9
- Chikweche, T., & Fletcher, R. (2012). Revisiting the marketing mix at the bottom of pyramid (BOP): From theoretical considerations to practical realities. *Journal of Consumer Marketing*, 29, 507-520. doi:10.1108/07363761211275018
- Chhillar, P., & Lellapalli, R. V. (2015). Divergence or convergence: paradoxes in corporate governance? *Corporate Governance*, *15*, 693-705. doi:10.1108/cg-05-2015-0066
- Chinaedu, D. B. (2011). Strict adherence to corporate governance in the Nigerian banking

- sector: The uncharted path. *Social Science Research Network*. doi:10.2139/ssrn.1922761
- Chirtareas, G. E., Girardone, C., & Ventouri, A. (2013). Financial freedom and bank efficiency: Evidence from the European Union. *Journal of Banking & Finance*, 37, 1223-1231. doi:10.1016/j.jbankfin.2012.11.015
- Choudrie, J., & Culkin, N. (2013). A qualitative study of innovation diffusion: The novel case of a small firm and KTP. *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise*Development, 20, 889-912. doi:10.1108/jsbed-03-2012-0047
- Christopher, M., Mena, C., Khan, O., & Yurt, O. (2011). Approaches to managing global sourcing risk. *Supply Chain Management: An International Journal*, *16*, 67-81. doi:10.1108/13598541111115338
- Cilesiz, S. (2011). A phenomenological approach to experience with technology: Current state, promise, and approach, and future directions for research. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, *59*, 487-510. doi:10.1007/s11423-010-9173-2
- Claessens, S., & Yurtoglu, B. B. (2013). Corporate governance in emerging markets: A survey. *Emerging Markets Review*, 15, 1-33. doi:10.1016/j.ememar.2012.03.002
- Clarke, M. (2015). To what extent a bad job? Employee perceptions of job quality in community aged care. *Employee Relations*, *37*, 192-208. doi:10.1108/ER-11-2013-0169
- Collins, C. S., & Cooper, J. E. (2014). Emotional intelligence and the qualitative researcher. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *13*, 88-103. Retrieved

- from http://ejournals.library.ualberta.ca/index.php/IJQM/index
- Connelly, B. L., Ketchen, D. J., & Slater, S. F. (2011). Toward a "theoretical toolbox" or sustainability research in marketing. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, *39*(1), 86-100. doi:10.1007/s11747-010-0199-0#
- Cook, L. D. (2011). Were the Nigerian banking reforms of 2005 a success and for the poor? *National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper Series*, No. 16890, 1-40. Retrieved from http://www.nber.org/papers/w16890
- Cook, A. F., & Hoas, H. (2011). Trading places: What the research participant can tell the investigator about informed consent. *Journal of Clinical Research and Bioethics*, 2, 1-7. doi:10.4172/2155-9627.1000121
- Crowe, S., Cresswell, K., Robertson, A., Huby, G., Avery, A., & Sheikh, A. (2011). The case study approach. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 11, 1-9. doi:10.1186/1471-2288-11-100
- Darmandi, S. (2013). Do women in top management affect firm performance: Evidence from Indonesia. *Corporate Governance: The International Journal of Business in Society, 13*, 288-304. doi:10.1108/CG-12-2010-0096
- Dawar, V. (2014). Agency theory, capital structure, and firm performance: Some Indian evidence. *Managerial Finance*, 40, 1190-1206. doi:10.1108/MF-10-2013-0275
- Dedu, V., & Chitan, G. (2013). The influence of internal corporate governance on bank performance: An empirical analysis for Romania. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 99, 1114-1123. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2013.10.585
- De Silva, T. A. (2011). Mixed methods: A reflection of its adoption in environmental

- reporting. *Qualitative Research in Accounting and Management*, 8, 91-104. doi:10.1108/11766091111124720
- Dembo, A. M., & Rasaratnam, S. (2014). Corporate governance and disclosure in Nigeria: An empirical study. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, *164*, 161-171. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.11.064
- Denzin, N., & Lincoln, Y. (2011). *The SAGE handbook of qualitative research* (4th ed). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Dermine, J. (2013). Bank corporate governance: Beyond the global banking crisis.

  Financial Markets, Institution and Instruments, 22, 259-281.

  doi:10.1111/fmii.12012
- Doody, O., & Noonan, M. (2013). Preparing and conducting interviews to collect data.

  Nurse Researcher, 20, 28–32. doi:10.7748/nr2013.05.20.5.28.e327
- Donaldson, T. (2012). The epistemic fault line in corporate governance. *Academy of Management Review*, *37*, 256-271. doi:10.5465/amr.2010.0407
- Doucouliagos, H., Haman, J., & Stanley, T. D. (2012). Pay for performance and corporate governance reform. *Industrial Relations: A Journal of Economy and Society*, *51*, 670-703. doi:10.1111/j.1468-232X.2012.00695
- Dworkin, S. L. (2012). Sample size policy for qualitative studies using in-depth interviews. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, *41*, 1319-1320. doi:10.1007/s105080120016-6
- Elahi, E. (2012). Risk management: The next source of competitive advantage. *Foresight*, *15*(2), 117-131. doi:10.1108/1466681311321121

- El-Chaarani, H. (2014). The impact of corporate governance on the performance of Lebanese banks. *International Journal of Business and Finance Research*, 8, 35-46. Retrieved from http://www.theibfr.com/ijbfr.htm
- ElKhouly, S., ElDayem, M. A., Saleh, I., Samir, T., Essam, P., Rizk, H., & ElFakahani, G. (2014, January). Required leadership skills for the next leader: A comparative study between the most important fields of business in Egypt. In Competition Forum (Vol. 12, No. 1, p. 176). American Society for Competitiveness. Retrieved from http://www.eberly.iup.edu/ASCWeb/conference/2014.pdf
- Elo, S., Kaariainen, M., Kanste, O., Polkki, T., Utriainen, K., & Kyngas, H. (2014).

  Qualitative content analysis: A focus on trustworthiness. *SAGE Open, 4*(1), 1-10. doi:10.1177/2158244014522633
- Essen, M., Engelen, P. J., & Carney, M. (2013). Does "good" corporate governance help in a crisis? The impact of country and firm level governance mechanisms in the European financial crisis. *Corporate Governance: An International Review*, *21*, 201-224. doi:10.1111/corg.12010/
- Erickson, F. (2012). Qualitative research methods for science education. *Second International Handbook of Science Education*, 24, 1451-1469. doi:10.1007/978-1-4020-9041-7\_93
- Erlingsson, C., & Brysiewicz, P. (2012). Orientation among multiple truths: An introduction to qualitative research. *African Journal of Emergency Medicine*, *3*(2), 92-99. doi:10.1016j.afjem.2012.04.005
- Ertmer, P. A., Ottenbreit-Leftwich, A. T., Sadik, O., Sendurur, E., & Sendurur, P. (2012).

- Teacher beliefs and technology integration practices: A critical relationship.

  Computers & Education, 59(2), 423-435. doi:10.1016/j.compedu.2012.02.001
- Ezeoha, A. E. (2011). Banking consolidation, credit crisis, and asset quality in a fragile banking system: Some evidence from Nigerian data. *Journal of Financial Regulation and Compliance*, *19*(1), 33-44. doi:10.1108/13581981111106158
- Fadare, S. O. (2011). Banking sector liquidity and financial crisis in Nigeria. *International Journal of Economic and Finance*, 3, 3-11. doi:10.5539/ijef.v3n5p3
- Fanta, A. B., Kemal, K. S., & Waka, Y. K. (2013). Corporate governance and impact on bank performance. *Finance and Accounting*, *1*(1), 19-26. doi:10.11648.j.jfa.20130101.12.pdf
- Fayezi, S., O'Loughlin, A., & Zutshi, A. (2012). Agency theory and supply chain management: A structured literature review. Supply Chain Management, 17, 556-570. doi:10.1108/13598541211258618
- Fein, E. C., & Kulik, C. T. (2011). Safeguarding access and safeguarding meaning as strategies for achieving confidentiality. *Industrial and Organizational Psychology: Perspectives on Science and Practice, 4*, 479-481. doi:10.1111/j.1754-9434.2011.01378.x
- Felder, P. P., & Barker, M. J. (2013). Extending Bell's concept of interest convergence:

  A framework for understanding the African-American doctoral student
  experience. *International Journal of Doctoral Studies*, 8, 1-20. Retrieved from
  http://ijds.org
- Fernandez, W. D., & Lehmann, H. (2011). Case studies and grounded theory method in

- information systems research: Issues and use. *Journal of Information Technology*Case and Application Research, 13, 4-15. doi:10.1080/15228053.2011.10856199
- Filatotchev, I., & Wright, M. (2011). Agency perspectives on corporate governance of multinational enterprises. *Journal of Management Studies*, 48(2), 471-486. doi:10.1111/j.1467-6486.2010.00921.x
- Filatotchev, I., Jackson, G., & Nakajima, C. (2013). Corporate governance and national institutions: A review and emerging research agenda. *Asia Pacific Journal of Management*, 30, 965-986. doi:10.1007/s10490-012-9293-9
- Filatotchev, I., & Nakajima, C. (2014). Corporate Governance, Responsible Managerial Behavior, and Corporate Social Responsibility: Organizational Efficiency Versus Organizational Legitimacy? *Academy of Management Perspectives*, 28, 289–306. doi:10.5465/amp.2014.0014
- Finlay, L. (2012). Debating phenomenological methods. *Hermeneutic Phenomenology in Education Practice of Research Method*, 4, 17-37. doi:10.1007/978-94-6091-834-62
- Fiordelisi, F., Marques-Ibanez, D., & Molyneux, P. (2011). Efficiency and risk in European banking. *Journal of Banking & Finance*, *35*, 1315-1326. doi:10.1016/j.jbankfin.2010.10 .005
- First Bank of Nigeria Holding Company. (2012). 2012 annual report. Retrieved from http://fbnholdings.com/annualreport/2012/download/firstbank\_holding\_abridged2 012 v2.pdf
- Frigo, M. L., & Anderson, R. J. (2011). Strategic risk management: A foundation for

- improving enterprise risk management and governance. *Journal of Corporate Accounting & Finance*, 22, 81-88. doi:10.1002/jcaf.20677
- Fundanga, C. (2011, April 27). Corporate governance and its impact on financial institutions. Retrieved from http://www.bis.org/review/r110504c.pdf
- Ganguli, S. K. (2013). Capital structure: Does ownership structure matter? Theory and Indian evidence. *Studies in Economics and Finance*, *30*(1), 56-72. doi:10.1108/10867371311300982
- Gare, K., & Melin, U. (2011). SMEs need formative infrastructure for business transformation. *Journal of Enterprise Information Management*, *24*, 520-533. doi:10.1108/17410391111166558
- Garg, A., & Van Weele, E. (2012). Succession planning and its impact on the performance of small micro medium enterprises within the manufacturing sector in Johannesburg. International Journal of Business and Management, 7, 96-107. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v7n9p96
- Garrett-Howard, C. (2012). Factors influencing advancement of women senior leaders in 126 aerospace companies (Doctoral dissertation). Available from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 3495166)
- Garuba, A., & Otomewo, G. (2015). Corporate Governance in the Nigerian Banking Industry: Issues and Challenges. *Afr. Res. Rev.*, *9*(2), 104. doi:10.4314/afrrev.v9i2.8
- Gibbert, M., & Ruigrok, W. (2010). The what and how of case study rigor: Three strategies based on published work. *Organizational Research Methods*, 13, 710-

- 737. doi:10.1177/1094428109351319
- Gilligan, C, & Kypri, K. (2012). Parent attitudes, family dynamics, and adolescent drinking: Qualitative study of the Australian parenting guidelines for adolescent alcohol use. *BMC Health*, *12*, 491-501. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-12-491
- Godos-Díez, J. L., Fernández-Gago, R., & Martínez-Campillo, A. (2011). How important are CEOs to CSR practices? An analysis of the mediating effect of the perceived role of ethics and social responsibility. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *98*, 531-548. doi:10.1007/s10551-010-0609-8
- Goh, P. S. C., & Matthews, B. (2011). Listening to the concerns of student teachers in Malaysia during teaching practice. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, 36, 92-103. doi:10.14221/ajte.2011v36n3.2
- Goodfriend, M. (2011). Central banking in the credit turmoil: An assessment of federal reserve practice. *Journal of Monetary Economics*, *58*(1), 1-12. doi:10.1016/j.jmoneco.2010.09.008
- Gottschalk, P. (2011). Executive position involved in white-collar crime. *Journal of Money Laundering Control*, *14*, 300-312. doi:10.1108/1368521111173785
- Goldberg, A. E., & Allen, K. R. (2015). Communicating qualitative research: Some practical guideposts for scholars. *Journal of Marriage and Family*,77(1), 3-22. doi:10.1111/jomf.12153
- Greaney, A. M., Sheehy, A., Heffernan, C., Murphy, J., Mhaolrúnaigh, S. N., Heffernan, E., & Brown, G. (2012). Research ethics application: A guide for the novice researcher. *British Journal of Nursing*, *21*(1), 38. doi:10.12968/bjon.2012.21.1.38

- Greenfield, G., Ignatowicz, A., Gnani, S., Bucktowonsing, M., Ladbrooke, T.,

  Millington, H., ... Majeed, A. (2016). Staff perceptions on patient motives for
  attending GP-led urgent care centres in London: a qualitative study. *BMJ Open*,

  6(1), e007683. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2015-007683
- Grosse, R. (2012). Bank regulation, governance, and the crisis: A behavioral finance view. *Journal of Financial Regulation and Compliance*, 20(1), 4-25. doi:10.1108/13581981211199399
- Grossoehme, D. H. (2014). Overview of qualitative research. *Journal of Health Care Chaplaincy*, 20, 109-122. doi:10.1080/08854726.2014.925660
- Grove, H., Patelli, L., Victoravich, L., & Xu, P. (2011). Corporate governance and performance in the wake of the financial crisis: Evidence from U.S. commercial banks. *Corporate Governance: An International Review*, 19, 418-436. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8683.2011.00882.x
- Gu, Y. (2014). To code or not to code: Dilemmas in analyzing think-aloud protocols in learning strategies research. *System*, *43*, 74-81. doi:10.1016/j.system.2013.12.011
- Günay, G. Y., & Apak, S. (2014). Comparison of public and non-public SMEs' corporate governance strategies in Turkey. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, *150*, 162-171. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.09.022
- Guo, L., Smallman, C., & Radford, J. (2013). A critique of corporate governance in China. *International Journal of Law and Management*, *55*, 257-272. doi:10.1108/IJLMA-10-2011-0012

- Haak-Saheem, W., & K. Darwish, T. (2014). The role of knowledge management in creating a culture of learning. *Management Decision*, *52*, 1611-1629. doi:10.1108/md-08-2013-0427
- Haji, A. A., & Mubaraq, S. (2012). The trends of intellectual capital disclosure evidence from the Nigeria banking sector. *Journal of Human Resources Costing and Accounting*, 16, 184-209. doi:10.1108/14013381211286360
- Hall, G. C., Sauer, B., Bourke, A., Brown, J. S., Reynolds, M. W., & Casale, R. L.
  (2012). Guidelines for good database selection and use in pharmacoepidemiology research. *Pharmacoepidemiology and Drug Safety*, 21(1), 1-10.
  doi:10.1002/pds.2229
- Halcomb, E. J., Peters, K., & Davies, D. (2013). A qualitative evaluation of New Zealand consumers' perceptions of general practice nurses. *BMC Family Practice*, 14(1), 26. doi:10.1186/1471-2296-14-26
- Hanson, J. L., Balmer, D. F., & Giardino, A. P. (2011). Qualitative research methods for medical educators. *Academic Pediatrics*, 11, 375-386.doi:10.1016/j.acap.2011.05.001
- Hassan, A. T. (2011). Exploratory evaluation of the impact of regulation on the practice of corporate governance in Nigerian banks. *Social Science Research Network*. doi:10.2139/ssrn.1906413.
- Hassan, M. K., & Halbouni, S. S. (2013). Corporate governance, economic turbulence, and financial performance of UAE listed firms. *Studies in Economics and Finance*, *30*(2), 118-138. doi:10.1108/10867371311325435

- Harford, J., Mansi, S. A., & Maxwell, W. F. (2012). Corporate governance and firm cash holdings in the U.S. *Corporate Governance*, 107-138. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-31579-4\_5
- Harper, M., & Cole, P. (2012). Member checking: Can benefits be gained similar to group therapy? *Qualitative Report*, *17*, 510-517. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/sss/QR
- Haug, A., Graungaard Pedersen, S., & Stentoft Arlbjørn, J. (2011). IT readiness in small and medium ☐ sized enterprises. *Industrial Management & Data Systems*, 111, 490–508. doi:10.1108/02635571111133515
- Harvey, J. (2012). Managing organizational memory with intergenerational knowledge transfer. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, *16*, 400–417. doi:10.1108/13673271211238733
- Hearn, B. (2013). The impact of board governance on director compensation in West African IPO firms. *Research in International Business and Finance*, *28*, 82-104. doi:10.1016/j.ribaf.2012.09.005
- Heras □ Saizarbitoria, I. (2011). Internalization of ISO 9000: An exploratory study.
   Industrial Management & Data Systems, 111, 1214-1237.
   doi:10.1108/02635571111170776
- Hodges, N. (2011). Qualitative research: A discussion of frequently articulated qualms (FAQs). *Family and Consumer Sciences Research Journal*, 40, 90-92. doi:10.1111/j.1552-3934.2011.02091.x
- Hoile, R., Banos, C., Colella, M., & Roux, C. (2011). Bioterrorism: The effects of

- biological decontamination on the recovery of electronic evidence. *Forensic Science International*, 209(1), 143-148. doi:10.1016/j.forsciint.2011.01.017
- Hoover, R. S., & Koerber, A. L. (2011). Using NVivo to answer the challenges of qualitative research in professional communication: Benefits and best practices tutorial. *IEEE Transactions on Professional Communication*, *54*(1), 68-82. doi:10.1109/TPC.2009.2036896
- Hopt, K.J. (2013). Corporate governance of banks and other financial institutions after the financial crisis. *Journal of Corporate Law Studies*, *13*(2), 219-253. Retrieved from http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=2212198
- Houghton, C., Casey, D., Shaw, D., & Murphy, K. (2013). Rigor in qualitative case study research. *Nurse Researcher*, 20, 12-17. doi:10.7748/nr2013.03.20.4.12.e326
- Htay, S. N. N., Rashid, H. M. A., Adnan, M. A., & Meera, A. K. M. (2012). Impact of corporate governance on social and environmental information disclosure of Malaysian listed banks: Panel data analysis. *Asian Journal of Finance & Accounting*, 4(1), 1-24. doi:10.5296/ajfa.v4i1.810
- Hubscher-Davidson, S. (2011). A discussion of ethnographic research methods and their relevance for translation process research. *Across Languages and Cultures*, 12(1), 1-18. doi:10.1556/Acr.12.2011.1.1
- Hyett, N., Kenny, A., & Dickson-Swift, V.D. (2014). Methodology or method? A critical review of qualitative case study reports. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health and Bell-Being*, 9. doi:10.3402/qhw.v9.23606
- Ibrahim, E. E. (2013). Corporate governance and investors' perceptions of earnings

- quality: Egyptian perspective. *Corporate Governance*, *13*, 261-273. doi:10.1108/CG-02-2011-0011
- Igbatayo, S. (2011). The challenges of the global economic crisis and Nigeria's financial markets' stability. *Journal of Emerging Trends in Economic and Management Sciences*, 2, 497-503. Retrieved from http://jetems.scholarlinkresearch.org
- Ikoh, I. M., Nsien, C. B., & Nicholas, W. T. (2013). Corporate governance and banks' turmoils: Assessment of shareholders response. *Journal of Educational and Social Research*, *3*, 39-47. doi:10.5901/jesr.2013.v3n8p39
- Ikpefan, O. A., & Ojeka, S. (2013). Corporate governance as a tool for curbing bank distress in Nigeria deposit money bank: Empirical evidence. *Research Journal of Finance and Accounting*, 4, 41-51. Retrieved from http://iiste.org/Journals/index.php/RJFA/
- Inam, H., & Mukhtar, A. (2014). Corporate governance and its impact on performance of banking sector in Pakistan. *International Journal of Academic Research in Applied Science*, *3*, 26-36. Retrieved from http://ijaras.isair.org
- Irvine, A., Drew, P., & Sainsbury, R. (2013). Am I not answering your questions properly? Clarification, adequacy and responsiveness in semistructured telephone and face-to-face interviews. *Qualitative Research*, *13*(1), 87-106. doi:10.1177/1468794112439086
- Isaac, L. (2014). Corporate governance and organizational performance in the Nigerian banking industry. *European Journal of Business and Management*, *6*, 110-118. Retrieved from http://www.iiste.org/Journals/

- Isaac, W. K. (2011). Construction of an instrument to measure social valuation in an emerging market context. *Education and Training*, 53, 371-386. doi:10.1108/004009111111147695
- Ishak, N., & Bakar, A. (2012). Qualitative data management and analysis using NVivo:

  An approach used to examine leadership qualities among student leaders.

  Education Research Journal, 2, 94-103. Retrieved from http://resjournals.com
- Iszatt-White, M. (2011). Methodological crisis and contextual solution: An ethnomethodologically informed approach to understand leadership. *Leadership*, 7, 119-135. doi:10.1177/1742715010394734
- Jacob, S. A., & Furgerson, S. P. (2012). Writing interview protocols and conducting interviews: Tips for students new to the field of qualitative research. *Qualitative Report*, 17, 1-10. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol17/iss42/3
- Jakada, B., & Inusa, A. (2014). Corporate governance: A strategic tool for survival in the Nigerian banking sector. *Journal of Economic Development, Management, IT, Finance & Marketing*, 6, 48-56. Retrieved from http://gsmijedmitfm.com/default.aspx
- Jansson, G., & Nikolaidou, Z. (2013). Work-identity in ethnographic research:

  Developing field roles in a demanding workplace setting. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 12, 152-167. Retrieved from http://ejournals.library.ualberta.ca
- Järvensivu, T., & Törnroos, J. Å. (2010). Case study research with moderate constructionism: Conceptualization and practical illustration. *Industrial*

- Marketing Management, 39(1), 100-108. doi:10.1016/j.indmarman.2008.05.005
- Jassaud, N. (2014). Reforming the corporate governance of Italian banks. *IMF Working Papers*. Retrieved from
  - https://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/wp/2014/wp14181.pdf
- Javaid, F., & Saboor, A. (2015). Impact of corporate governance index on firm performance: Evidence from Pakistani manufacturing sector. *Journal of Public Administration and Governance*, *5*(2), 1. doi:10.5296/jpag.v5i2.7498
- Jensen, M.C., & Meckling, W.H. (1976). Theory of the firm: Managerial behavior, agency costs, and ownership structure. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 3, 305-360. doi:10.1016/0304-405x(76)90026-x
- Jibrin, M. S., Blessing, S. E., & Danjuma, I. (2014). The role of auditors in the recent Nigerian banking crisis. *International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences*, 4, 231-251. doi:10.6007/IJARBSS.v4-i3/703
- Jimoh, J., & Iyoha, F. O. (2012). Stewardship and corporate governance in the banking sector: Evidence from Nigeria. Accounting and Finance Research, 1(1), 198-205. doi:10.5430/afr.v1n1p198
- Johnson, C. W., Singh, A. A., & Gonzalez, M. (2014). "It's complicated": Collective memories of transgender, queer, and questioning youth in high school. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 61, 419-434. doi:10.1080/00918369.2013.842436
- Joshua, O., Joshua, S. G., & Tauhid, S. (2013). Corporate governance principles application and the financial performance of deposit money banks in Nigeria: An impact assessment. *Research Journal of Finance and Accounting*, *4*, 53-64.

- Retrieved from http://iiste.org/ Journals/index.php/RJFA
- Kaminski, K. (2015). Quantifying CTA risk management. *Campbell White Paper Series*.

  Retrieved from https://www.campbell.com/
- Kapooria, P., Sharma, R., & Kaul, D. (2014). Compliance of corporate governance and its impact on firm performance: An empirical analysis with dummy variables.

  \*International Journal of Research in Commerce, IT & Management, 4, 9-12.\*

  Retrieved from http://ijrcm.org.in/it/index.php
- Karmadin, H., & Haron, H. (2011). Board performance and firm performance of Malaysian listed companies. *International Journal of Economics and Accounting*, 2, 282-306. doi:10.1504/ijea.2011.041897
- Kasum, A. S., & Etudaiye-Muthar, O. F. (2014). Corporate governance breach: An overview of the owner-manager agency problem in the Nigerian banking industry.

  \*Corporate Governance\*, 187-196. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-45167-6 10
- Khan, H. (2011, December). A literature review of corporate governance. *Investment Conference on E-business Management and Economic IPEDR*, 125, 1-5.

  Retrieved from http://www.ipedr.com/vol25/1-ICEME2011-A10015.pdf
- Kikuchi, K., Poudel, K. C., Muganda, J., Sato, T., Mutabazi, V., Muhayimpundu, R....

  Jimba, M. (2014). What makes orphans in Kigali, Rwanda, non-adherent to
  antiretroviral therapy? Perspectives of their caregivers. *Journal of the International AIDS Society*, *17*(1). doi:10.7448/IAS.17.1.19310
- Kisely, S., & Kendall, E. (2011). Critically appraising qualitative research: A guide for clinicians more familiar with quantitative techniques. *Australasian Psychiantry*,

- 19, 364-367. doi:10.3109/10398562.21.562508
- Knight, K. M., Kenny, A., & Endacott, R. (2015). Gaps in governance: protective mechanisms used by nurse leaders when policy and practice are misaligned. *BMC Health Services Resources*, *15*(1). doi:10.1186/s12913-015-0827-y
- Koning, J., & Can-seng, O. (2013). Awkward encounters and ethnography. *Qualitative Research in Organizations and Management*, 8, 16-32. doi:10.1108/17465641311327496
- Kumar, N., & Singh, J. P. (2013). Effective board size promoter ownership on firm value:

  Some empirical finding from Indian. *Corporate Governance: The International Journal of Business and Society*, *13*(1), 88-98. doi:10.1108/14720701311302431
- Krenn, M. (2015), Understanding decoupling in response to corporate governance reform pressures. *Journal of Financial Regulation and Compliance*, 23, 369-382. doi:10.1108/JFRC-04-2014-0019
- Lagzdins, A., & Sloka, B. (2012) Compliance and the Recovery of financial services of the European Union: New Challenges for Latvia's banking sector. *European Integration Studies*, 5. doi:10.5755/j01.eis.05.1088
- L'Huillier, B. (2014). What does corporate governance actually mean? *Corporate Governance*, *14*, 300-319. doi:10.1108/CG-10-2012-0073
- Laeven, L., & Valencia, F. (2013). Systemic banking crises database. *IMF Economic Review*, 61(2), 225-270. doi:10.1057/imfer.2013.12
- Lambe, I. (2014). Corporate governance and organizational performance in the Nigerian banking industry. *European Journal of Business & Management*, 6, 110-119.

- Retrieved from
- http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.685.7153&rep=rep1&t ype=pdf
- Lambert, V., & Glacken, M. (2011). Engaging with children in research: Theoretical and practical implications of negotiating informed consent/assent. *Nursing Ethics*, *18*, 781-801. doi:10.1177/0969733011401122.
- Lama, T. & Anderson, W. (2015). Company characteristics and compliance with ASX corporate governance principles. *Pacific Accounting Review*, 27, 373-392. doi:10.1108/PAR-12-2013-0104
- Landén, A. (2011). From ethnographic self-discovery to processes of identification. *Qualitative Research*, 11, 536-551. doi:10.1177/1468794111413238
- Larcker, D., & Tayan, B. (2011). Corporate governance matters: A closer look at organizational choices and their consequences. Upper Saddle River, NJ: FT Press.
- Lawal, B. (2012). Board dynamics and corporate performance: Review of literature and empirical challenges. *International Journal of Economics and Finance*, *4*(1), 22-35. doi:10.5539/ijef.v4n1p22
- Lee, S. P., & Isa, M. (2015). Directors' remuneration, governance, and performance: the case of Malaysian banks. *Managerial Finance*, 41(1), 26-44. doi:10.1108/MF-08-2013-0222
- Leech, N. L., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2011). Beyond constant comparison qualitative data analysis: Using NVivo. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 26(1), 70-84.

- Leventis, S., & Dimitropoulos, P. (2012). The role of corporate governance in earnings management: Experience from U.S. banks. *Journal of Applied Accounting*\*Research\*, 13(2), 167-177. doi:10.1108/09675421211254858
- Leventis, S., Dimitropoulos, P., & Owusu-Ansah, S. (2013). Corporate governance and accounting conservatism: Evidence from the banking industry. *Corporate Governance: An International Review*, 21, 264-286. doi:10.1111/corg.12015
- Liu, J. Y. (2014). Exploring nursing assistants' roles in the process of pain management for cognitively impaired nursing home residents: A qualitative study. *Journal of advanced nursing*, 70, 1065-1077. doi:10.1111/jan.12259/
- Lu, W., & Whidbee, D. A. (2013). Bank structure and failure during the financial crisis.

  \*\*Journal of Financial Economic Policy, 5, 281-299. doi:10.1108/jfep-02-2013-0006
- Malhotra, D. K., Poteau, R., & Singh, R. (2011). Evaluating the performance of commercial banks in India. *Asia Pacific Journal of Finance and Banking Research*, 5(5). Retrieved from http://www.globip.com/asiapacificjournal.htm
- Man, C. K., & Wong, B. (2013). Corporate governance and earnings management: A survey of literature. *Journal of Applied Business Research*, *29*(2), 391-418.

  Retrieved from http://www.cluteinstitute.com/journals/journal-of-applied-business-research-jabr/
- Mang'unyi, E. E. (2011). Ownership structure and corporate governance and its effects of performance: A case of selected banks in Kenya. *International Journal of*

- Business Administration, 2, 2-18. doi:10.5430/ijba.v2n3p2
- Marilen, P., & Ana-Cristina, N. (2013). Corporate governance codes of best practice of top Romanian banks. *Annals of Faculty of Economics*, 1, 390-397. Retrieved from http://steconomice.uoradea.ro/anale/en\_index.html
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2011). *Designing qualitative research* (5th ed.). London, UK: Sage.
- Martin, G.S., Keating, M.A., Resick, C.J., Szabo, E., Kwan, H.K., & Peng, C. (2013).

  The meaning of leader integrity: A comparative study across Anglo, Asian, and

  Germanic cultures. *Leadership Quarterly*, 24, 445-461. Retrieved from

  https://www.academia.edu/9935647/The\_meaning\_of\_leader\_integrity\_A\_compa

  rative\_study\_across\_Anglo\_Asian\_and\_Germanic\_cultures
- McMurdo, M. E. T., Roberts, H., Parker, S., Wyatt, N., May, H., Goodman, C.,...Dyer, C. (2011). Improving recruitment of older people to research through good practice. *Age and Ageing*, 40, 659-665. doi:10.1093/ageing/afr115
- Mehran, H., & Mollineaux, L. (2012). Corporate governance of financial institutions.

  \*Annual Review of Financial Economics, 4(1), 215-232. doi:10.1146/annurev-financial-110311-101821
- Mendonca, H. E., Galvao, D. J., & Loures, R. F. (2012). Financial regulation and transparency of information: Evidence from the banking industry. *Journal of Economic Studies*, *39*, 380-397. doi:10.1108.01443581211255602
- Mero-Jaffe, I. (2011). Is that what I said? Interview transcript approval by participants:

  An aspect of ethics in qualitative research. *International Journal of Qualitative*

- *Methods*, *10*, 231-247. Retrieved from https://ejournals.library.ualberta.ca/index.php/IJQM/article/view/8449
- Mikecz, R. (2012). Interviewing elites: Addressing methodological issues. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 18, 482–493. doi:10.1177/1077800412442818
- Mishra, S., & Mohanty, P. (2014). Corporate governance as a value driver for firm performance: Evidence from India. *Corporate Governance*, *14*, 265-280. doi:10.1108/CG-12-2012-0089
- Mohammed, F. (2012). Impact of corporate governance on banks performance in Nigeria.

  \*\*Journal of Emerging Trends in Economics and Management Sciences, 3, 257-260. Retrieved from http://jetems.scholarlinkresearch.org
- Morgadinho, L., Oliveira, C., & Martinho, A. (2015). A qualitative study about perceptions of European automotive sector's contribution to lower greenhouse gas emissions. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *106*, 644-653. doi:10.1016/j.jclepro.2015.01.096
- Mongiardino, A., & Plath, C. (2010). Risk governance at large banks: Have any lessons been learned? *Journal of Risk Management in Financial Institutions, 3(2), 116-123*. Retrieved from http://www.henrystewartpublications.com/jrm
- Mokni, R.B.S., Echchabi, A., & Rajhi, M.T. (2015). Risk management practiced tools in the MENA region: A comparative study between Islamic and conventional banks. *International Journal of Business*, 20(3), 261-277. Retrieved from http://www.craig.csufresno.edu/ijb/Volumes/Volume%2020/V203-5.pdf
- Morse, J. M. (2011). Molding qualitative health research. Qualitative Health Research,

- 21(8), 10191021. doi:10.1177/1049732311404706.
- Moss, T. W., Short, J. C., Payne, G. T., & Lumpkin, G. T. (2011). Dual identities in social ventures: An exploratory study. *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, 35, 805-830. doi:10.1111/j.1540-6520.2010.00372.x
- Mostovicz, I., Kakabadse, N., & Kakabase, A. (2011). Corporate governance: Quo vadis? *Corporate Governance*, 11, 613-626. doi:10.1108/14720701111177019
- Mulili, B. M., & Wong, P. (2011). Corporate governance practices in developing countries: The case for Kenya. *International Journal of Business Administration*, 2(1), 14-26. doi:10.5430/ijba.v2n1p14
- Murphy, M. E. (2011). Assuring responsible risk management in banking: The corporate governance dimension. *Delaware Journal of Corporate Law*, *36*, 121-164.

  Retrieved from http://www.djcl.org
- Mustapha, M., & Ahmad, A. C. (2011). Agency theory and managerial ownership:

  Evidence from Malaysia. *Managerial Auditing Journal*, 26, 419-436.

  doi:10.1108/02686901111129571
- Neuman, W. L. (2011). Social science methods: Qualitative and quantitative approaches. (7th ed.). Boston, MA: Pearson
- Njie, B., Asimiran, S., & Baki, R. (2012). Perceptions of international students on service quality delivery in a Malaysian public university. *Quality Assurance in Education*, 20(2), 153-163. doi:10.1108/09684881211219406
- Nkundabanyanga, S. K., Ahiauzu, A., Sejjaaka, S. K., & Ntayi, J. M. (2013). A model for effective board governance in Uganda's services sector firms. *Journal of*

- Accounting in Emerging Economies, 3(2), 125-144. doi:10.1108/20421161311288857
- Nordberg, D., & McNulty, T. (2013). Creating better boards through codification:

  Possibilities and limitations in UK corporate governance, 1992-2010. *Business History*, 55, 338-378. doi:10.1080/00076791.2012.712964
- Ntayi, J. M., Mutebi, H., Kamanyi, S., & Byangwa, K. (2013). Institutional framing and entrepreneurship capital in Uganda. *Investment Climate and Business*Environment Research Fund. Retrieved from http://dspace.africaportal.org/jspui/bitstream/123456789/34107/1/Institutional\_Fr aming\_and\_Entrepreneurship\_Capital\_in\_Uganda[1].pdf?1
- Nurunnabi, M. (2015). Accounting for Accountability: A Critical Reflection on the Privatization of Higher Education in Bangladesh. *Administration & Society*. doi:10.1177/0095399715587523
- Nwagbara, U. (2012). Encountering corrupt leadership and poor corporate governance in the Nigerian banking sector: Towards a model of ethical leadership. *Indian Journal of Corporate Governance*, *5*, 133-148. Retrieved from http://www.sagepub.in/journals/Journal202340
- Nworji, I. D., Adebayo, O., & David A. O. (2011). Corporate governance and banks failure in Nigeria: Issues, challenges, and opportunities. *Research Journal of Finance and Accounting*, *2*, 27-44. Retrieved from http://iiste.org/Journals/index.php/RJFA
- Nyamongo, E. M., & Temesgen, K. (2013). The effect of governance on performance of

- commercial banks in Kenya: A panel study. *Corporate Governance*, *13*, 236-248. doi:10.1108/CG-12-2010-0107
- Nyor, T., & Mejabi, K. (2013). Impact of corporate governance on non-performing loans of Nigerian deposit money banks. *Journal of Business and Management*, *2*, 12-21. doi:10.12735/jbm.v2i3p12
- Obayemi, O. K., & Alaka, O. S. (2014). Twenty-five years after section 72 of cama amendments to pre-incorporation contracts law in Nigeria. *Journal of Law, Policy and Globalization*, 31, 95-120. Retrieved from http://www.iiste.org/Journals/index.php/JLPG
- Ofo, N. (2011). Securities and exchange commission of Nigeria's draft revised code of corporate governance: An appraisal. *Journal of African Law*, *55*(2), 280-299. doi:10.1017/S0021855311000143
- Oghoghomeh, T., & Ogbeta, M. (2014). Corporate governance and organizational performance in Nigerian banks. *European Journal of Business and Management*, 6, 33-45. Retrieved from http://www.sagepub.in/journals/Journal202340
- Oghojafor, B. A., & Adebisi, S. A. (2012). Evaluating mergers and acquisition as strategic interventions in the Nigerian banking sector: The good, bad and the ugly. *International Business Research*, 5, 147-157. doi:10.5539/ibr.v5n5p147
- Ogujiuba, K., & Obiechina, M. E. (2011). Financial sector reforms in Nigeria: Issues and challenges. *International Journal of Business and Management*, *6*, 222-233. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v6n6p222
- Ojo, A. T., & Ayadi, O. F. (2014). Financial malpractices and stock market development

- in Nigeria: An exploratory study. *Journal of Financial Crime*, *21*, 336-354. doi:10.1108/JFC-05-2013-0034
- Okereke, E. J., Abu, S. S., & Anyanwu, G. I. (2011). Impact of corporate governance on the performance of Nigerian deposit money banks. *Indian Journal of Corporate Governance*, *4*, 15-26. Retrieved from http://www.sagepub.in/journals/Journal202340
- Okpara, J. O. (2011). Corporate governance in a developing economy: Barriers, issues, and implications for firms. *Corporate Governance*, *11*(2), 184-199. doi:10.1108/14720701111121056
- Omankhalen, A. (2012). The financial sector reforms and their effect on the Nigeria. *Economy Transdisciplinarity Cognition*, 15(2), 45-57. Retrieved from http://etc.ugb.ro
- Omoijiade, P. O. (2015). Corporate governance organizational politics and leadership effectiveness and ineffectiveness in the Nigerian banking sector. European *Journal of Business and Management*, 10, 25-51. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v10n5p193
- Onakoya, A. B. O., Fasanya, I. O., & Ofoegbu, D. I. (2014). Corporate governance as correlate for firm performance: A pooled OLS investigation of selected Nigerian banks. *European Scientific Journal*, *8*, 155-164. Retrieved from http://eujournal.org/index.php/esj
- O'Neill, A. (2014). An action framework for compliance and governance. *Clinical Governance: An International Journal*, *19*, 342-359. doi:10.1108/CGIJ-07-2014-0022

- Onuoha, B. C., Ogbuji, C. N., Ameh, A. A., & Oba, U. O. (2013). Strategies for improving corporate governance by organizations in Nigeria. *International Business and Management*, 7(2), 26-31. doi:10.3968/j.ibm.1923842820130702.1105
- Osemeke, L., & Adegbite, E. (2014). Regulatory multiplicity and conflict: Towards a combined code on corporate governance in Nigeria. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 1-21. doi:10.1007/s10551-014-2405-3
- Östlund, U., Kidd, L., Wengström, Y., & Rowa-Dewar, N. (2011). Combining qualitative and quantitative research within mixed method research designs: A methodological review. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 48, 369-383. doi:10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2010.10.005
- O'Reilly, M., & Parker, N. (2012, May). Unsatisfactory saturation: A critical exploration of the notion of saturated sample sizes in qualitative research. *Qualitative*\*Research Journal\*, 1-8. doi:10.1177/1468794112446106
- Orobia, L. A., Byabashaija, W., Munene, J. C., Sejjaaka, S. K., & Musinguzi, D. (2013).

  How do small business owners manage working capital in an emerging economy?

  Qualitative Research in Accounting & Management, 10, 127–143.

  doi:10.1108/qram-02-2012-0008
- Othman, Z., & Rahman, R. A. (2014). Attributes of ethical leadership in leading good governance. *International Journal of Business and Society*, *15*, 359-372.

  Retrieved from http://www.ijbs.unimas.my
- Otusanya, O. J. (2012). An investigation of the financial criminal practices of the elite in

- developing countries: Evidence from Nigeria. *Journal of Financial Crime*, 19(2), 175-206. doi:10.1108/13590791211220449
- Otusanya, O. J., Lauwo, S., & Ajibolade, S. O. (2013). An investigation of corporate executive fraud by CEOs in the Nigerian banking sector. *African Journal of Accounting, Auditing and Finance*, 2(1), 65-89. doi:10.1504/ajaaf.2013.055491
- Oyerinde, A. A. (2014). Corporate governance and bank performance in Nigeria: Further evidence from Nigeria. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 9,133-139. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v9n8p133
- Pacces, A. M., & Heremans, D. (2012). Regulation of banking and financial markets.

  \*Encyclopedia of Law and Economics: Regulations and Economics.\*

  doi:10.4337/9781782540465.00023
- Palys, T., & Lowman, J. (2012). Defending research confidentiality "to the extent the law allows:" lessons from the Boston College subpoenas. *Journal of Academic Ethics*, 10, 271-297. doi:10.1007/s10805-012-9172-5
- Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., Green, C. A., Wisdom, J. P., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K. (2013). Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 42, 1-12. doi:10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y
- Pande, S., & Ansari, V. A. (2014). The theoretical framework of corporate governance. *Indian Journal of Corporate Governance*, 7, 56-72. Retrieved from

  <a href="http://www.sagepub.in/journals/Journal202340">http://www.sagepub.in/journals/Journal202340</a>
- Pandya, H. (2013). Corporate governance: Role of auditor and auditing committee.

- International Journal of Management, 1(2). Retrieved from http://ipasj.org/IIJM/Volume1Issue2/IIJM-2013-07-08-001.pdf
- Pasiouras, F., Tanna, S., & Gaganis, C. (2011). What drives acquisitions in the EU banking industry? The role of bank regulation and supervision framework, bank-specific and market-specific factors. *Financial Markets, Institutions & Instruments*, 20, 29-77. doi:10.1111/j.1468-0416.2011.00165.x
- Pathan, S., Haq, M., & Gray, P. (2012). Does board structure in banks really affect their performance? *SSRN Journal*. doi:10.2139/ssrn.1979297
- Patrick, D. L., Burke, L. B., Gwaltney, C. J., Leidy, N. K., Martin, M. L., Molsen, E., & Ring, L. (2011). Content validity establishing and reporting the evidence in newly developed patient-reported outcomes (PRO) instruments for medical product evaluation: ISPOR PRO good research practices task force report. Part 1: Eliciting concepts for a new PRO instrument. *Value in Health*, *14*, 967-977. doi:10.1016/j.jval.2011.06.014
- Paulet, E. (2011). Banking ethics: Corporate governance. *International Journal of Business in Society*, 11, 293-300. doi:10.1108/14720701111138715
- Payne, C. R., & Wansink, B. (2011). Quantitative approaches to consumer field research. *Journal of Marketing Theory and Practice*, 19, 377-389. doi:10.2753/MTP1069-6679190402
- Peni, E., & Vähämaa, S. (2012). Did good corporate governance improve bank performance during the financial crisis? *Journal of Financial Services Research*, 41, 19-35. doi:10.1007%2Fs10693-011-0108-9

- Petitjean, M. (2013). Bank failure and regulation: A critical review. *Journal of Regulation and Financial Compliance*, 21(1),16-38.

  doi:10.1108/13581981311297803
- Petty, N. J., Thomson, O. P., & Stew, G. (2012). Ready for a paradigm shift? Part 2: Introducing qualitative research methodologies and methods. *Manual Therapy*, 17, 378-384. doi:10.1016/j.math.2012.03.004
- Phellas, C. N., Bloch, A., & Seale, C. (2011). Structured methods: Interviews, questionnaires, and observation. In C. Seale (Ed.), *Researching society and culture* (pp. 181-205). London, England: Sage. Retrieved from http://www.sagepub.in/upm-data/ 47370 Seale Chapter 11.pdf
- Prorokowski, L., & Prorokowski, H. (2014). Organization of compliance across financial institutions. *Journal of Investment Compliance*, *15*(1), 65-76. doi:10.1108/JOIC-12-2013-0041
- Qu, S. Q., & Dumay, J. (2011). The qualitative research interview. Qualitative Research in Accounting & Management, 8, 238-264. doi:10.1108/11766091111162070
- Quick, J.C., & Goolsby, J. L. (2013). Integrity first: Ethics for leaders and followers.

  Organizational Dynamics, 42(1), 1-7. doi:10.1016/j.orgdyn.2012.12.001
- Rachid, H., & Ameur, I. G. (2011). Board characteristics, performance, and risk-taking behavior in Tunisian banks. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 6, 88-96. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v6n6p88
- Ramady, M. A. (2015). Effective regulation regimes: A comparative analysis of GCC regulators. *Journal of Financial Regulation and Compliance*, 23(1), 2-17.

- doi:10.1108/jfrc-09-2013-0032
- Rao, U. (2012). Concepts in sample size determination. *Indian Journal of Dental Research*, 23, 660-664. doi:10.4103/0970-9290.107385
- Reddy, K., & Sharma, U. (2014). Institutional antecedents of principle-based corporate governance practices: A case study of publicly listed companies in Fiji. *Journal of Accounting & Organizational Change*, 10(1), 49-82. doi:10.1108/JAOC-02-2012-0014
- Renders, A., & Gaeremynck, A. (2012). Corporate governance, principal-principal agency conflicts, and firm value in European listed companies. *Corporate Governance: An International Review*, 20(2), 125-143. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8683.2011.00900.x
- Roberts-Holmes, G. (2011). *Doing your early years research project: A step by step guide*. (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Rohrbeck, R., & Gemünden, H. G. (2011). Corporate foresight: Its three roles in enhancing the innovation capacity of a firm. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 78(2), 231-243. doi:10.1016/j.techfore.2010.06.019
- Roman, T. (2013). The financial crisis and the haphazard pursuit of financial crime. *Journal of Financial Crime*, 18(1), 7-31. doi:10.1108/13590791111098771
- Rooney, J., & Cuganesan, S. (2015). Leadership, governance, and the mitigation of risk:

  A case study. *Managerial Auditing Journal*, 30(2), 132-139. doi:10.1108/MAJ-08-2014-1078
- Rouleau-Carroll, L. K. (2014). Attributes and characteristics that contribute to successful

- female leadership in secondary education (Doctoral dissertation, Drake University). Retrieved from http://escholarshare.drake.edu
- Rowley, J. (2012). Conducting research interviews. *Management Research Review*, 35, 260-271. doi:10.1108/01409171211210154
- Rubin, H. J., & Rubin, I. S. (2011). *Qualitative interviewing: The heart of hearing data*. (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Salterio, S. E., Conrod, J. E., & Schmidt, R. N. (2013). Canadian evidence of adherence to "comply or explain" corporate governance codes: An international comparison.

  \*\*Accounting Perspectives, 12(1), 23-51. doi:10.1111/1911-3838.12006
- Sanusi, L. S. (2011). The impact of the global financial crisis on the Nigerian capital market and the reforms. *7th Annual Pearl Awards and Public Lectures*. Muson Centre, Onikan. Retrieved from http://www.cbn.gov.ng
- Sanusi, L. S. (2012). Banking reform and its impact on the Nigerian economy. *CBN Journal of Applied Statistics*, 2(2), 115-122. Retrieved from http://www.recruitment.cbn.gov.ng/Out/
  2012/CCD/CBN%20JAS%20Vol%202%20No%202 Document%20Two.pdf
- Sarenz, G., & Abdolmohammadi, M. J. (2011). Monitoring effects of the internal audit function: Agency theory versus other explanatory variables. *International Journal of Auditing*, *15*(1), 1-20. doi:10.1111/j.1099-1123.2010.00419.x
- Sarenz, G., & Abdolmohammadi, M. J., & Lenz, R. (2012). Factors associated with the audit function's role in corporate governance. *Journal of Applied Accounting*, *13*, 191-204. doi:10.1108/09675421211254876

- Sargeant, J. (2012). Qualitative research part II: Participants, analysis, and quality assurance. *Journal of Graduate Medical Education*, *4*(1), 1-3. doi:10.4300/JGME-D-11-00307.1
- Segrestin, B., & Hatchuel, A. (2011). Beyond agency theory: A post-crisis view of corporate law. *British Journal of Management*, 22, 484-499. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8551.2011.00763.x
- Sergi, V., & Hallin, A. (2011). Thick performances, not just thick descriptions: The processual nature of doing qualitative research. *Qualitative Research in Organizations and Management*, 6, 191-208. doi:10.1108/17465641111159152
- Schmid, M. M., Sabato, G., & Aebi, V. (n.d.). Risk management, corporate governance, and bank performance in the financial crisis. *SSRN Electronic Journal*. doi:10.2139/ssrn.1942896
- Shachmurove, Y. (2011). A historical overview of financial crises in the United States. *Global Finance Journal*, 22, 217-231. doi:10.1016/j.gfj.2011.10.012
- Sharma, N. (2014). Extent of corporate governance disclosure by banks and finance companies listed on Nepal Stock Exchange. *Advances in Accounting*, 30(2), 425-439. doi:10.1016/j.adiac.2014.09.014
- Shrives, P. J., & Brennan, N. M. (2015). A typology for exploring the quality of explanations for non-compliance with UK corporate governance regulations. *British Accounting Review*, 47(1), 85-99. doi:10.1016/j.bar.2014.08.002
- Shungu, P., Ngirande, H., & Ndlovu, G. (2014). Impact of corporate governance on the performance of commercial banks in Zimbabwe. *Mediterranean Journal of Social*

- Sciences, 5, 93. doi:10.5901/mjss.2014.v5n15p93
- Shover, N. (2012). Ethnographic methods in criminological research: Rationale, reprise, and warning. *American Journal of Criminal Justice*, *37*, 139-145. doi:10.1007/s12103-012-9160-8
- Siagian, F., Siregar, S. V., & Rahadian, Y. (2013). Corporate governance, reporting quality, and firm value: Evidence from Indonesia. *Journal of Accounting in Emerging Economies*, *3*(1), 4-20. doi:10.1108/20440831311287673
- Silic, M., & Back, A. (2013). Factors impacting information governance in the mobile device dual-use context. *Records Management Journal*, 23, 73-89. doi:10.1108/RMJ-11-2012-0033
- Simpson, S.N.Y. (2014). Boards and governance of state-owned enterprises. *Corporate Governance*, 14(2), 238-251. doi:10.1108/CG-08-2012-0063
- Shekhar Singh, A. (2014). Conducting case study research in non-profit organizations.

  \*Qualitative Market Research: An International Journal, 17(1), 77-84.

  doi:10.1108/qmr-04-2013-0024
- Smith, J., & Firth, J. (2011). Qualitative data analysis: The framework approach. *Nurse Researcher*, *18*(2), 52-62. doi:10.7748/nr2011.01.18.2.52.c8284
- Soh, D. S., & Martinov-Bennie, N. (2011). The internal audit function: Perceptions of internal audit roles, effectiveness, and evaluation. *Managerial Auditing Journal*, 26, 605-622. doi:10.1108/02686901111151332
- Sooniste, T., Granhag, P. A., Strömwall, L. A., & Vrij, A. (2015). Statements about true and false intentions: Using the Cognitive Interview to magnify the differences.

- Scandinavian Journal of Psychology, 56, 371–378. doi:10.1111/sjop.12216
- Spadafino, J. T., Martinez, O., Levine, E. C., Dodge, B., Muñoz-Laboy, M., & Fernandez, M. I. (2016). Correlates of HIV and STI testing among Latino men who have sex with men in New York City. *AIDS Care, 1–4*. doi:10.1080/09540121.2016.1147017
- Stylianou-Lambert, T. (2011). Gazing from home: Cultural tourism and art museums. *Annals of Tourism Research*, 38(2), 403-421. doi:10.1016/j.annals.2010.09.001
- Suri, H. (2011). Purposeful sampling in qualitative research synthesis. *Qualitative Research Journal*, *11*, 63-75. doi:10.3316/QRJ1102063
- Swamy, V. (2011). Corporate governance and firm performance in unlisted familyowned firms. *International Journal of Business Insights and Transformation*, 4, 37-51. Retrieved from http://www.ijbit.org
- Swauger, M. (2011). Afterword: The ethics of risk, power, and representation. *Qualitative Sociology*, *34*, 497-502. doi:10.1007/s11133-011-9201-5
- Szanron, S. L., Taylor, H. A., & Terhaar, M. (2013) Development of an institutional review board preapproval process for doctors of nursing practice students: Process and outcome. *Journal of Nursing Education*, *52*, 51-55. doi:3928/0148483-20121212-01
- Tacq, J. (2011). Causality in qualitative and quantitative research. *Quality and Quantity*, 45, 263-291. doi:10.1007/s11135-009-9293-0
- Tan, Y. (2014). Corporate governance in the banking sector. *Chandos Asian studies* series: Performance, risk in the Chinese banking industry, 39-64.

- doi:10.1533/9781780634463.39
- Teng, L. L., Aun, L. K., & Fook, O. S. (2011). Corporate governance assessment in company board structure. *African Journal Business Management*, 4, 1175-1183. doi:10.5897/AJM10.535
- Tennant, D. F., & Tracey, M. R. (2014). Financial intermediation and stock market volatility in a small bank-dominated economy. *Journal of Developing Areas*, 48, 73-95. doi:10.1353/jda.2014.0073
- Thomas, E., & Magilvy, J. K. (2011). Qualitative rigor or research validity in qualitative research. *Journal for Specialists in Pediatric Nursing*, *16*(2), 151-155. doi:10.1111/j.1744-6155.2011.00283.x
- Thomas D., A., & Margaret A, O. (2014). Global economic meltdown and the Nigerian banking industry: A review. *IOSR Journal of Economics and Finance*, *3*(2), 41-45. doi:10.9790/5933-03234145
- Tong, A., Chapman, J. R., Israni, A., Gordon, E. J., & Craig, J. C. (2013). Qualitative research in organ transplantation: Recent contributions to clinical care and policy. *American Journal of Transplantation*, 13, 1390-1399. doi:10.1111/ajt.12239
- Tourish, D. (2012). Developing leaders in turbulent times: Five steps towards integrating soft practices with hard measures of organizational performance. *Organizational Dynamics*, *41*(1), 23-31. doi:10.1016/j.orgdyn.2011.12.004
- Trangkanont, S., & Charoenngam, C. (2014). Critical failure factors of public-private partnership low-cost housing program in Thailand. *Engineering, Construction,* and Architectural Management, 21, 421-443. doi:10.1108/ECAM-04-2012-0038

- Tse, T. (2011). Shareholder and stakeholder theory: After the financial crisis. *Qualitative Research in Financial Markets*, *3*(1), 51-63. doi:10.1108/17554171111124612
- Tsurukiri, J., Mishima, S., & Ohta, S. (2013). Initial middle latency auditory evoked potentials index helps to predict resuscitated outcomes in patients with cardiac arrest. *The American Journal of Emergency Medicine*, *31*, 895–899. doi:10.1016/j.ajem.2013.02.014
- Utrero-González, N., & J. Callado-Muñoz, F. (2015). Do investors react to corporate governance news? An empirical analysis for the Spanish market. *BRQ Business Research Quarterly*. doi:10.1016/j.brq.2015.04.002
- Ujunwa, A. (2012). Board characteristics and the financial performance of Nigerian quoted firms. *Corporate Governance*, 12, 656–674. doi:10.1108/14720701211275587
- Vadhar, B. (2013). Issues of corporate governance: Banking sector. *Indian Journal of Applied Research*, *3*, 313-316. doi:10.15373/2249555xdec2013/94
- Valenti, M. A., Luce, R., & Mayfield, C. (2011). The effects of firm performance on corporate governance. *Management Research Review*, *34*, 266-283. doi:10.1108/01409171111116295
- Van Lith, T., Fenner, P., & Schofield, M. (2011). The lived experience of art making as a companion to the mental health recovery process. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 33, 652-660. doi:10.3109/09638288.2010.505998
- Van der Sanden, R. L. M., Bos, A. E. R., Stutterheim, S. E., Pryor, J. B., & Kok, G. (2015). Stigma by Association Among Family Members of People with a Mental

- Illness: A Qualitative Analysis. *Journal of Community & Applied Social Psychology*, 25, 400–417. doi:10.1002/casp.2221
- Verriest, A., Gaeremynck, A., & Thornton, D. B. (2013). The impact of corporate governance on IFRS adoption choices. *European Accounting Review*, 22(1), 39-77. doi:10.1080/09638180.2011.644699
- Vives, X. (2011). Competition policy in banking. *Oxford Review of Economic Policy*, 27, 479-497. doi:10.1093/oxrep/grr021
- Wahyuni, D. (2012). The research design maze: Understanding paradigms, cases, methods, and methodologies. *Journal of Applied Management Accounting Research*, *10*(1), 69-80. Retrieved from http://maaw.info/JAMAR.htm
- Wajeeh, I. A., & Muneeza, A. (2012). Strategic corporate governance for sustainable mutual development. *International Journal of Law and Management*, 54, 197-208. doi:10.1108/17542431211228593
- Walker, H., & Jones, N. (2012). Sustainable supply chain management across the UK private sector. *Supply Chain Management: An International Journal*, *17*(1), 15-28. doi:10.1108/13598541211212177
- Walshe, C. (2011). The evaluation of complex interventions in palliative care: An exploration of the potential of case study research strategies. *Palliative Medicine*, 25, 774-781. doi:10.1177/0269216311419883
- Wang, W. C., Lin, C. H., & Chu, Y. C. (2011). Types of competitive advantage and analysis. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 6, 100–104. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v6n5p100

- Warburton, A. J. (2011). Do fiduciary duties matter? *Corporate Governance*, 11, 541-548. doi:10.1108/1472071111176957
- Waweru, M. N. (2014). Determinants of quality corporate governance in Sub-Saharan Africa. *Managerial Auditing Journal*, 29, 455-485. doi:10.1108/maj-07-2013-0897
- White, G. R. T., Parry, G. C., & Puckering, A. (2016). Knowledge Acquisition in Information System Development: A Case Study of System Developers in an International Bank. *Strategic Change*, 25(1), 81–95. doi:10.1002/jsc.2048
- Wilson, C. V. (2012). Postimplementation planning and organizational structure of enterprise resource planning systems (Doctoral dissertation). Available from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 3512581)
- Yang, J. (2011). Does adopting high-standard corporate governance increase firm value?

  An empirical analysis of Canadian companies. *International Business & Economics Research Journal*, 10, 17-27. Retrieved from http://journals.cluteonline.com
- Yang J., Chi. J., & Young, M. (2011). A review of corporate governance in China. *Asian Pacific Economic Literature*, 25, 15-28. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8411.2011.01283.x
- Yin, R. K. (2011). *Qualitative research from start to finish* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Yin, R. K. (2012). *Applications of case study research* (3rd ed.) [Kindle version]. Retrieved from http://www.amazon.com
- Yin, R. K. (2013). Validity and generalization in future case study evaluations.

- Evaluation, 19, 321-332. doi:10.1177/1356389013497081
- Yin, R. K. (2014). *Case study research design and methods* (5th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Zagorchev, A., & Gao, L. (2015). Corporate governance and performance of financial institutions. *Journal of Economics and Business*, 82, 17-41. doi:10.1016/j.jeconbus.2015.04.004
- Zeidan, R. M. (2012). Voluntary corporate governance: Theoretical framework and application for the Brazilian Market. *SSRN Journal*. doi:10.2139/ssrn.1652419
- Zivkovic, J. (2012). Strengths and weaknesses of business research methodologies: Two disparate case studies. *Business Studies Journal*, *4*(2), 91-99. Retrieved from http://www.alliedacademies.org/Public/Journals/JournalDetails.aspx?jid=26
- Zuo, J., Read, B., Pullen, S., & Shi, Q. (2012). Achieving carbon neutrality in commercial building developments: Perceptions of the construction industry. *Habitat International*, 36(2), 278-286. doi:10.1016/j.habitatint.2011.10.010
- Zupanovic, I. (2014). Sustainable risk management in the banking sector. *Journal of Central Bank Theory and Practice*, *3*(1), 5-13. doi:10.2478/jcbtp-2014-0006

### Appendix A: Informed Consent Form

You are invited to take part in a research study of what strategies Nigerian corporate financial leaders need to reduce noncompliance to corporate governance and enhance financial performance. The researcher is inviting corporate financial leaders and senior management of regulatory authorities that have at least 10 years' experience in managing, regulating, and providing banking services, to Nigerian banks to be part of this study. This form is part of a process called "informed consent" to allow you to understand this study before deciding whether to take part. Oyebola Akande, a Doctor of Business Administration (DBA) candidate at Walden University is conducting the study. The researcher is conducting this research in her capacity as a doctoral candidate at Walden University.

## **Background Information**

The purpose of this study is to explore what strategies Nigerian corporate financial leaders need to reduce noncompliance to corporate governance and enhance financial performance.

#### **Procedures**

If you agree to be in this study, I invite you:

- To participate in a single interview requiring no more than 60-90 minutes of your time
- To agree to have the interview audiotaped for later transcription and analysis by the researcher

- To provide copies of documents (regulations and policies, administrative documents, reports, and/or memoranda) that provide additional information and perspectives related to the study.
- To review a copy of initial research findings and conclusions provided to you by the researcher and to provide the researcher with feedback on the accuracy of the findings and conclusions

The provision of documents to the researcher is voluntary, and you are not obligated to do so. If you are not comfortable providing documents to the researcher, your participation in the single interview described above.

I will conduct interviews at a time suitable for you. I will provide you with a copy of the transcript of your interview before analysis, coding and extraction of patterns and themes, to review and concur with the transcript contents. At the completion of the study, the researcher will provide you with a brief document (no more than two pages in length) that summarizes findings, recommendations, and conclusions from the study.

# **Voluntary Nature of the Study**

This study is voluntary. You will not be provided with any thank you gifts, compensation, or reimbursement (for travel costs, etc.) in exchange for your participation in this study. Your decision regarding whether or not to participate in the interview and provide documents will be respected, and there is no consequence should you decide to not partake in the study. If you decide to participate in the study now, you can still change your mind during or after the study. You may end your participation in the study at any time.

#### Risks and Benefits of Being in the Study

Being in this type of study involves some risk of minor discomforts that can be encountered in daily life, such as fatigue, stress, or becoming upset should sensitive topics arise for discussion. The risk of such discomforts occurring is, however, considered low. Additionally, the researcher will endeavor to ensure that the potential for personal discomfort is minimal during the interview. Being in this study would not pose a risk to your safety or wellbeing.

Participation in the study will provide you with the opportunity to share your knowledge, thoughts, and experiences as corporate financial leaders and regulators managing Nigerian banks. This study could contribute to greater understanding of what strategies Nigerian corporate financial leaders need to reduce noncompliance to corporate governance and enhance financial performance. This study may encourage a deeper exploration into business and management strategies to reduce noncompliance to corporate governance and enhance financial performance.

### **Privacy and Limits to Confidentiality**

I will hold all information you provide, in confidence. However, should you reveal evidence of criminal activity or abuse during conduct of the interview, the researcher is obligated to report such evidence to relevant law enforcement authorities. The researcher will not use your personal information for any purposes outside of this research project. In addition, the researcher will not include your name, organizational affiliation, or any other information that could identify you in study reports. Electronic data is secured by participant identification and archival on a password protected laptop

computer accessible only to the researcher. Any hard copies of data (e.g., printed interview transcripts used for notation and analysis), will be stored by the researcher in a lockable safe. The researcher will keep data for a period of at least 5 years, as required by Walden University.

# **Contacts and Questions**

You may ask the researcher any questions you have at this time. Should you have
questions following conduct of the interview, you may contact the researcher via phone
. If you want to talk privately
about your rights as a participant, you can contact Dr. Leilani Endicott. She is the Walden
University Research Participant representative via phone at 001-612-312-1210.
You may also contact the Walden University Research Participant Advocate via e-mail at
irb@waldenu.edu. Walden University's approval number for this study is and it
expires on

The researcher will give you a copy of this form to keep.

### **Statement of Consent**

Researcher's Signature

### Appendix B: Letter of Invitation

Dear Sir/Madam,

You are invited to take part in a research study concerning the corporate governance issues in Nigerian banking industry. This study is being conducted by a researcher named Oyebola Akande, who is a doctoral student at Walden University, in partial fulfilment of the Doctor of Business Administration. I am conducting the doctoral study project to explore what strategies Nigerian corporate financial leaders need to reduce noncompliance to corporate governance and enhance financial performance. My intent is to investigate the central research question: What strategies Nigerian corporate financial leaders need to reduce noncompliance to corporate governance and enhance financial performance? Based on your experience with management, and as the regulators of Nigeria banks in ensuring adequate governance in Nigerian banking industry, I would like to interview you to obtain information about your perceptions of what strategies Nigerian corporate financial leaders need to reduce noncompliance to corporate governance and enhance financial performance. The interview will require 60-90 minutes of your time and will be scheduled at your convenience. I will conduct this face-to-face interview at the most convenient time for you. I am also inviting you to share with me policy documents, reports, and/or memoranda that you feel may provide additional information about what strategies Nigerian corporate financial leaders need to reduce noncompliance to corporate governance and enhance financial performance. However, I note that the provision of any documents on your part is voluntary. If you do not wish to provide documentation, I am still asking that you participate in the study as an

interviewee. Your participation in my study will be helpful in ensuring that I collect data from experienced corporate financial leaders and top management of the regulatory authority that provide services and guidance to Nigerian banks. If you decide to participate in my study, I will send you an informed consent form via e-mail or physical delivery for your review and signature.

This informed consent form provides background information on the study and outlines your rights during the interview process. If you have any questions or require additional information, please do not hesitate to contact me. I humbly request a response to this letter indicating your agreement to participate or your declination.

I thank you in anticipation for your consideration and your support of my study.

Truly,

Oyebola Akande

Walden University

Appendix C: Interview Protocol- Semistructured Interviews With Open-Ended Questions
The following are the open-ended questions used for the study:

- 1. How would you define regulatory noncompliance with regard to corporate governance in Nigerian banks?
- 2. How have the corporate financial leaders integrated regulatory compliance with their strategy to achieve best corporate governance practices?
- 3. How have corporate financial leaders integrated regulatory compliance with their strategy to improve financial performance?
- 4. What are the critical factors in mitigating regulatory noncompliance with regard to corporate governance?
- 5. What are the critical factors in mitigating regulatory noncompliance with regard to enhancing financial performance in the banking industry?
- 6. What governance strategies are most effective for corporate financial leaders to improve financial performance?
- 7. How have corporate financial leaders implemented corporate governance to ensure regulatory compliance in Nigerian banks?
- 8. How can corporate financial leaders affect a bank's financial performance?
- 9. How can Nigerian corporate financial leaders improve their knowledge of corporate governance to enhance financial performance?
- 10. What other information would you like to add relating to this research?